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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFHE
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Dear Shareholders, BAIR -

| am pleased to present, as the chairman of the board (the ARATRAUREGMWEREAR([AAF]] &
“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of GR Properties Limited (the R EWMB AR @ #ifEAal AE£E | )EE([E
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), the report =) B([EZER ) TFEHNEHEZHEZ T
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”). ZHETZ A=+ —BUEFE(AREE]) MR

==

REVIEW AND OUTLOOK &1 68 & B &2

During the Year, the Group principally engaged in () the provision of ~ RAFE - AEBF BRE(ETEARIEM
property management services in the People’s Republic of China (the ([FRE IR EE R » M) 2ERYE
“PRC"), and (i) property development and investment worldwide. BRNMEE -
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In recent years, numerous acquisitions such as Juxon House in
London, the Santa Monica project in Los Angeles and property
management business in the PRC brought significant contributions
to the development of the Group. The management team illustrated
a more dynamic and professional business style. The main
direction of the management team is to build on the Group’s long
and extensive experience and excellent track record in property
development and investment industry in the PRC, in order to
channel its capabilities in new directions that will create greater
value for the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHE

Faced with the unprecedented challenge of the COVID-19
pandemic in 2022, the Group worked relentlessly to maintain
effective operations and provide quality services, minimizing impact
on tenants, customers and staff. To ensure long-term sustainable
business growth and value creation, the Group will continue to
engage prominently in property development and investment, and
relevant asset management services. However, the Group would
be more cautious in considering investments in the international
markets such as the United States of America (the “USA”) and
Europe in accordance with the future development strategy of the
Group. This should give diversification and a hedge against the
future domestic businesses of the Group with a reasonable return
to the Shareholders. Other than capturing investment opportunities
to establish the position and engage in the property market in
Los Angeles and London for income generating real estates with
potential of capital appreciation in the long term and re-development
in future, the Group’s focus will also be on the execution of existing
projects, including but not limited to enhancement of operating
performance as well as facilitation of projects developments.
Besides, the Group will not rule out any possibilities to divest its
investment with decent return. The Directors believe that after the
acquisitions in the past few years and execution of existing projects,
the Group will be able to broaden its income base through the
stable rental incomes generated from the properties. Apart from the
Group’s core businesses in property development and investments
in the PRC, the USA and the United Kingdom, and the provision of
property management services in Beijing, the Group will continue to
focus on searching for suitable investment opportunities which may
strategically fit into its diversification strategy and generate a steady
source of income.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude
to the fellow members of the Board, and on behalf of the Board,
the management and entire staff of the Group for their diligent work
and contribution in the past year. Last but not least, | would like to
extend my sincerest appreciation to the investors and Shareholders
for their continuing confidence in and support for the Group over the
years. In 2023, the business portfolio of the Group will continue to
be optimised and rationalised in order to motivate the Company’s
future development and business growth. We will devote our best
efforts to generate encouraging returns for our supportive investors
and Shareholders.

Yours faithfully,
WEI CHUNXIAN

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”), the operations
of the Group were organised into business units based on the nature
of their products and services. There were two continuing operating
segments, including (i) the property management segment; and
(i) the property development and investment segment. The first
segment was carried out in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) whereas the second segment was carried out in the PRC,
the United States of America (the “USA”) and the United Kingdom
(the “UK").

Beijing AOCEAN Property Management Company Limited* (3t =
SRS EAR AR, (‘(AOCEAN”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, provides property management services for
office buildings, residential properties and car parks. As at 31
December 2022, AOCEAN managed 13 major residential and
commercial property projects, which were located in the PRC.
The services provided by AOCEAN under the management
agreements thereof include, inter alia (i) provision of heating supply
and maintenance services of heat exchange stations and pipeline
network; (i) provision of management services to car parks such as
maintenance of various facilities and equipment in the car parks; and
(iii) provision of property management services to vacant properties
and general management services such as repair and maintenance
of buildings and fire safety equipment and facilities for residential
and commercial property projects. Adhering to the principle of being
human-oriented, and perceiving the market from the perspective
of customers and market needs, AOCEAN has been improving
and perfecting its management system and continues to provide
professional services to its customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEBSWR D

During the Year, the Group carried on its property development and ~ AREE R » NEBRER - HE LT BEETY
investment business in the USA, the UK and the PRC. HUERNIREES -

Santa Monica project

The Santa Monica project, located in Santa Monica, the
County of Los Angeles, State of California, the USA, has a
total site area of approximately 40,615 square feet (the “US
Complex”). According to the land title, the development
for the site is a mixed-use three stories development. Total
rentable/saleable floor area is approximately 25,000 square
feet for commercial use and 38,000 square feet for residential
use and there are 190 on-site subterranean parking spaces.
The commercial areas have been 91% leased out for the
Year. Residential areas have been leased out in full since
July 2021. The plan for the Santa Monica project is to lease
out all the commercial units and the residential units.

Culver City project

Culver City project is a 36,319 square feet redevelopment
site located at the south corner of Washington Boulevard
and Motor Avenue in Culver City, Los Angeles County,
California, the USA. The land title allows for the development
of 139 residential units, of which 14 units would be income
restricted for residents at the extremely low income level,
and 1,969 square feet of ground floor would be commercial
space. lts construction started since September 2021. The
Directors consider the Culver City project to be an attractive
investment opportunity to diversify the Group’s property
development operations in the USA, as this land is located
within walking distance to the heart of Culver City, Los
Angeles, which is the hub of a number of motion pictures
and other production studios and is within well-established
transportation network. Culver City project is expected to
further cement the Group’s foothold in the western USA and
enhance the Group’s overall geographical diversification of
business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Juxon House

Juxon House is located at 100 St Paul’s Churchyard,
London, the UK. It is situated in a prominent location on
the northwest side of St Paul’s Cathedral, with St Paul’'s
Churchyard at its south, Ave Maria Lane at its west and
Paternoster Square to the east, which is a prime professional
and financial district with the London Stock Exchange and
some multinational organisations having offices in the near
vicinity. Juxon House is a grade A commercial building with
a net lettable floor area of approximately 123,781 square
feet, among which the office accommodation, the retail
accommodation, and the ancillary and storage area have
a net lettable floor area of 100,774 square feet, 20,083
square feet and 2,924 square feet respectively. Juxon House
comprises a lower ground floor, a ground floor and five
upper floors, basement storage and twenty car park spaces.
Juxon House was let to three office tenants and four retail
tenants, which contributed approximately £5.5 million rental
income to the Group for the Year.

Guorui Square Block B

The Group holds all units with a gross floor area of
approximately 68,685 square meters in Building No. 2 of
Kingdom Guorui (B ${e &), No.1 Ronghua South Road,
Daxing District, Beijing, the PRC (“Guorui Square Block
B”), which are for office use. The Company planned to sell
or lease certain units of Guorui Square Block B, subject
to market conditions in Yizhuang (Jiit), Beijing, the PRC.
Currently, certain units were leased out to tenants under
medium or long term leases.

ERERR DN

Juxon House
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERERR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW B # ol

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

BE-ZE-—F HE_T_—F

t=A=+—H t-A=+—~

IEFE IEFE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Turnover of continuing operations SECE ETEE 5 352,276 331,335
Profit/(loss) for the year RER N (FEE) (320,126) 208,427
As at As at

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

R-B-—F RZEZ—F

t=A=t-8 +-A=t+-=

HK$°000 HK$000

FETT FET

Total assets BEMTE 6,240,058 6,894,934
Total liabilities aEesE 2,991,429 3,031,360
Net assets BE T 3,248,629 3,863,574
Net debts” B FEEE 2,315,239 2,337,294
Capital liquidity ratio** BARREN &= 0.63 0.23
Gearing ratio” BEBER: 71.3% 60.5%
" The amount represented trade payables, bank and other " FZHIEERNE SRR - RITREMMER

Hoqth & FRIA R B B DA K% A R 03 3R
HRRE MR EHED

borrowings, other payables and accruals and amounts due to
related parties, less cash and cash equivalents

ok

> ZERERE MR SEBMHRURDAE

The ratio represented cash and cash equivalents divided by current
liabilities

# The ratio represented net debts divided by total equity # AL R E RS F AR A R 4R R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group generated revenue from
continuing operations of approximately HK$352,276,000
(31 December 2021: approximately HK$331,335,000). The
property management segment reported segment revenue
of approximately HK$218,608,000 (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$205,151,000). The property development and
investment segment reported segment revenue of approximately
HK$133,668,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$126,184,000), contributed by the rental income from the
operating leases of certain portion of units in the US Complex,
Juxon House and Guorui Square Block B. There is no revenue
generated from the discontinued operation of the Recreational
Centre segment during the Year (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$14,146,000). The Group recorded a loss for the Year of
approximately HK$320,126,000 (31 December 2021: profit of
approximately HK$208,427,000). The decrease in profit was
mainly attributable to the following non-cash items, (i) the one-
off gain on disposal of discontinued operation of approximately
HK$143,000,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021
while there is no such gain for the Year; (ii) decrease in the
remeasurement gain upon transfer of certain properties held for sale
to investment properties as compared to that recorded in 2021 as
less properties (originally held for sale) in the PRC were being leased
out during the Year; and (iii) increase in fair value loss on investment
properties. As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding balance of
bank and other borrowings was approximately HK$2,328,510,000
(81 December 2021: approximately HK$2,110,409,000), of which
the balance mainly consisted of (i) two bank loans of approximately
HK$1,573,973,000 (31 December 2021: a bank loan of
approximately HK$762,399,000) secured by Juxon House, certain
portion of Guorui Square Block B and certain lease receivables; (i)
other loans of approximately HK$750,214,000 (other loan of 31
December 2021: approximately HK$1,344,965,000) secured by the
US Complex and certain lease receivables; and (iii) lease liabilities
balances of approximately HK$4,323,000 (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$3,045,000).

For details of bank and other borrowings, please refer to note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had available cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$349,182,000 (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$304,049,000).

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2022 was 71.3% (31
December 2021: 60.5%). The increase in the gearing ratio was
mainly due to the decrease of net assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERERR DN

During the Year, the Group’s business operations were principally
located in the PRC, the UK and the USA and the main operational
currencies are Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminbi (“RMB”),
Pound sterling (“€”) and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group’s
transactions were mainly denominated in RMB, £ and US$. The
majority of its assets and liabilities are denominated in HK$, RMB,
£ and US$. Any significant exchange rate fluctuations of foreign
currencies against HK$ may have financial impact to the Group.
The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy at
present. However, the Group will closely monitor the exchange
rate movement trend and take corresponding measures in a timely
manner to reduce foreign currency exchange risk and exposure.

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of employees of the
Group (excluding Directors) was 189 (31 December 2021: 213).
Most of them were located in the PRC.

The total remuneration of the employees of the Group from continuing
operations for the Year was approximately HK$63,491,000 (31
December 2021: approximately HK$65,296,000).

The emolument of each of the Directors and the employees of the
Group was determined on the basis of their merit, qualification,
competence and experience in the industry, the profitability of the
Group as well as remuneration benchmarks from other local and
international companies and prevailing market conditions. Executive
Directors and employees also participate in bonus arrangements
which are determined in accordance with the performance of the
Group and the individual’s performance.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained an appropriate
liquidity position throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit evaluation of
the financial condition of its customers. To manage liquidity risk,
the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

The Board resolved not to declare any final dividend for the Year (31
December 2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had investment properties
and properties held for sale amounting to approximately
HK$5,485,368,000 in total (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$5,276,985,000) to secure bank and other borrowings and
financial guarantee contracts. Such bank and other borrowings
comprise of loans presented in the section headed “Financial
analysis” of this report on page 11.

As at 31 December 2022, certain trade and lease receivables of
approximately HK$42,134,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$31,832,000) in total were pledged to secure bank and other
loans granted to the Group.

To secure a bank loan granted to the Group, a bank deposit
amounting to approximately HK$4,324,000 (31 December 2021:
Nil) has been classified as restricted cash and a principal-protected
deposit amounting to approximately HK$11,496,000 (31 December
2021: Nil) has been maintained.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2021: Nil). As at 31 December 2022,
the Group had contracted but not provided for commitments for
construction in progress for an investment property amounting to
approximately HK$169,279,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$285,550,000). The details of the information of the Group’s
contingent liabilities are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

On 15 March 2022, Kaipeng Technology, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the guarantee agreement
with BCEG Road and Bridge Construction Group Co., Ltd. ({1t
2 IEBEEBRR AT, the borrower, pursuant to which Kaipeng
Technology agreed to provide guarantee in favour of the borrower
by means of pledging 129 properties owned by Kaipeng Technology
(with a gross floor area of approximately 46,164.24 square meters
located on Levels 1, 13 to 22, 24 to 33 and 35 to 36 of Guorui
Square Block B) to the Beijing Branch of Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd.*
(BRI AR A BIER D 17) (“Shengjing Bank”) to facilitate
the borrower to obtain a facility of up to RMB800 million provided
by Shengjing Bank. In return, Kaipeng Technology shall receive
from the borrower a guarantee fee of 1% per annum of the amount
of actual drawdown by the borrower under the facility granted by
Shengjing Bank.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERERR DN

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
15 March 2022 and 28 March 2022 and the Company’s circular
dated 25 April 2022.

On 7 October 2022, Beijing Wangangtong Technology Development
Co., Ltd.* (b mEBBERHREE AR A R]) (“Beijing Wangangtong”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
guarantee agreement with BCEG Road and Bridge Construction
Group Co., Ltd. (At R T KB EEER A7), the borrower,
pursuant to which Beijing Wangangtong shall provide guarantee
in favour of the borrower by means of (i) pledging 142 properties
owned by Beijing Wangangtong with a gross floor area of
approximately 22,5621.09 square meters located on lower ground
3rd floor to 12th floor of Guorui Square Block B (the “Property”) to
the Beijing Branch of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd.* (EFIE
BERTTIR(D AR A aldb 9 17) (“Xiamen International Bank?); (ii)
pledging its rental income and other receivables arising from the
Property to Xiamen International Bank; and (jii) providing joint liability
guarantee for the repayment of the facility, in order to facilitate the
borrower to obtain a facility of up to RMB300 million provided by
Xiamen International Bank. In return, Beijing Wangangtong shall
receive from the borrower a guarantee fee of 1% per annum of
the amount of actual drawdown by the borrower under the facility
granted by Xiamen International Bank.

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 7
October 2022.

The Group had not made any significant investments, acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the Year.

There is no plan for making material investments or acquiring capital
assets as at the date of this report.

*

for identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PROSPECT

Faced with the unprecedented challenge of the COVID-19
pandemic in 2022, the Group worked relentlessly to maintain
effective operations and provide quality services, minimizing impact
on tenants, customers and staff. To ensure long-term sustainable
business growth and value creation, the Group will continue to
engage prominently in property development and investment, and
relevant asset management services. Investments in the overseas
markets should bring diversification and a hedge against the future
domestic businesses of the Group with a reasonable return to
the Shareholders. The Group would be cautious in considering
investments in the international markets such as the USA and
Europe in accordance with the future development strategy of the
Group. Other than capturing investment opportunities to establish
its foothold and engage in the property market in Los Angeles and
London for income generating real estates with capital appreciation
potential in the long term and possibly re-development in future, the
Group’s focus will also be on the execution of its existing projects,
including but not limited to enhancement of operating performance
as well as facilitation of project development. Besides, the Group
will not rule out any possibility to divest its investment with decent
return. The Directors believe that after the acquisitions in the past
few years and execution of existing projects, the Group will be
able to broaden its income base through the stable rental incomes
generated from the various properties.

Apart from the Group’s core businesses in property development
and investments in the PRC, the USA and the UK, and the provision
of property management services in Beijing, the Group will continue
to focus on searching for suitable investment opportunities which
may strategically fit into its diversification strategy and generate a
steady source of income.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold, redeemed or cancelled any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has reviewed the annual results and has
no dissenting view on the accounting policies of the companies
adopted by the Group and on the Group’s internal controls and risk
management, accounting and financial reporting functions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HEREARE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the seventh Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report (the “Report”) of GR Properties Limited (“GR Properties”
or the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries (the “Group” or
“we”) issued to stakeholders, which aims to provide a balanced
representation of the efforts made by the Group on corporate social
responsibility and sustainable development during the year ended
31 December 2022 (the “Year” or “2022”). This Report is prepared
in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) in Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

REPORTING SCOPE

The Group has two major operating segments based on the
nature of its products and services, which include: (i) the property
management business in the mainland (“Mainland China”) of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); and (i) the property
development and investment business in Mainland China, the United
Kingdom (the “UK”) and the United States of America (the “US”).
The reporting scope has been determined primarily by the Group’s
management based on its assessment of the operating performance
of Group’s segments and its allocation of resources, which includes
the entities that represent the Group’s major source of revenue
during the Year. Therefore, this Report covers the entities involved
in the Group’s property management business in Mainland China
and the property development and investment business in Mainland
China, namely the Fortune Street project* (B1m#E B), the Yigou
project* (S EEIEE), the In Beijing project* (In 4L 5IE B), the Golden
Tower project* (&K% H), the North Garden project* (1L 1EEE
B), the Kingdom Guorui project* (Bl§{ e 1878 H), the Guorui Plaza
project* (Bl EHIEE), and the ChengJianManTi project* (H £
%218 B) (the “Reporting Scope”). Compared with the ESG report for
the year ending 31 December 2021 (“2021”), the Daxing project*
(KEEIE H), the Xiongan project” (%8 ), the Sanya project* (=
gEI8 B) and the Yixing project” (E#IAE) are not included in this
Report because these projects do not constitute major revenue of
the Group in 2022.

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose
only.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This Report summarises the ESG performance of the Group.
Information set out in this Report is derived from the official
documents and statistics of the Group, as well as monitoring,
management and operational data compiled by its subsidiaries in
accordance with the Group’s relevant systems. This Report has
complied with the mandatory disclosure requirements and “comply
or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide. A complete index
is provided in the last section of this Report for easy reference. In
the process of preparing this Report, the Group also attaches great
importance to the reporting principles of “materiality”, “quantitative”,
“balance”, and “consistency”, and has applied them in accordance
with the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

Materiality: Material ESG issues identified have been made the
focus of the preparation of this Report. The materiality of various
material ESG issues has been reviewed and confirmed by the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and the ESG
working group of the Company (the “ESG Working Group”). For
further details, please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholders
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” in this Report.

Quantitative: This Report compares the quantitative key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) as appropriate, and sets out the
standards, methods, assumptions used in calculating the relevant
data and the sources of key conversion factors in the explanatory
notes.

Balance: This Report provides an unbiased picture of the Group’s
performance and avoids selections, omissions, or presentation
formats that may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment
by the reader.

Consistency: The approach adopted for the preparation of this
Report is basically the same as last year, except for the changes in
certain factors regarding GHG emissions and energy calculations.
Any changes in the factors affecting the actual comparative results
or any of the calculation methods are specifically explained in this
Report.

CONTACT US

We highly value opinions of each stakeholder and treat them as
the cornerstone for the development of the Group. If you have
any opinions or suggestions on this Report and our sustainable
development performance, please send us your comments via email
at info@grproperties.com.hk.

B HEkER®mE

BRI

ABEBAAEERNRE - G RERKRA -
AEREFHERRENEENE 7 XAFMG
B - AREWMBARREASEREEGEE
MER EBRNMEEHRE AMEFTAR
B e MRS 1R H Ry o8 Bl 1 3 5 25Kk
[ NETIEE R - ABENRE —BAT
EMABTRS > MEEBEREESMH - AREE
REAREREETNSEERERE - B
FaEM—EE - AREKERE  HERER
WEESIER T ELERRA - FIBWOT

ERM  EHEIANERE HEREREAZA
BRREARENER - TREARE - HE
MERBENERZUERAARREER([ES
B RARRIRE - & REATIFMANIR
B e MERTFA]EMNER - GR%
—FHIE FEEARSFNHESE |RE
EERHE IMED -

Bt : AREEESNIBER TR T E(CmRE
RAEPUER ([ FARAENIER]) - WERBEMER
B SIRR T R ERBEEIERNRE 75 - R
R AREEZHBRZHRIR o

P& AREHAEE 2 RBIRENETEH
fit - WRBATSEMNERE - BRRZWE

— 3 BRERBHM MR ESTEE
THEENEEI  AREWRHEE EFE
A—H  BEEAZEHENERLERRN
REHEAAEENEC - ARET SRR
A8 o

B SR (M
BMERE—EFNENERSBBESER - &
ZAAEBRAIEENER -1 ETHAR
ERAEBOAIFERRRBAEMNERSE
%+ A5 B E Binfo@grproperties.com.hk A F
e -

Fi 2022 EHEFRA T
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B HEkER®RS

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
(“CSR”) VISION, STRATEGY AND
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board assumes full responsibility for the Group’s ESG issues,
and sets out ESG management approach, strategy, priorities and
objectives. The Board is diverse in its composition and the members
are equipped with the appropriate technical capabilities, experience,
knowledge and perspectives required to oversee and supervise the
ESG matters of the Group. In order to better manage the Group’s
ESG performance, the Board discusses ESG issues collectively,
evaluates and determines ESG-related risks and opportunities
of the Group, reviews the materiality of ESG issues, as well as
reviews the Group’s performance against ESG-related targets at
least once a year.To demonstrate its commitment to transparency
and accountability, the Group has established the ESG Working
Group, which has clear terms of reference that set out the powers
delegated to it by the Board.

The ESG Working Group consists of senior management and
general staff members from various departments of the Group such
as operation, human resources and finance. The ESG Working
Group reports at least annually to the Board and is responsible
for implementing the ESG measures of the Group, collecting and
analysing ESG data, advising the Board on ESG issues, as well
as reviewing ESG-related issues of different departments in the
Group. On the other hand, the Board is responsible for ensuring
that the management is provided with all the appropriate tools and
resources to oversee the implementation of relevant strategies so as
to create long-term ESG value.

The Group has established a CSR Policy in order to commit to
the highest standards of corporate governance, and aims to
integrate CSR into the Group’s business strategy and management
approach. CSR is viewed as a business philosophy that creates
shared sustainable value with its stakeholders in the economic,
social and environmental dimensions. The Group’s CSR vision
and CSR Policy guide the Group’s business and operational
decisions. The CSR Policy describes our long-term approach to
specific issues in the four basic aspects: marketplace, workplace,
community and environment, which is instrumental in enabling our
business to operate in a sustainable manner. Within each of the
basic aspects, core principles and pragmatic objectives provide
guidance on practicing CSR in our daily operations. In response
to PRC government’s goal of “achieving carbon neutrality” and
to fulfil stakeholders’ expectations of the Group in the materiality
assessment, we have set environmental targets for the first
time in 2021, which cover areas such as emissions reduction,
waste management and resource conservation. The progress of
implementation and performance of such targets are duly reviewed
by the Board at least annually. If our performance fails to meet the
targets, the Board will conduct improvement work through the ESG
Working Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainable development is a long-term commitment of a responsible
enterprise, and is deeply rooted in our people-oriented business.
We have been implementing the sustainable operational strategy to
bring a better life for the public, through our continuous efforts to
enhance the sustainability of the environment, ensure high quality
services, build an outstanding and strong service team, conduct
rigorous supply chain management, maintain a high level of ethics
and integrity, and care for disadvantaged groups in the community,
etc.

Sustainability of
the environment

RN AEEM

Caring for
disadvantaged
groups in the
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People oriented
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group endeavours to create sustainable growth and long-term
value for its stakeholders, including the Group’s shareholders and
investors, employees, property owners and households, suppliers
and business partners, government and the local community. We
continue to interact with our stakeholders on an ongoing basis in
order to understand their views and collect their feedback.

Our channels of daily communication with stakeholders are as

follows:

Government

B

Quallification review
AUTE
Meeting

B

Direct communication

HEAR

Local community
Bt E
Website

b

Social media
AR

Mass media
RREE

Visit

SN

Mobile application

FHEAEN

@

i

@

Shareholders and
investors
BRRREREE
Shareholders’ meeting
RERE®

Annual report, financial statement
and announcement
FIR - MBHRERAE
Social media

AR S

Website

Bk

Mass media

RREE

Communication

KOERE
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with Stakeholders
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Employees
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Employee meeting
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Training
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Annual meeting
g

Notice board
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Internal system
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Property owners and
households
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Mobile application
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Satisfaction survey
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Direct communication
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Suppliers and
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On-site inspection
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Regular review
Performance evaluation
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

We conduct materiality assessment in order to better understand
the opinions and expectations of our stakeholders. We ensure that
we utilise various platforms and communication channels to reach
out and listen to major stakeholders and respond to their opinions.
Feedback received from stakeholders enable us to make better
informed decisions and to assess and manage the resulting impact
of such decisions more effectively.

The specific steps of the materiality assessment are as follows:
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Based on industry standards and the results of the Group’s materiality assessment in the \
previous year, the Group identifies and confirms material ESG issues, which cover the areas
of “quality of working environment”, “environmental protection and green operations”,
“operational practices”, “product and service responsibilities” and “contribution to
communities”. If there is no material change in the development of the Group's business
and its industry, the materiality assessment results in the previous year will be applied.
Otherwise, the Group will conduct materiality assessment based on the updated list of
material ESG issues.
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If the list of material ESG issues is updated, the Group will prepare questionnaires for the \
materiality assessment based on the material ESG issues identified, and invite
stakeholders of the Group to assess the materiality of each ESG issue. After collecting,
compiling, and analysing the questionnaires, the Group ranks the material ESG issues by

the order of their materiality and establishes a materiality matrix.
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The results will be reviewed and approved by the Board and the ESG Working Group
annually.
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The Group reviews and confirms the material ESG issues annually ~ AEBGFEFHNMEREARE L2 LEA
to ensure that such issues can reflect its business development and %8 © UIERZSE S H 28R M 1T
industry standards. Considering there is no material change in the — ZEYE « BN AKEBES L EITENEREITE
development of the Group’s business and its industry, the materiality SBEAXEE @ F—FHEEUTIHERBR-Z

assessment results in the previous year will be applied in 2022. The — Z—F#EHA - AT AARHREDRERE KR
following is a matrix of the Group’s material ESG issues contained in 3% « #t & K& A%BHEHEE
this Report:
Materiality Assessment Matrix
B2 HEREE
V' N
Customer privacy
protection
RELRRE
Anti-corruption
REE Sewat;;e d\sgharge
» JEIRBER
2
% Response to climate change Operational safety
€ ESHRIEE management
3 EERRER
(0]
[9] Water management i i
@ X 9 Customer service quality
< Lm FKER ZEBBEE
o e
g @E Community engagement .\ Prevention of child
O mir %i@iﬁgﬁg and forced labour
% 2 e F7IEE T B354 E)
< 10
E e Occupational safet \.
n H’E a?\d health v o Emisscijons marr:agemem )
c o (air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is eminently devoted towards promoting
a sustainable working and living environment through
continuous emissions reduction and effective use of
resources. Beijing AOCEAN Property Management
Company Limited* (A FUBFAYIEE IR HR A ), one of our
subsidiaries, has obtained 1ISO14001:2015 Environment
Management Certificate and 1ISO9001:2015 Quality
Management Certificate, and formulated the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual to actively
reduce our impact on the environment, especially in terms of
energy saving and waste reduction.

The Group persistently strives to operate its business in
an environmentally friendly manner, making every effort to
achieve environmental conservation. Our main emissions
are greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions from the energy
consumption and non-hazardous waste generated in our
daily operations. Due to our business nature, the Group’s
operations do not involve a significant amount of air
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous waste. Therefore, the Group considers the
relevant emissions to be immaterial, thus the relevant
information is not disclosed in this Report and corresponding
targets are not set for air emissions and hazardous waste.

GHG Emissions

Our GHG emissions are mainly direct GHG emissions caused
by the petrol consumed by vehicles and the consumption of
natural gas for heating and cooking as well as energy indirect
GHG emissions caused by the use of purchased electricity
and heat.

* The English name is an unofficial translation for identification
purpose only.

B HEkER®mE

RIEEE
m%@zm&ézﬂT&ﬁﬁMM&&ﬁ@
TR ERREHE L EFENTIENE
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B HEkER®RS

During the Year, the Group’s GHG emissions intensity
per m? chargeable area increased from 5.24 kg of carbon
dioxide equivalent (kg CO,e”) in 2021 to 8.59 kg CO.e in
2022, which is mainly due to the Group’s improvement of its
data collection system and the inclusion of the consumption
of purchased heat during 2022. The performance in relation
to the Group’s GHG emissions is as follows:

GHG emissions'

RERBHR
Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions?

#E1 : BERAEREHR
Scope 2: Energy indirect

GHG emissions?
#ED : geREEAE R NC

Total GHG emissions
(Scope 1+Scope 2)
RERBINES

(&E1+8E2)

GHG emissions intensity*
RERBHEHREE

Average by number of households
EFHTH

Average by area

HETS

NTZ&EE

SMEBER SRR

RAFE  AEEHNEF A RRERE
BERBHNEENR T —FM5.24
MEEENE_T - —FH
8HINTH A EE ZERETE
AR S B NGEHERINE RS ET A
ZECCFHERERE - K
SERBEREYNFIBNOT ¢

Percentage
increase/
(decrease)
#m,/ (L)
B
tonnes of carbon dioxide 214.31 301.47 (29%)
equivalent (tCO,e")
M_EtiRgE
tCOe 13,632.14 9,711.82 40%
M_StiRgE
tCOe 13,846.45 10,013.29 38%
M-S iEE
kg CO,e/household 910.53 541.82 68%
DFZ&EltiEs /P
kg CO,e/m? 8.59 5.24 64%

AR EILRER/Fhok
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Notes:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

GHG emissions data are presented in CO,e, with reference
to, but not limited to: the “Greenhouse Gas Protocol:
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” published
by the World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, the “How to Prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange,
the “Global Warming Potential” published in the Fifth
Assessment Report (AR5) by the Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change in 2014, and “Carbon Dioxide
Emissions Accounting and Reporting Requirements for
Service Industry” published by Beijing Municipal Bureau of
market supervision and Administration. Conversion factors
for calculating the GHG emissions of 2021 are updated to
align with the publication issued by local governments in the
Group’s operating location.

Scope 1 refers to direct GHG emissions from operations
that are owned or controlled by the Group.

Scope 2 refers to energy indirect emissions resulting from
the generation of purchased electricity and heat consumed
within the Group.

GHG emissions intensity is calculated by dividing the total
energy consumption by (1) the number of households; and
(2) the total chargeable area for the property management
segment.

o For the property management business, the
total chargeable area for 2022 and 2021 were
approximately 1,611,841.74 m2 and 1,912,368.80
m?2, respectively.

o For the property management business, the
number of households in 2022 and 2021 were
approximately 15,207 units and 18,481 units,
respectively.

Figures are restated after internal review.

B HEkER®mE
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ENVIRONMENTAL,
BR - HERERHRS

In light of the growing concerns over air pollution and climate
change, the Group has established a GHG emissions target
for the first time in 2021, which aims to reduce the GHG
emissions intensity (kg CO,e/m?) for the year ending 31
December 2026 (“2026”) by at least 2% as compared with
the level in the year ended 31 December 2020 (“2020”) (i.e.
approximately 5.14 kg CO,e/m?). Due to the expansion of
the Group’s data collection system, the Group included
purchased heat in the calculation of GHG emissions in 2022,
which makes the 2020 target baseline no longer applicable
for comparing the Group’s current GHG emissions inventory.
The Group will continue to monitor GHG emissions and
work towards establishing a new quantitative target after the
Group resumes full operation in the post-COVID-19 time.
However, the Group remains committed to GHG emissions
reduction and targets to host at least one relevant activity
in the year ending 31 December 2023 (“2023”) to increase
employees’ awareness of GHG emissions reduction.

To achieve its emission reduction target, the Group
actively adopts energy-saving measures to reduce its
GHG emissions. Such measures include the strict control
over the use of air-conditioners, the lighting system, and
electrical devices in the office. Details of these measures will
be discussed in the section headed “Use of Resources”.
In addition, the Group also encourages employees to
communicate over telephone calls or web conferences in
place of face-to-face meetings, in order to reduce carbon
emissions generated from business travels. Through the
adoption of the above measures, we have raised the
awareness of carbon reduction among our employees.
In addition to the reduction in vehicle usage, the Group
reduced the amount of electricity consumed in our offices
through the implementation of telecommuting measures.

Waste Management

The operation of the Group’s business does not produce
significant amounts of hazardous waste, while non-
hazardous waste is mainly general waste collected from
various property projects, as well as waste papers from
our offices. The Group has engaged third-party waste
management companies to collect and dispose of its non-
hazardous waste in an appropriate manner. Whenever
hazardous waste is generated, the Group will promptly hire a
disposal company to handle such waste.
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The Group has established a waste reduction target for
the first time in 2021, which aims to reduce the non-
hazardous waste intensity (kg/1,000 m?) for 2026 by at least
2% as compared with the level in 2020 (i.e. approximately
14.69 kg/1,000 m?). During the Year, the Group generated
approximately 6.68 kg/1,000 m? of non-hazardous waste,
which decreased significantly from approximately 15.22
kg/1,000 m? in 2021, which is mainly due to the paperless
office requirements and the change of Reporting Scope.
Given the Group has achieved its target, the Group will
continue to monitor the non-hazardous waste intensity
and establish a new quantitative target when the Group’s
operation returns to normal in the post-COVID-19 time. The
Group has also set a new additional target for 2023, which is
to hold at least one waste reduction-related activity to raise
employee awareness in this area.

The performance in relation to the Group’s non-hazardous
waste generation is as follows:

B HEkER®mE

REBMAR T - —FERRERESE
BWERE HEEAR S FEZEF
BEMBE(AF/ TEFARB_ZE=F
FIKF(BIAI14.69R T,/ FF5K)48
LR DRA2% - RANFE - AEBE
£ T 668N,/ TF T K EERERE
Y BT —FW15.220FF
FHKKRERD  ZR D E B R ELR
LA RIREBEE B - ENAE
ECEREAE  AEEGEBESTE
EEENEE  WENEBAEBEIBE
RIREEZEEBEE 2 BZ L —EAFHNE
BiZ - AEFNMEA-S-_=ZFRT—
BN B2 - BNE DS — K8
BEFRRAHES) - LIRS B TR A AR

=z iyh
sk ©

AEERBEEERMRROT

Percentage
increase/
Non-hazardous waste® (decrease)
&,/ Ghd)
EEREEYS Bok
Total amount of non-hazardous waste  tonnes 10.77 29.10 (63%)
BEERENES NI
Non-hazardous waste intensity
BREBREVEE
Average by number of households kg/household 0.71 1.57 (55%)
EP#F NS
Average by area kg/1,000 m? 6.68 156.22 (56%)
miETs DT/ FERK
Note: 5T -
6. The non-hazardous waste data did not include waste 6. EEERENEBRITENEER

generated by owners in the property management segment,
only the amount of waste generated in offices and public
areas were accounted for.

RBNEEELNERY - EFHH
RERDILZAEENERNE -
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B HEREARS

To achieve its target of waste reduction, the Group
encourages its employees to classify different types of waste
and requires contractors or builders to separate construction
waste generated during renovation or maintenance work
from general refuse for treatment and timely transferal.
Meanwhile, the Group is committed to enhancing employees’
awareness of waste reduction, and encourages them to
use electronic channels for communication, adopt double-
sided printing and recycle paper as much as possible, in
the hope of achieving a “paperless” office. Other than the
abovementioned, the Group is also committed to promote
its external stakeholders’ awareness of waste reduction.
The Group promotes the practice of waste reduction
at the source to owners, households, and customers,
by encouraging them to use environmentally friendly
bags instead of plastic bags, classify general refuse and
recyclable waste, donate unwanted items to others instead
of discarding them, and choose environmentally friendly
products, etc.

The Group encourages its employees to use their best
endeavours to reduce waste and emissions, with a view
to contributing to the community and the environment. We
have implemented the following environmental protection
policies to reduce emissions and increase efficiency of
resource usage, which include green management, the use
of environmentally friendly equipment and the promotion of
environmental awareness.

Category Environmental Protection Measure

SERAEBRENRR  AEEEE
B TRAIRDRERE - REIMEESR
EREREEHEE BT PIELENELE
WIRMFRA—REZRYS - BADH
FR B M SERE o LRI - AKEIR
HAORIERE THIBEE SR - SUEh M
EREFCREEE  BEMNAER
Y EERWHRRE  FEERME

R IO AE © B Ltz oh - A

SETE AR EINBR 0 & BREE
BE - ARERET  FRAEFPHEE
TORSERENTTE - B EFERRR
KRMTRZERE - K —ARELR AT @
BEEWETHE  BREYRBE T
AMTEERE  VERRRERSS -

AEESBEIR RS ERY KRB
W BtERRBEMEER - RIIER
IATNIRBREBR - LB BERA RS
BRANAME  BEGEEE  EAR
REEA SRR IRIRE R ©

#I5 RIRTE I

Green management e Establish plans and guidelines for energy and water saving

meEE o HIEENKIREIR M ARKR D B R dE 5l

e QOrganise monthly energy consumption analysis meeting to discuss and analyse
the energy consumption data, status of indicators, and the remaining energy
consumption quota

o MABB ARSI NTEE - SRR  BRERRERRREREETON®

e Cooperate with local suppliers as far as possible to reduce carbon emissions
caused by transportation

o FREEAMHEEEESIE B ERIBEIHE RO

e Maintain the temperature of air conditioning in office and public area at 26°C in
summer and 22°C in winter

o KMAEMAHRFMZEFREERR  ER6BRE - LR2EBXE

e Regularly inspect and repair equipment to reduce energy and water wastage
caused by damage

o THIREZRBRE BREBRE  BIEBEEMREKE

e QOrganise promotion and training activities to raise awareness of environmental
protection

o BINSEIFINED  MRSRRER
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il

Environmentally
friendly equipment

BRE

Environmental
awareness

RIREH

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HEkER®mE

Environmental Protection Measure
IRIRIEHE

Encourage employees to use their best endeavours to take public transport during
business trips

GEEITHEHESERLEAATATA

Reuse office stationeries (e.g. envelopes, folders and double-sided printing and
recycling paper)

BEREAMANE (PlanEs  TREX - SEITH R EKARR)

Install voice or infrared sensors to control the level of regional lighting

BT SATIMRRRIE R4 - PRI R 5B K

Replace ordinary lamps in the garages of each project with LED lamps

ULEDBEEBRRBEEENEBEE

Require project management teams to adjust time switches in a timely manner so

that the lighting system in the workplace and sign boards on the roofs are turned

on/off based on the level of sunlight

ERIAE HEEE - BTARS FARE BIRIET R H BT

Purchase appliances with at least Grade Two Energy Label as far as possible
BEERRBRIZR — AR BB A FRIIRIRER

Replace boiler burners to increase operational efficiency and reduce emission

FHRIBIRERS - R ®ET TR MORUEHE AT

Use central control system for energy management, and adjust such system

seasonally to save energy

BBPREGERRROER - BEETEHEITRE - LAEER

Adopt rainwater recycling system for garden irrigation

BBRIK O R L IR RET TIERERR

Use non-negative pressure fresh water supply system to save energy

EREBBAOKHERSE - BiXEEIR

Adjust the running time of the elevators based on peak and non-peak hours

RIESIE RIS ISR R AR EIERETRE

Equip electricity controllers for air conditioners in the employees’ dormitory

BTEENZ=HLEMREEHR

Provide environmental protection training for employees to raise their awareness

to environmental protection issues, and require them to apply energy saving

measures into their daily work, including considering the necessity of energy

dissipation and water consumption, turning off lights, powering off when leaving,

keeping an eye on water and electricity wastage caused by equipment damage,

and arranging maintenance in case of any damage

RETRHERRBESE - RAHRSRESENEL Eis\lﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ i

ABBIEEST - BREEERERKNLEN - BEFEE - THEE IEES
REFEBZEMREKENER - MEFHRE

Install sub-meters and implement “user/polluter-pays” policy to encourage water

and electricity savings

FBRTEKENEK - RIE TR/ I5E8M] BRA - SBEFEL

Promote environmental awareness and provide guidelines to encourage better

behaviours
EEIRRER  RHES  SESRETABE

&t

Fi 2022 ESHHEFRAT




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B HEkER®RS

Energy Conservation BERBFE
Our energy consumption includes purchased electricity BMEFEARGEFERIEIINEE NFER
and heat, petrol consumed by vehicles and natural gas BHEFTEER TR AR BIEHRHENER
consumed for heating and cooking purposes. RS FTERERRAR -
During the Year, the Group consumed approximately 16.42 RAFE ARESTIEFARKER
MWh of energy per 1,000 m? chargeable area, as compared TEHFE T #1642k LR RIRETR - T =
to approximately 9.19 MWh/1,000 m?2 in 2021. Such T —FEHRETHET I K19KE
increase was mainly due to the Group’s improvement its B I RF ZRANEBENEEEE
data collection system and inclusion of the consumption of WERGWHINEBERFTAZS ZZF
purchased heat during 2022. The performance in relation to HBEFEFTE - AEEBERBRERIEN
the Group’s energy consumption is as follows: ™
Percentage
increase/
Energy consumption’ (decrease)
g, )
REREFET == BatE
Direct energy consumption
HERERERE
Petrol MWh 14.25 15.90 (10%)
i KL
Natural gas MWh 1,053.46 1,487.00 (29%)
RAR KR
Total MWh 1,067.71 1,502.90 (29%)
we IR LR

Indirect energy consumption

Rz eER B

Purchased electricity MWh 17,179.87 16,079.17 7%
HNEE T JKFL B

Purchased heat MWh 8,220.96 N/A8 N/A8
HNERE R JKELBF i e TiE e
Total MWh 25,400.83 16,079.17 58%
we JKELBE

Total energy consumption MWh 26,468.54 17,582.07 51%
HELIRERE JKFLBF

Energy consumption intensity

RERERERE

Average by number of households MWh/household 1.74 0.95 83%
FP 8T KEE, P

Average by area MWh/1,000 m2 16.42 9.19 79%
HEEF JEFLBE,FFE A K
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Notes:

7. Energy consumption is calculated with reference to, but not
limited to: the “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published
by the Stock Exchange, and “Carbon Dioxide Emissions
Accounting and Reporting Requirements for Service
Industry” published by Beijing Municipal Bureau of market
supervision and Administration. Conversion factors for
calculating the energy consumption of 2021 are updated to
align with the publication issued by local governments in the
Group’s operating location.

8. This data starts to be disclosed from 2022. Therefore, no
comparison can be made.

The Group has established an energy conservation target
for the first time in 2021, which aims to reduce the energy
consumption intensity (MWh/1,000 m?) for 2026 by at least
2% as compared with the level in 2020 (i.e. approximately
6.99 MWh/1,000 m?). Due to the expansion of the Group’s
data collection system, the Group included purchased heat
in the calculation of energy consumption, which makes the
existing target baseline no longer applicable for comparing
the Group’s current energy consumption inventory. The
Group will continue to monitor energy consumption and work
towards establishing a new baseline year after the Group
resumes full operation in the post-COVID-19 time. However,
the Group remains committed to energy conservation and
targets to host at least one activity in 2023 to increase
employees’ awareness of energy conservation.

In order to improve our energy efficiency, we introduced
an Internet of Things system to control our lightings using
artificial intelligence. Meanwhile, we have formulated
the Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection
Management Policy to strengthen and standardise the
management of energy conservation and emission reduction
in properties, including regular inspection, cleaning and
maintenance of equipment and facilities such as units,
cooling towers and air conditioning systems, so as to
effectively control energy consumption and avoid energy
wastage.

B HEkER®mE

7. BERHRMTEI2RNENEE
BB © B 22 P B O AR T 2248
R @ RERRE —Mg—
RIZWREWERERES D RILR
MEEEEEREMNIREERE
RS ERBERE) - stE =
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# o AEAREEEE RO K
JRF B4t B0 TR S — B
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it - EREITHR
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Water Management

The Group recognises that water resources management
is one of the material aspects of preserving the natural
environment. With respect to water usage, we collect
rainwater for irrigation through the rainwater recycling
system, install automatic faucets in public washrooms, adjust
the amount of flushing water, and use non-negative pressure
fresh water supply system to reduce water consumption.
Water consumed by the Group on a daily basis comes
from the municipal water supplied by the local water supply
department, and the Group has not experienced any
material issues in sourcing water that is fit for purpose and
such sourcing has no impact on the groundwater or water
resources in the natural environment.

The Group has established a water conservation target
for the first time in 2021, which aims to reduce the water
consumption intensity (m%/1,000 m?) for 2026 by at least
2% as compared with the level in 2020 (i.e. approximately
83.45 m®/1,000 m?). During the Year, the Group consumed
approximately 99.49 m® of water per 1,000 m?, representing
an increase of around 19% from approximately 83.45
m?3/1,000 m?2 in 2020. This is mainly due to the increase
in greening water and the rise in public area water usage
caused by the increase in occupancy rate. However, the
Group will continue to monitor water consumption and
implement relevant measures in order to achieve the target
set.
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KEFEE
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The performance in relation to the Group’s water NEEMFEKEEERIBAOT -
consumption is as follows:

Percentage

increase/

Energy consumption (decrease)

2,/ (D)

BETROHHE = Epae

Total m? 160,362.00 159,145.76 1%
SR SR

Water consumption intensity

FRBE
Average by number of households  m3/household 10.55 8.61 23%
EF#T NAKSP
Average by area m?/1,000 m2 99.49 83.22 20%
[EE-R 2] MR TRIK
We closely monitor the water consumption of our properties RAEEEYRAOFOKE - WERIUA
and implement various water conservation measures, TEREKER - BIEETRR -

including but not limited to the following:

North Garden

project Adjusted the time of water use for greening purposes to

EREEEE consume water at intervals

SAERAR AL KA A D B AR 7K

Kingdom

LIl Equipped a water card system in public toilets to control the duration
Eif KRR -E=NEN of water consumption to reduce waste

NHFEMLEKRRFRL - 26 AKERE - BRE

Yigou project
S181EE Installed a pressure reducing valve to control the water volume
LB ARSIk =

Golden Tower
project

$ERER Upgraded the cooling towers to control the water flow

RABETARBGETRR - EHERE
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The Group will continue to devote on-going efforts to
promote energy and water-saving measures under its overall
environmental management agenda.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group’s business operations are not directly involved
in any industrial production, nor do we use any factory
facilities, we did not generate a significant amount of
packaging materials for product packaging.

We strictly comply with all environmental laws and
regulations and strive to building a green community. We
actively integrate the elements of energy conservation and
emissions reduction into operations to reduce the carbon
footprint of our operations, so that our next generation can
continue to live and work in peace and contentment in the
community.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any incidents
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to air and GHG
emissions, discharges into water and land and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including but
not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Water Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China.

The Group continues to protect the environment and
achieve sustainable development, focusing on the impact
of its business on the environment and natural resources.
In addition to complying with environmental regulations and
international standards, and appropriately protecting the
natural environment, the Group has also adopted a number
of measures in an effort to reduce, minimise and control the
impact of its daily operations on the environment and the use
of resources. The relevant environmentally friendly policies
and measures are detailed in the section headed “Use of
Resources”. On the other hand, the Group actively provides
environmental education to its employees to raise their
awareness in this regard.
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As extreme weather events become more frequent and
severe, tackling climate change has become a global
consensus. The Group has realised that climate change will
affect its business operations in various aspects. Therefore,
we have established a comprehensive set of procedures to
identify, monitor and manage ESG issues, including climate
change. Based on such procedures, we have identified the
following climate-related risks.

Physical risks

First, climate change has resulted in more frequent and
severe extreme weather events such as typhoons, floods,
and storms etc., which may pose physical damage to
properties owned and managed by the Group and increase
the Group’s costs for maintenance and disaster response.
In extreme conditions, the Group’s normal operations may
be affected, and the personal safety of building managers
and users may be threatened. The Group’s reputation may
also be adversely affected if it fails to properly handle such
events. In the long run, the rise of sea level and the resulting
floods may cause damage to the facilities in our properties,
resulting in increased cost for repairing damaged facilities.

To address the above-mentioned physical risks, the Group
has formulated contingency plans for handling emergencies
in order to reduce or avoid losses if extreme weather
conditions were to affect the property facilities owned and
managed by the Group. Moreover, the Group has purchased
insurance for its staff and relevant properties to protect the
relevant interests and reduce potential financial losses. We
believe that by making adequate preparations for extreme
weather events, the potential financial impact of such events
can be minimised.
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Transition risks

In addition to the above-mentioned physical risks, the Group
also faces the risk arising from the transition to a low-carbon
economy. Currently, more and more aggressive climate
policies and regulations are available to support the vision of
global decarbonisation. For example, the Stock Exchange
has required listed companies to strengthen climate-related
disclosures in their ESG reports. The PRC has also made
a solemn promise of achieving “carbon peaking” by 2030
and “carbon neutrality” by 2060, and promulgated relevant
action plans and policies. If existing compliance procedures
and business operations fail to fully comply with the new
laws and regulatory requirements, the Group may incur
additional compliance costs, which may affect its reputation.
Moreover, tenants and customers are gradually turning to
enterprises that incorporate the concept of sustainability
into their operations. If the Group fails to incorporate
such sustainability concept into its operations in time and
effectively address problems arising from climate change, it
may lose market competitiveness.

To cope with policies as well as legal risks and reputational
risks, the Group monitors existing and emerging climate-
related trends, policies and regulations on a regular basis
and is prepared to inform senior management when
necessary to prevent cost increase, fines for non-compliance
or reputational risk arising from delayed response. In
addition, we set targets regarding energy consumption
and GHG emissions to advance the Group’s sustainable
development progress.
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SOCIAL

Employees are an integral part of any organisation and
the corresponding labour management practices play a
requisite role in affecting a company’s culture, success and
reputation. Our goal is to create a working environment
that encourages diversity and respect for all while enabling
each employee to exhibit individuality and creativity. With
the aim to institute a favourable work environment, the
organisation took several steps which included maintaining
a workplace culture of equality and diversity, developing the
competencies of employees, recognising, motivating and
rewarding talent, ensuring the well-being and safety of all
individuals.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant labour laws and regulations in
its operating locations, including but not limited to the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China. The Group
was not aware of any material and concluded violations of
the above laws and regulations.

Employment

Our employees lie at the core of our business operations and
form the firm foundation of our success and development.
The Employee Handbook and the Compilation of Human
Resources System of the Group set out clear regulations on
the employment, attendance, compensation, and benefits
of employees in detail to protect their interests. The Group
also reviews, from time to time, its policies relating to
recruitment and promotion, compensation and dismissal,
equal opportunity and anti-discrimination, training and
development, working hours, rest periods and other benefits
and welfare of the employees, based on policy changes and
feedback on the policy implementation during the previous
year.

The Group strives to create a positive work-life balance
culture that provides reasonable working hours and
organises teambuilding activities on a regular basis. In
order to cultivate a strong cohesiveness and team spirit,
we organise a wide range of activities, such as sports
competition, holiday celebration and epidemic prevention
and control activities, all of which have been a great
success, enabling our employees to strengthen their sense
of belonging to the Group while relaxing themselves.
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To recruit and motivate potential employees, the Group
offers competitive remuneration and welfare packages.
We provide our employees with reasonable remuneration,
benefits and compensation at the market level, in sufficient
consideration of their needs. The additional benefits given to
the employees range from meal and accommodation, annual
leaves, communication and transportation allowance, holiday
allowance and gifts, social insurance and housing provident
fund contributions in accordance with local regulations. With
this robust system of motivating the employees with enticing
rewards and support, the Group strives to retain talent and
envision the development of all the staff members.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 170
employees within the Reporting Scope (as at 31 December
2021: 192), all of which covered in this Report were full-time
employees located in Mainland China. The turnover rate® of
employees in Mainland China was approximately 15.29%
during the Year (2021: approximately 13.54%).

Employment Data Overview
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Number of Employees by Employee Category
RESERIENEEAR

2021 2022
B —E-—F

2 19 14

21

135

M Senior Management M Middle-level Management B Ordinary and Technical Personnel
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Number of Employees by Age
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Employee Turnover Rate by Gender®
BB 5 BB TRk R
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Note:

9. The employee turnover rate is calculated as follows: total
number of employees (or by category) who left the Group
during the financial year/total number of employees (or by
category) at the end of the financial year*100.

Health and Safety

The Group aims to provide a healthy and safe working
environment for its employees to create a sustainable
corporate culture. Our subsidiary Beijing AOCEAN Property
Management Company Limited* (1t F R PR ¥ B IR AR
‘A \]) has obtained the OHSAS18001:2007/GB/T28001-
2011 Occupational Health and Safety Management System
Certificate and formulated the Quality, Environment and
OHS Management Manual according to requirements of the
certificate, to strengthen the safety management of the work
environment.

In the past three years (including this Year), the Group did
not identify any work-related fatalities. During the Year,
number of days lost to work injuries was 184 days (2021:
270 days). All such lost days were due to one work injury
related case where an employee was accidentally injured
when carrying goods. The Group provided assistance to the
employees involved in accordance with the relevant policies
by arranging sufficient work-related injury leave for them.
Meanwhile, the Group has also provided more training for
its employees to enhance their safety awareness. During
the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in relation
to health and safety that have materially affected the Group,
including but not limited to the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases.

B HEkER®mE

9. BIRAENGERZR  WBF
EANBERASEER 8 T (siRiERIE
DIBAE THEFEERE T (IR
FERIEIS ) EAE100

BEHZR
AEBBKAREBRERERLEMHIIE
RIE - LEETRENGEXL - &
PR B AR R EEIREER
A 7 B BL18 OHSAS18001 : 2007/GB/
T28001-201 1 Bt R FEL 2 BEIRBRR
o WIRBEREFELGIE T(EE &R
B BEERELE2ERFM) - AMNE
THERBENLZE2ERE -

BE=F(BERFE)  KNEEWEE
WA TIEBEMILTAOEE - RAF
B AEERIGEANIIEEE A
184K(ZF=—%F : 270K) - FiB#E
KTIEEHEEH—RITERMME - —
ZEINMESYRTNMESIES - AEE
HIRBABEECR AHIBHRBE) - Wik
RN TEEBE - BF > AEEDMNE
BB TIRHEEI - gaafine e
B RAFE - AEEW T ABEEE
FERBREAZEMAEBEEERANE
ﬁ%E CBIEETRAFBACREA

HFBE B ZERPEE) MENEEE
ﬁﬁziﬁwa BB ©

3R 2022 EHIHEERLAE 41 l



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BR - HERERHRS

The health and safety measures undertaken by the Group NEFEREMERERLT S EBEE
include the following:

o To ensure the physical health of employees, physical ° EBRERETIEEERE  BRAETF
checkups are conducted annually to avert the B THETTRER - LB IHERRE
occurrence of infectious and occupational diseases. MEREETR o

. As part of the COVID-19 countermeasures and to . £ /& COVID-19 ¥ f & e &) —
prevent the spread of the virus, the Group complied R BHIREERE  AEEIE
strictly with the virus prevention regulations as SFHATETRE BN RS R -
required by the government, and stringent infection N ERER B A% B B B R T AR FE B
preventive measures were implemented to protect its 8 - EIBETIESARAIRER
employees. The Group closely monitored the health IR EHINEIO B M ABIRTF
of its employees by checking their body temperature, & BZEGRESBERLIE R
providing sufficient surgical masks and alcohol-based BMARBLE - NEBEZRYE
hand rub at our workplace, as well as disinfecting REEMNFERER - AEBETZ
and cleaning the office every day to ensure the HEEBEXRI/ENETH FHE
safety of the working environment. The Group also ok Z=HEBEEE [
arranged some of its employees to work from home B REEINEDZTHE I
and to conduct business meetings online to minimise 4o BRERZ 2R -

the spread of the pandemic. Meanwhile, the Group
also reduced the number of business travels for
employees to reduce safety risks.

o The Group often organises production safety ° REBREHB LT EEEHEIE
education and training, and promotes safety I IR EINLEES - B
awareness. Our employees are required to execute MEENEASREB(EILEXEE
the Employee Safety Production Liability Statement SEBEE)  WAEEFHE
under which they are committed to complying with all TEENX -

safety requirements.

. We provide personal protective equipment based o RYE 8 THY AL TS 30
on the position and work nature of employees, such RIREG REE - FE L
as insulated shoes, gloves, safety helmets, safety 2« ZERIELE  BEE
reflective jackets etc., so as to reduce the risk of INEEE RS o WEEIBERS
accidents. For the property management business, RIREELIRE R B HE
we provide anti-heatstroke or cold-proof equipment =& BPINTEREE T#MFE
according to seasonal changes, so as to protect the 2IRFE o

safety of employees working outdoors.

o The Group carries out fire drills every year and ° REBFFHETHAEE T
inspects all fire-fighting and electronic equipment EHREMB B MEFREER
regularly to ensure environmental safety. i REBIRELS -
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Development and Training

We believe that employees are one of our most valued assets
and a motivated workforce could play a vital role in sustaining
competitive advantage and providing the best service
experience to our customers. Our Compilation of Human
Resources System has specific chapters on development
and training, which set out the employee training system
and training operation procedures. For the sustainable
development of the Group, we search for multiple facets of
employee development and training activities.

The Group is committed to creating a diversified and
discrimination-free workplace and continuously improving the
career development ladder. In order to effectively evaluate
their performance, we have a performance management
system, pursuant to which we carry out monthly, quarterly or
annual performance assessments of employees, the results
of which are taken into consideration in determining the
performance pay and adjusting the salaries and positions of
our employees.

With regard to training, we provide abundant training
opportunities to our employees. Our human resources
department issues employee training needs surveys regularly
to formulate annual training plans and adjust the training
content based on actual needs. A vigorous and appropriate
training development framework was developed as per the
requirements of different staff members working at different
positions. New joiners will receive orientation training
covering corporate culture, regulations and system, safety
training, environmental health and safety training, job skills
and work procedures. Training provided to the employees
of the property management project including but not
limited to the customer service, security management, skills
for communicating with owners, equipment maintenance,
emergency and fire safety. Moreover, the Group continuously
monitors the implementation of development and training
measures to ensure their effectiveness, and regularly
reviews and updates relevant measures. During the Year,
approximately 100% of the Group’s staff has received
training (2021: approximately 100%), with an average training
hour™ of approximately 34.35 hours (2021: approximately
26.91 hours).
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During the Year, employees that fall within the Reporting
Scope were trained as follows:

RAFEE - BAIRREBER B THYHE
FIERMT -

Percentage of trained employees to total number of trained employees (%)

FERZIETHAZINE T EHI(%)

2022 2021 2022
S —E——F —E:—_—
By gender By employee category
RERIE D RETERES
Male 63.53 64.06 Senior Management 8.24 1.04
B RN ERE
Female 36.47 35.94 Middle-level Management 12.35 9.90
egia PRERE
Qrdinary and Technical Personnel 79.41 89.06
—MERMET

Average training hours per employee (hours)™
BT ABZ IR (NER)10

2022 2021
—E2-— —E-—F
By gender By employee category
RpI &85 RETERES
Male 36.30 29.56 Senior Management 37.14 18.00
St =R ERE
Female 30.97 2217 Middle-level Management 36.19 18.00
i PRERRE
Qrdinary and Technical Personnel 33.78 28.00
—MEEMET
Note: et
10. The average training hours per employee is calculated 10. BT AHZIEEOFAERER -

as follows: the total number of training hours received by
employees (or by category) during the financial year/the total
number of employees (or by category) at the end of financial
year.
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Labour Standards

We strictly comply with all employment-related laws and
regulations, so that all employees are protected by law,
including but not limited to the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Provisions on Special Protection of
Minor Workers, the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labour, and other laws and regulations relating to
occupational safety, as well as disability, gender, family
status, and racial discrimination.

The Group strictly prohibits the employment of child labour
or forced labour. In accordance with the requirements under
the Employee Handbook and the Compilation of Human
Resources System, the Group requires candidates to
provide true and accurate personal information and identity
documents during the hiring process. Our recruiters will
then thoroughly review the relevant documents and conduct
background checks. The hiring procedures are also regularly
reviewed and inspected to prevent the use of child labour
in our operations. If it is found that child labour is employed
by mistake, the Group will immediately terminate their
employment and follow up on the situation. Moreover, to
avoid forced labour, the Group has set clear requirements
for working hours in the employment contracts. The Group
would not force any employees to work overtime against
their will in any form. When the violation case is confirmed,
the Group will immediately investigate and address overwork
issues. Disciplinary actions against any staff members who
are responsible for the cause of the incident would be taken,
if any.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
breaches of employment labour laws and regulations
related to child and forced labour mentioned above and
other benefits and welfare concerning its employees in its
operations.
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Supply Chain Management

Effective supply chain management can reduce cost and
improve quality, and help reduce social or environmental
risks that an organisation may face. The Group formulated
a set of strict Procurement Management Rules that require
us to adopt a comparative selection system when selecting
new suppliers, including the requirement to carry out on-site
assessments to review their licences, qualifications, service
quality, business management, material management,
the degree of support, reputation and otherwise. During
the procurement process, we require suppliers to sign
the Integrity Commitment, emphasising to them that the
Company attaches great importance to integrity and disallow
any corruption, bribery and other illegal activities, and require
them to undertake to comply with laws and regulations when
producing products and providing services. Besides, we also
conduct regular review of existing suppliers in our Qualified
Supplier List every year to ensure their supply quality and
service level can be maintained.

Procurement
Guidelines

xBEsl

Green
Procurement

RERE

Supply Chain
Management
HEEEE

Integrity /

Commitment

BRI GE

Qualified

Supplier List
aREHTER
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In addition, the Group takes full account of the social, ethical
and environmental performance of its suppliers during the
procurement process. The Group is required to review the
following factors during its regular supplier review process:

° Suppliers are aware of environmental, social, and
ethical issues relevant to their business operations,
and have established minimum standards for these
issues;

° Major suppliers and suppliers with higher risks
have management systems in place to address
environmental and social issues and risks;

° The Group should ensure the accuracy of information
provided by suppliers by conducting reviews, third
party verifications or similar procedures; and

° All other conditions being equal, the Group should
give priority to suppliers that are environmentally
and socially responsible or suppliers that promote
environmentally friendly products and services.

During the Year, the Group had a total of 114 major
suppliers (2021: 269), all of which were located in Mainland
China. All major suppliers have passed the above-mentioned
evaluation during the Year. In 2022, the Group was not
aware of any significant negative impact on business ethics,
environmental protection, human rights, or labour practices
that was brought about by its major suppliers.
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Product Responsibility

The Group values each client and strives to continuously
improve its products and services. Each of our business
operation is subject to strict quality standards and
traceability.

For our property management business, we have a sound
environment, occupational health and safety, and quality
management system. We have established the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual to perfect
our management system and define responsibilities of
the management and each department, and Beijing
AOCEAN Property Management Company Limited (3t
FUORPYEE IR AR A F))*, one of our subsidiaries, has
passed the 1ISO14001:2015 environmental management
system, OHSAS18001:2007 occupational health and
safety management system and ISO9001:2015 quality
management system certifications. We spare no effort to
maintain the quality of our services and protect the health
and safety of the households, tenants and employees.
The Company regularly reviews and inspects for the
quality, environment and occupational health and safety
management system. The external expert confirmed that
we have complied with relevant requirements of the three
standards, namely GB/T19001-2015 Quality Management
System Requirements, GB/T24001-2015 Environmental
Management Systems — Requirements with Guidance for
Use and GB/T28001-2011 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System Specifications. We are committed to
the sustainable development of the enterprise, environment
and society by strengthening the management of daily
operations.
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The quality checking procedures of the Group are as follows:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B HEkER®mE

REBEWEERTERENT

Depa.rtment_al the problems identified, prepare quality inspection reports and submit them to the
Self-inspection HR Department.
HEIER ERPEREESAENE B RPVETMARESNERMBEY - BERNHEES

Quality inspectors from various departments carry out inspections twice a week
and supervise the rectification of problems in respective departments, summarise

ViRBERME - ERXRANERED

The Service Quality Department, together with quality inspectors from various departments,
review the contents of quality inspection and safety reports every week, so as to ensure that
problems are rectified properly.

REEENSHRZHFINERIESENER Z2RENTETEDS - BREEENR

Vv

Service Quality
Department Recheck

AR B AR R

it -
A4

Key Department ;

Inspection > services.
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mE °

Inspections, follow-up actions, communications and supervision work are carried
out every week for key inspection departments, so as to improve the quality of

BRI IIE - RFAFIER

The Service Quality Department summarises the inspection results and prepares a
report, which will be sent to department directors, who are required to respond with
proposed rectifications, within 3 working days, including recording the rectified items in
photos, or indicating the time needed for rectification.
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Service Quality
Department Summary
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Contacting Customers

We have always advocated the service philosophy of
“customer first”, and are committed to providing the most
complete and considerate service for owners, households
and surrounding residents to make them feel at home.
There are customer service specialists for all of the Group’s
property projects to take care of the customers’ needs at all
hours, including repair requests, comments on the services
or complaints. If necessary or in case of any problems,
owners and households can contact their corresponding
customer service specialists through the 24-hour service
hotline, the on-site customer service centre of the project or
the “Aocean Life” online service.

We have set up the “BFE¥ % AOCEAN” WeChat Official
Account, where owners of the Aocean property can apply
for repairs online, track the progress of services, contact
service specialists, pay property fees, and make comments
and suggestions on property management online.

With regard to customer complaints, we have formulated
the Complaint Management Policy, pursuant to which
we shall respond to a complaint in the system within 4
hours, an oral complaint within 1 working day and a written
complaint within 3 working days. In order to ensure that all
complaints are handled in the most appropriate manner to
the satisfaction of customers, we follow up with customers
by telephone or in person, which shall cover all customers
every year. In addition, we carry out at least one customer
satisfaction survey each year to collect customer feedback
and suggestions on the property projects and the quality
of services, so as to continuously improve the quality
of our services and “create high-quality products and
provide prominent services”. In order to better understand
customers’ views about us, we have specially added a
“criticise and praise” function to the “RFE4% AOCEAN”
WeChat Official Accounts application, allowing customers to
instantly upload photos and give a praise or suggestion for
improvement so that our service team can make immediate
response.

During the Year, the Group did not receive any major
complaints regarding our products and services.

' 50 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BR - HERERHRS

BRER
BA—BEHRSI AT R INREES -
BMOR¥E  EFPUEREBEERREHS
& REOHRY - RFIRIIEE
g - AEBETHAYMREB AR
ERER  FENEFPNETEIES
EMFERE - B — + PO/ AR TS 2
iR HEIRSERTOKDREE |
RRGREREXRERBE - 2XRIKR
BEPMT  BREBEELR - HRED
BRIGHRE -

BARBDRAME IMERRE - BE
WIZEE 2 X ALEIB R A RN RIRIE
REEIRTHEE - MERTEE - BUAY
B TEGEDRERROELNZE

N
EES

ERFPEF - BAIRIURFEER
) > BUERMRTERFAED N RET
AgEE > OBRHFEEIETERR
O7% - MEERFRBE=EITIEAR
O - SRHERAERFHEIRAEDN
BRI BREPEOME  HAEIE
A P AEEFETE  XRE
B—FREBEEMAEF - I B
FEETEL - REFPMBERE - K
SEFPHRMERBNMRBERNER
M - UHERTRMNREEE -
[EBEAE  E=RERERSK - BT
ETREFPHRMAMER  BHMER
RELiTEyE Sk SEPNSS s FallbFd i s
R INNEE  BXRPAER LERA
WEHRG IR EEHE - WERF
EVIRTS B B RS EE -

RAFE  AREYAREETAEHE
an M AR A% O B AR ©



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Health and Safety

As a constructor of the community, we must shoulder
the responsibility to protect the safety of the community,
and are committed to protecting the lives and properties
of the public. In accordance with the Safety Production
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Regulations on
the Reporting, Investigation and Handling of Work Safety
Accidents, and the Safety Production Regulations of Beijing,
we have formulated the Safety Production Management
Manual to identify various kinds of safety risks and formulate
appropriate response plans, so as to strengthen our safety
production management. We also carry out adequate safety
training and publicity activities to raise the awareness among
our staff and residents in safety issues. According to the
principle of “safety first”, the Group endeavours to respond
to different safety risks.

As the Group is principally engaged in the property
management, and property development and investment
businesses, it did not engage in the sales of products during
the Year. The disclosure of the total number of products sold
or shipped that were subject to be recalled for safety and
health reasons is not applicable to the Group.

Fire Safety

With regard to fire safety, for the property management
business, we have improved the maintenance and repair
system for firefighting equipment, including daily inspection
of the alarm system and fire-fighting equipment room,
monthly random inspection of smoke detectors, temperature
detectors, audible and visual alarms, monthly inspection of
fire-fighting facilities, equipment, escape routes, safety exit
and otherwise, and testing water supply pumps to ensure
normal operation, and annual inspection of water supply and
drainage systems. In addition, the safety officers of each
property project regularly check the status of fire hydrants,
pumps, fire controllers and other equipment to ensure that
all facilities and equipment are in good condition and will not
pose a safety risk.
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For improving the fire prevention awareness of residents and
their ability to deal with emergencies, we have developed fire
drill plans and carried out fire training during the Year. Not
only did these measures enhance everyone’s awareness of
fire safety, but also improved the ability of each project staff
to put out fire at an early stage, and familiarised every staff
with the project’s fire-fighting and evacuation plan and their
respective duties during evacuation in the event of a fire.

Elevator Safety

To further strengthen the elevator safety management, the
property management business has put forward the idea
of “building intelligent elevators with Internet of Things”
to improve the safety and quality of elevators. The Yigou
property management project installed the Cloud Elevator
system, including the Cloud Elevator Internet of Things
system, Cloud Elevator big data analysis platform, apps,
management and operation platform. The Cloud Elevator
system takes a positive role as a 24 hours electronic
housekeeper to monitor the elevator running state and
predict the elevator failure statistically, and intelligently
manage the elevator daily operation, discourage and record
unsafe and uncivilised elevator behaviour.

Hygiene

For the property management business, environmental
officers of each property project carry out centralised
cleaning and maintenance work in each area, beautifying
the environment of the community and improving the
appearance and image of the community every day, in
accordance with the green maintenance standards. In
addition, we engage a third-party testing agency to inspect
the drinking water in projects every year to ensure that the
water quality meets relevant requirements of the Hygienic
Standards of Drinking Water and that drinking water is not
contaminated or harmful to health.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Privacy Matters

In respect of privacy and confidentiality protection, the Group
strictly complies with and makes reference to the Personal
Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
in the appropriate use and proper handling of stakeholders’
personal data. The Group’s employees are obligated to
retain in confidence all data obtained during the course of
their employment, including but not limited to trade secrets,
know-how, customers’ data and personal data, supplier
information and other confidential information. We strictly
comply with all laws protecting data privacy and formulated
privacy protection guidelines to instruct our employees to
properly handle and store data of employees and customer
data, with an aim to avoid any unauthorised editing, use and
resale or use of personal data for other purposes. We also
provide trainings to our staff regularly in order to increase
their awareness in privacy protection.

During the Year, there were no violations or data leakage-
related cases involving us, or substantiated complaints from
any external parties or regulatory bodies about the Group’s
failure to protect the privacy of customers and loss of
customer data.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group actively responds to the protection of intellectual
property rights and strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations including the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and encourages its employees to protect
the intellectual property rights of third parties. We ensure the
use of authorised software in our business operations. For
materials involving patents and intellectual property rights
of third parties, we will obtain licences and use them with
caution within legal limits to reduce the risk of intellectual
property infringement.
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Advertising and Labelling

During the Year, all advertising and publicity activities are
in strict compliance with the advertising and promotion
laws and regulations enforced in regions where we operate
our businesses, including but not limited to the Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests. In developing a promotion plan, we
did not publish any advertisement with false statement that
would bring damage to customers.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance of laws and regulations in relation to advertising
and labelling, including but not limited to the Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China.

Anti-Corruption

The protocols and laws concerned with bribery, privileges,
and political contributions are closely followed by the Group,
and strives to create a law-abiding and honest corporate
culture. To ensure the ethical behaviour and conduct of our
employees in the business environment, the Group requires
directors and employees to participate in anti-corruption
and/or business ethics training corresponding to their
positions at least annually, and to strictly abide by all relevant
laws and regulations. During the Year, we provided anti-
corruption training materials to directors and employees for
their self-learning. Topics covered in the training, including
but were not limited to, how to undertake and practice anti-
corruption responsibilities, and disclosure requirements
for anti-corruption in the ESG report. By going through the
relevant training, our directors and employees of different
categories could have a better understanding of their
corresponding roles and responsibilities in the areas of anti-
corruption and business ethics, as well as important matters
regarding compliance in operations.
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The Group has an Anti-Corruption Policy, an Anti-Fraud
and Whistle-Blowing Policy, and a Whistle-Blowing Policy in
place that provide employees with whistle-blowing channels
and guidelines for reporting any improper behaviours that
the Group has been or may be engaging in, including but
not limited to corrupt or criminal activities, violations of legal
and regulatory requirements, misjudgments, and behaviours
that threatens the health and safety of individuals. The
Whistle-Blowing Policy also ensures that the identities and
personal information of whistle-blowers are kept confidential.
Employees are ensured that they will not be subject to
any form of intimidation, retaliation or improper disciplinary
action as a result of reporting any of the above issues. The
Group endeavours to handle all disclosed information in a
confidential and prudent manner, and to investigate and
handle each reported issue as appropriate to its nature and
the relevant circumstances.

During the Year, the Group was not involved in any
concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against it or its employees. The Group was also not aware of
any material non-compliance with the laws and regulations
that would have a significant impact on the Group relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including
but not limited to the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Interim Provisions on Prohibition of
Commercial Bribery.
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Community

The Group proactively fulfils its corporate social responsibility
to the communities in which it operates and where its
employees live. To perform as a responsible corporate
citizen, we inspire employees to render support to the
charitable organisations and also encourage them to
participate in the charitable activities of the Group itself. We
have been active in charitable activities, community culture
building, environmental and health protection education, and
meeting labour needs. We have formulated a Community
Investment Policy that sets out the core principles, objectives
and management approach for community investment, to
allow our community to achieve sustainable growth. The
Group also makes monetary and physical goods donations
to various charity causes such as disaster reliefs, care funds
for the elderly, child and youth development, education, and
environmental protection.

Festival Care

The Group has had deep roots in the community and
provided services for the community for years. We take
community engagement as an opportunity to contribute to
the humanistic concern of these local communities.

On every Christmas Day, our employees would dress up
as Santa Claus to give Christmas apples and gifts to the
surrounding households of the property management
community that we manage, sending our blessings and
greetings.

Community Communication

The Group endeavours to ensure continuous communication
with members of the community where the Group operates.
We pay attention to social issues and events to understand
the public’s expectation of the Group. Our property
management company held a week-long property service
event to understand the needs of property owners in order
to optimise our customised service.
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and

KPIs

[EBmE - —AHE Description Section/Declaration
RS E IR it B8h,BA

KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions — GHG Emissions
RASRAE DU IRAL A HErU e A KRR S BEUE - HERU) — R = RS HEAL

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse = Emissions — GHG Emissions

RASRAESIEIZA1.2  gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity = HERY — )8 = KALHER
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
B (8EN) RepRMHEE (8E2) R =R BHENE (CABEST
E)R(ER)EE(WAGEEEN - BIERBTE)

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where = Not applicable — Explained
RASRAEIEIZA1.3  appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, A —5EAA
per facility).

PREAAEERMEE (UEE) X (Emn) 2= (Wi E
EEBN - BERMEHH)

KPI'A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where = Emissions — Waste
RASRAEIEIZA1.4  appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, = Management
per facility). PR —EEEME R

PREAEEERMAE (UEAE) X (En) 2E (e
EEEN - BERMEHH)

KPI'A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to = Emissions — GHG Emissions
RASRASUEIZA1.5  achieve them. PEn — R E RS HE
FRILFTRT S BRI E B IR R BIEDE L B IEFTER A P8R

KPI'A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes = Emissions — Waste
RASRAEIEIZA1.6  are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and = Management
steps taken to achieve them. ) —EEYER

WREIE A E MEEERYHE - RAIPTET SRR EE
BIERREREL B RN -

' 58 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Description
st

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2 : ERFA

General Disclosure

—RIWE

KPI A2.1
AR AR BURIRA2.1

KPI A2.2
FASRIARUIRIRA2.2

KPIA2.3
FASAARIEIRA2.3

KPI A2.4
FASAARUIEIRA2.4

KPI A2.5
FASRAEBUEIRA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials. Note:Resources may be
used in production, in storage, transportation, in buildings,
electronic equipment, etc.
BREAER(BERR « KEREMRMRL)BBUE -

i BRAARAEE  #F - &l BF  BrRET-

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

RRRE DM ERE R KEEER(NE - KR EEE
(AKERAE) RBE (WA ESEN - §IERMAE) °

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BERKERTE(WMABESEMN - BERBITE) °

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HEA PR ET SZ BV REIR (L RS B AR MR ES 5 L B IR ERER
HYZZER o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

Fa USKEGE KR AT B ER R - ARPIET SR KR
m RN ARETE L BRI 25 -

Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

S mPTABREM RS (LA E) R (ER) 84 &
B -

B - HEkER®mE

Section/Declaration
S0 33

Use of Resources

BIRHM A

Use of Resources — Energy
Conservation

BIRHIR—##sE IR

Use of Resources — Water
Management
BIRFA—RAKER

Use of Resources — Energy
Conservation

BIRHR—E#sE IR

Use of Resources — Water
Management
BIRFA—RAKERE

Not applicable — Explained
TNER — A

Fi 2022 ESHHEFRAT




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B HEkER®RS

Aspects, General
Disclosures and

KPIs
[EBmE - —AHE Description Section/Declaration
NSRBI faatt a:ap &

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
[BHEA3 : IRERRAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the = The Environment and Natural

— ARG R environment and natural resources. Resources

IE T AHRIERRAERENERTZENBOR RIERARER
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the = The Environment and Natural
RS AE NFEIZEAS.A environment and natural resources and the actions taken to = Resources

manage them. RIBERARER

R EDHBARRAE RN EAY B RORRER
AR ENTH -

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BEA4 : RIREL

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- = Climate Change
— PR R related issues which have impacted, and those which may &%t
impact, the issuer.
BRI MEME LR A RS H R T AEERFENEARIRE
BEEHBE -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which = Climate Change
AR E W IEIEAL A have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, &i&E1t

and the actions taken to manage them.

RN WRTAELER ENERRIRAHE

" REHTH -

Aspect B1: Employment

EEB1 : Bl#
General Disclosure Information on: Employment and Labour
— PR EE (@) the policies; and Practices, Employment

(o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that (BRI EHE - EF
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
B R E - BREREA - TIERS - RE - 5%
2 Zift - RERUREAMFERENA
a B &
b) ETHETABEAZENERERLROIHER

' 60 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPls

EE - AR
R RIRE IS

KPIB1.1
RS BIEIRB.1

KPI B1.2
RASERIE1ZB1.2

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Description
st

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
ZUER - EERE (R BEGRE) - FEER KRSl D
HE B4R -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.
=R - FRAERNRMESID A ESRAKLLE -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EEB2 : RFHEZ 2

General Disclosure
—REH R

KPI B2.1
BAS AR BUIEIRB2.1

KPI B2.2
FARAABIEIRB2.2

KPI B2.3
RS AE IR EB2.1

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

BARELZ 2 TFRERREES#EBELEEZN

(@ BEE: &

(o) BFEHEITABEAZENEBEREIIROINER

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each
of the past three years including the reporting year.

BEZF(BRERFE)SFRATTHOABKILE

Lost days due to work injury.

ATBEATIEEE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

R PR B R 2 21 - AT RER
T e

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EmB3 : #E&IEI

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
Note:  Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal
and external courses paid by the employer.

BEARTHE B BT TIEBE A A AR RE VR © fits
FEE -

L BIEREE AIREmEZNENRNIMDRIE o

B HEkER®mE

Section/Declaration
S0 33

Employment

(=

Employment

(A

Health and Safety
fEREL 2

Health and Safety
fEREZ R

Health and Safety
fEREL S

Health and Safety
fEREL 2

Development and Training
R Mg
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HEkER®RS

Aspects, General

Disclosures and

KPIs

[EBmE - —AHE Description
RS E IR it

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
RSB IE1EBS. 1 employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

BURIREEER(NSRERE  PRERE)IONX
JMREBEDL

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by
RASRAEIEIEB3.2  gender and employee category.
BRI RESERE D - §RESTHRZIIN T RS -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : TR

General Disclosure Information on:
—RRI5E (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.
B IEET ARG TH)
(@) Blﬁﬁ &
(b) BTFEHBTAGERZENREERLROINER o

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
R4 45 IS IERA avoid child and forced labour.

Rt RIS E BB B AR R E T REHIS T -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

MABIEiEIZB4.2 | discovered.
fai e B IVE R BR R ERR B RIS U EREA 5% -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEBS : e ER

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
— R EE supply chain.
ERHEFEHIREFE R SRBRBUR

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.
RS R 1RBS. 1 i B DB HEEEE -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
R4 AE W FEIERS.2 number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
A A AEERRIED - mERITEBEENHERS
A - UREERITRERTE -
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Section/Declaration
=6, B

Development and Training

R S E

Development and Training
TR MIEFI

LLabour Standards
25 T %R

Labour Standards
85 TAR

LLabour Standards
4T %8

Supply Chain Management
HEEER

Supply Chain Management
HEEEER

Supply Chain Management
HEEER



Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPls

B - —ARHE
R RIRE IS

KPIB5.3
BASAARIEIRBS.3

KPIB5.4
BASAABIEIRBS.4

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Description

Tt

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

A RABR RS ARG IRE Rt g RARAIER] -
ARAMRBEIAT REER X -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

R BRE HER R (£ 2 AIRIRE m LRI EH -
NABRANIT REER A ©

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[BTEB6 : EmEIT

General Disclosure

—MRIE

KPI B6.1
BB AR IE15B6.1

KPI B6.2
ISR BIEIRB6.2

KPI B6.3
AR BIEIRB6.3

KPI B6.4
FASRARRUIEIRB6.4

KPI B6.5
A ENIE1RB6.5

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

FRAMERERTREHERREZ S  BE 2%
EEARER A -
(@ BEE: &

(o) BFEEITABE

SN

FENRERRAOINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.

EERCEXEMERT AL RERIPAMARKN T
e
Number of products and service related complaints received

and how they are dealt with.

BERNEm MR AIRR BB A R EETE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

T L N AR R AN EE AR B ARV 1B 1)

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

Will'E ST BT R EmRDB KRR

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HIUEEEERMRE RALBEER - A RIERI T R EEER
b

B HEkER®mE

Section/Declaration

8- 3

Supply Chain Management
g EE

Supply Chain Management
HiEEEE

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Not applicable — Explained
A — 5T

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Product Responsibility
EmAE

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Product Responsibility
EDD EE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B HEkER®RS

Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

Bl - —RRE
et

Description
it

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EBHEB7 : R&E)5

General Disclosure
—AHE

KPI B7.1
B SRAA RIS IRBT 1

KPIB7.2
BASRIARUISIRBT .2

KPIB7.3
RARAERUIEIZBT.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B ILEEEE - 9R - HEF AR ERN
@ BxE: &k
(b) BTEEITABEAFENEERLBONER -

- =

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERBAAHEITASERERHEIEEENETHAR
HHEE REFEAGR -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

T By EE A b R IRIZ T - A RABRAE T REER A ©

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.

it mES R B TIRENRE)SHEI -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEBS : @&

General Disclosure
—RR IR EE

KPI B8.1
BB AE RIS 1RBS. 1

KPI B8.2
RASAARUIEIRBS.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.
BRI T RS EMTHERENBEREERS
BEERMEMNRAIBOR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

EIRREEWHE  REFEE SIHK #F X
ft-85)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

EEIREMPAER (WS EREH) -
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Anti-corruption
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Chunxian, aged 59, was appointed as an executive
Director, the chairman of the Company on 17 February 2014
and was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
on 1 April 2021. He also acts as the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Wei Chunxian is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. In addition, he is also the
president of GR properties USA Inc. and East Pacific Properties LLC
(each a US subsidiary of the Company).

Mr. Wei Chunxian graduated from the Department of Architecture,
Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture (1t RiEZE
TF2EP) in 1985 and was conferred a Bachelor of Engineering
degree in architecture. Thereafter, Mr. Wei Chunxian obtained the
senior engineer qualification in 1995. Mr. Wei Chunxian has more
than 10 years of management experience in the real estate sector.

Mr. Wei Chunxian is a director of Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited and Beijing Guorui Real Estate Development
Co. Limited* (AL B $HF i EFEHFR A F]), the substantial
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Wei Chunxian is a shareholder of Beijing Guorui Holdings
Company Limited* (1t B 1A% A R A F]) while Mr. Sun Zhongmin
is also the shareholder of that company.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin, aged 56, was appointed as an executive
Director on 17 February 2014.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin has been involved in the real estate sector
since 1992. He has been engaged in preliminary work of real
estate projects and is conversant with the procedures for various
formalities and the relevant requirements. Mr. Sun Zhongmin is
currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (3t

REGERARAR).

Mr. Sun Zhongmin is a director of Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (It REl$iFEHEMRZEHFR A F]), a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin is a shareholder of Beijing Guorui Holdings

Company Limited” (3t R EI$H 12 A% B R 2 7)) while Mr. Wei Chunxian
is also the shareholder of that company.

* The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose only

EEEE

BiITES

BAERE BFRA TN RZT—HF=
AT tHEZEANTEZTREARAER - M
PR -_ZE-—FENF—HEZITARNATITH
BHE - FNEERRRIREZES T - 240
EBEENHERARAAETHBAG ZESE -
ItE S+ 18 77 A GR Properties USA Inc. K East
Pacific Properties LLC (¥ &K R 7] 2 F=E B
UNCIDd =

BAEAREN NN\ DFEXNIEREETIE
SR RSRETIREL8M - HiZ -
RABEERN-—NWNAFESSRIEME
%o RCEBAEHERHERREATFHEE

PRt RABBERRE(FB)ARARK
tRBEHEMERZEARAR (RNAREER
RIZEF-

RAESEERILNEGFERERQFHRER -
MFEFREEBF/EZRAARRE

BRHREE  BFERA TR R-T—HF—
A+ tREZERRITES -

BREEE-NN_FREIEMEE - &
—HEFMERR ZATHTE > ARETF
FENMEBEMRTE - RIPREEREIERBEHIE
BRAERAFES -

BRIAREERIERBEHFEHEREER AR
(RRBEERR)IZES -

BREREERILREHFERERQFHRER -
MR LB R/EZKAAIRRE

Y RXEHRIFETEN  EREF)
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
EEEE

Ms. Li Bing (Former Name: Li Cheng) (“Ms. Li”), aged 51,
was appointed as an executive Director on 28 June 2019. Ms.
Li completed a two-year program in industrial accounting in
Heilongjiang Provincial Industrial Traffic Management Cadre College*
(BREIATIERBEEE®IET) and graduated in 1992 Since
December 2016, Ms. Li has been appointed as the managing
director of Beijing Guorui Hotel Management Co., Ltd.* (1t X[
HOREEIR AR AR (“Guorui Hotel Management”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, overseeing all operational
activities of Guorui Hotel Management and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. Ms. Li has held the positions of vice president (from
December 2016 to present) and marketing director (from August
2004 to December 2016) respectively in Beijing Guorui and her then
responsibilities included supervising sales and customer relations.
Prior to her employment with Beijing Guorui, Ms. Li worked as a
finance manager in a trading company in Beijing for several years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (“Mr. Tung”), aged 52, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 February
2014. He also acts as the chairman of the Company’s audit
committee and a member of each of the Company’s remuneration
committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Tung graduated from York University, Toronto, Canada with
a bachelor’s honours degree in administrative studies. Being an
experienced Hong Kong certified public accountant and a U.S.
certified public accountant (practising), he has gathered many years
of experience in the financial and capital markets. Mr. Tung is the
chief financial officer of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 392), an executive director, the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 371), an independent non-executive director of South China
Financial Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 619), as well as the company
secretary of Biosino Bio-Technology and Science Incorporation (a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8247).

*

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose only
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Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien (“Ms. To”), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 14 February 2018. She also
acts as a member of each of the Company’s audit committee and
remuneration committee.

Ms. To is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA Practicing) and
Certified Tax Adviser (CTA). She has over 30 years of experience
in finance and accounting field and over 20 years of management
experience in information technology audit, computer system,
finance and administration. Ms. To is the owner of a Hong Kong
accounting firm which provides extensive management and
consultancy services of accounting, audit, company secretary and
taxation for the subsidiaries of listed companies from Europe, China,
Southeast Asia and Hong Kong. She is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (“Mr. Leung”), aged 40, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and member
of the audit committee and nomination committee and chairman
of the remuneration committee of the Company on 9 February
2020. Mr. Leung was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Mabpharm Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 2181) on 17 June 2022.
Mr. Leung was the financial controller and company secretary of AL
Group Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
with stock code: 8360) from September 2019 to May 2022. Mr.
Leung was a chief financial officer and company secretary of
Prosperous Future Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Child
Care Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1259) from June 2017 to May
2019 and from January 2018 to May 2019 respectively.

Mr. Leung holds a bachelor degree of Science in Quantitative
Finance from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2004. He
has been a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountant since 2008 and has over 10 years of experience
in accounting and auditing for Hong Kong listed and private
companies.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
EFEE
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g o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERER/RE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board is committed to maintaining and ensuring high standards
of corporate governance practice. The Company stresses the
importance of maintaining the quality of the Board by ensuring that
the Directors possess a wide range of expertise and the effective
implementation of an accountability system, so as to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in
a proper manner. The Company’s corporate governance practices
are based on the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the Board, the Company had complied with all
code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules during the Year except the deviation of code
provision C.2.1 stated in the paragraph headed “Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer” on page 71.

The Company will seek to improve its management and raise its
control level to enhance the Company’s competitiveness and
operating efficiency, to ensure its sustainable development and to
generate greater returns for the Shareholders.

A. BOARD

The primary role of the Board is to maximise long-term
Shareholder’s benefit. It assumes the responsibility for
providing effective and responsible leadership and control of
the Company, and directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs in the pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The executive Directors and the management of the
Company are responsible for the day to day operations
of the Company whereas the independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of
financial and management reporting to the Board and the
Shareholder as well as to provide a balanced composition in
the Board so that there is a strong independent element on
the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

At present, the Board comprises three executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. The
Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Ms. Li Bing

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric

Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out
on pages 65 to 67 of this report. The Board possesses a
balance of skills and experience which are appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. The opinions
raised by the independent non-executive Directors in the
Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices. All independent non-executive
Directors have the appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. A balanced
composition of executive and independent non-executive
Directors also generates a strong independence element on
the Board, which allows independent and objective decision
making process for the best interests of the Company.
The Company will review the composition of the Board
regularly to ensure the Board possesses the appropriate
and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the
developmental needs of the business of the Group.

The letters of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric, Ms. To Tsz
Wan Vivien and Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming, entered with
the Company expired on 16 February 2023, 13 February
2023 and 8 February 2023 respectively and their letters of
appointment had been extended for one year commencing
on 17 February 2023, 14 February 2023 and 9 February
2023 respectively.

The service agreements of the executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wei Chunxian and Mr. Sun Zhongmin, entered with the
Company expired on 16 February 2023 respectively and
both of their service agreements had been extended for one
year commencing on 17 February 2023.

REELAHME
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The service agreement of the executive Director, namely Ms.
Li Bing, entered with the Company expired on 27 June 2022
and had been extended for one year commencing on 28
June 2022.

In compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors, representing half of the Board. Other than their
directorships with the Company, all independent non-
executive Directors are free from any business or other
relationship with the Company. The Company has received
from each independent non-executive Director, who were
in the Board during the Year, an annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company considers the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate policy
and overall strategy for the Group and to provide effective
oversight of the management of the Group’s business and
affairs. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board
also approves the strategic plans, key operational issues,
investments and loans, reviews the financial performance of
the Group and evaluates the performance and compensation
of senior management. These functions are either carried
out directly by the Board or through committees established
by the Board. The Board is also responsible to maintain
effective risk management and internal control systems.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Directors’ Biographies”,
there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among the members of the Board.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year
to approve the annual and interim results, and to review the
business operation and the internal control system of the
Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings
are also held to approve major issues. At least 14 days’
notice of each regular meeting is given to all Directors.
Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent not
less than three days before the date of Board meetings
to ensure that the Directors are given sufficient time to
review the same. Draft minutes of Board meetings and
Board committee meetings are circulated to Directors for
their review and comment. All the said minutes are kept by
the company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any director.
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According to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code,
the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

During the Year, Mr. Wei Chunxian acted as the chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company. Given all
major decisions are reserved to the Board, the Company
considers that there is an adequate balance of power and
authority in place between the Board and the management
of the Company.

The procedures and process of appointment and removal
of directors are laid down in the Company’s Articles of
Association (the “Articles”).

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
have entered into service contracts or letters of appointment
(as the case may be) with the Company for a term of one
year, which is terminable by either party by giving no less
than three months’ or one month notice in advance to each
other (as the case may be), subject to retirement from office
by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 81 of the Articles, at every annual general
meeting one-third of the directors for the time being or,
if their number is not a multiple of three, then the nearest
number to but not less than one-third shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, a retiring director shall
be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Mr. Tung
Woon Cheung Eric and Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The latest version of the board diversity policy was adopted
by the Board and became effective on 1 January 2022 (the
“Board Diversity Policy”). The Board Diversity Policy aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
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When determining the composition of the Board, the
Company will consider board diversity in terms of, among
other things, gender, age, experience, cultural and
educational background, expertise, skills and know-how. All
Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates for Board membership will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, experience, cultural and educational
background, expertise, skills and know-how.

Selection of candidates will be based on the Company’s
nomination policy and will take into account the Board
Diversity Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on
the Board and also the needs of the Board without focusing
on a single diversity aspect.

The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference
to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local
recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of
bringing the Board to gender parity. The Board also aspires
to having an appropriate proportion of directors who have
direct experience in the Group’s core markets, with different
ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting the Group’s strategy.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, the following measurable objectives were adopted:

1. The Company should comply with the requirements
on board composition under the Listing Rules from
time to time.

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors
should be not less than three and one-third of the
Board.

3. At least one of the independent non-executive
Directors must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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4, At least one Director should be the professional or
have intensive experience of the industry in which
the Group operates.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives under
the Board Diversity Policy for the Year.

The Board has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and its
effectiveness for the Year.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) will conduct regular assessment of the gender
diversity profile, including the gender balance at the Board
level and progress towards achieving gender diversity
targets. During the Year, the Board comprises four male
Directors and two female Directors.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy at least on an annual basis, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board
for consideration and approval.

The details of workforce composition were disclosed under
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in this
report.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 170 employees
(within the reporting scope under the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report), approximately 63.5% of whom
were male and approximately 36.5% of whom were female.

The Board regularly assesses the Group’s diversity profile
of all levels of employees and considers the diversity policy
to attract, retain and motivate employees from the widest
possible pool of available talent. The Board considers that
the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group, including the
senior management, is appropriate for the operations of the
Group and will strive to maintain the gender diversity of the
workforce.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises four
male Directors and two female Directors. The Nomination
Committee considered that the Board had achieved gender
diversity and possessed skill and expertise and a diverse
mix appropriate for the business of the Company and will
review the composition and diversity of the Board annually to
ensure its continued effectiveness.

Measures to develop a pipeline of potential successors to
achieve gender diversity:

° The Board will identify potential successors internally,
having regard to the industry expertise, leadership
skills, decision making capabilities, communication
skills and professional qualification of the staff.

° The Board will also consider outside sources such as
head hunter and referral.

The Board is not aware of any factors or circumstances
which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce
(including senior management) of the Group more
challenging or less relevant.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Reading materials on relevant topics have been issued to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses. Newly appointed Director
has received formal and tailored induction and training
on his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
the relevant regulatory requirements.
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According to the records maintained by the Company, the
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed issuer
in compliance with the requirements of the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the Year:
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Attended
seminars/
Read briefings
materials HERTE
Directors BE REM R SENEg
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Wei Chunxian AR E v
Mr. Sun Zhongmin HHRTE 4
Ms. Li Bing ES v
Independent Non-executive Directors B IENITEE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERESEE v
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MRELL v
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming NS S v

During the Year, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.

There were four Board meetings and one general meeting
held during the Year. The attendance of the Directors at the
Board meetings and the general meeting was as follows:
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No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure of
the Directors

EEEgRtE
BITFERY
Board General
meeting(s) meeting(s)
Directors 2= EERER BRAE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Wei Chunxian BiELE 4/4 1/1
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EEFTHAEH)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin HHREAE 4/4 1/1
Ms. Li Bing TEz+ 4/4 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BB ITEE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric Epl g e 4/4 11
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HERELZ+ 4/4 1/1
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming PN 4/4 1/1
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The Board is committed to maintaining and ensuring high
standards of corporate governance practice. The Company
stresses the importance of maintaining the quality of the
Board by ensuring that the Directors possess a wide
range of expertise and the effective implementation of
an accountability system, so as to ensure that business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in a

proper manner.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out
in the CG Code throughout the Year except the deviation
of code provision C.2.1 stated in the paragraph headed

“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” on page 71.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the

Year.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in provision A.2.1 of the CG

Code.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the compliance of the Model Code and the

Company’s compliance with the CG Code.
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The latest version of the nomination policy was adopted by
the Board and became effective on 1 January 2022 (the
“Nomination Policy”).

The Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to
guide the Nomination Committee in relation to the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of the Directors. The
Nomination Policy aims to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by
giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited
to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(@) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to
gender, age, experience, cultural and educational
background, expertise, skills and know-how;

(b) Sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties; the
number of listed and non-listed companies they serve
should be limited to reasonable numbers;

(©) Qualifications, including accomplishment and
experience in the relevant industries the Company’s
business is involved in;

(d) Independence;

(e) Reputation for integrity;

® Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring
to the Board; and

(s); Commitment to enhance and maximize Shareholders’
value.
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The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board
for the appointment of a Director in accordance with the
following procedures and process:

(@) The Nomination Committee will, giving due
consideration to the current composition and size
of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus
the search effort;

(b) The Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertising, recommendations from an independent
agency firm and proposals from Shareholders with
due consideration given to the Criteria;

() The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third-party reference checks;

(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold
a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to,
if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the
Board for appointment;

(e) The Nomination Committee will thereafter make
the recommendation to the Board in relation to
the proposed appointment and the proposed
remuneration package;

) The Board will have the final authority on determining
the selection of nominees and all appointment of
Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the consent
to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any
other similar filings requiring the relevant Director to
acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director,
as the case may be) to be filed with the Companies
Registry of Hong Kong;
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(9 In order to be eligible to be elected as Director
at any general meeting, the candidate should be
recommended by the Board; or a notice in writing
by a member of the Company given his intention to
propose such candidate, and also a notice in writing
by the candidate of his willingness to be elected.
These notices should be given to the company
secretary of the Company within the lodgment period
specified in the relevant Shareholder circular (a) a
written nomination of the candidate, (b) a written
confirmation from such nominated candidate of
his or her willingness to stand for election, and (c)
biographical details of such nominated candidate
as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
Particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent
to all Shareholders for information by a supplementary
circular; and

(h) In the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors
by giving due consideration to the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Director(s)
including the attendance of Board meetings and,
where applicable, general meetings, and the level
of participation and performance on the Board;
and whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to
satisfy the criteria, thereafter recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment. The
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of
the proposed re-election of Director(s) at the general
meeting.

The Nominations Committee should include in its
recommendation to the Board for consideration the
justifications for re-appointing a member who has completed
three consecutive terms of service (each of three years). For
an independent non-executive director who has completed
more than three consecutive terms of service (i.e. nine
years), the recommendation for re-appointment should
state why the Nominations Committee believes he/she is
still independent and should be re-appointed, including the
factors considered, the process and the discussion of the
Nominations Committee in arriving at such determination,
and such Director’s further appointment should be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders.
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Details of the retiring members who are to stand for re-
appointment at an annual general meeting, including their
personal particulars and the Board’s recommendations,
will be included in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders
for consideration in accordance with the applicable Listing
Rules.

The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee will launch a formal process to
review the Nomination Policy periodically to ensure that it
is transparent and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practice. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its directors and
officers.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As part of good corporate governance, the Board has set
up an audit committee, a nomination committee and a
remuneration committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference, which
are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. All the Board committees should report to the
Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

The Board set up the audit committee in July 1999 with
specific written terms of reference (which have been revised
subsequently to cope with changes) (the “Audit Committee”)
which clearly deal with its authority and duties. The Audit
Committee’s role is to review the Group’s financial reporting,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and to
make relevant recommendations to the Board.
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During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
members of the Audit Committee have been and are:

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (Chairman)
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming

The corporate governance functions performed during the
Year included the following:

(@) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and directors; and

(e) to review the issuer’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has

performed the following tasks during the Year:

(i) reviewed the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with the applicable standards;

(ii) reviewed the draft interim and annual financial
statements and the related draft results
announcements;

(iii) reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,

including the key audit matters of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021 which are set out in the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021,
with the external auditor of the Company;
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(iv) reviewed the audit planning for the Year;

) reviewed the change in accounting standards and
assessed the potential impacts on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements with external
auditor of the Company;

(vi) discussed with the management the relevant issues
including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions and ensured
that the management has discharged its duty to
have an effective internal control system including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and
budget;

(vii) reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit
functions of the Group;

(vii)  reviewed the continuing connected transactions
of the Company with the external auditor of the
Company; and

(ix) made recommendation on the appointment or
reappointment of the external auditor and approved
their terms of engagement.

Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted
access to the auditor and all senior management of the
Group. During the Year, the Audit Committee had met twice
with the external auditor of the Company.

The audit committee has reviewed the annual results and
has no dissenting view on the accounting policies of the
companies adopted by the Group and on the Group’s
internal controls and risk management, accounting and
financial reporting functions.

All members of the Audit Committee possess in-depth
experience in their profession. All of them possess
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Year
under review and the attendance of its members was as
follows:

REELAHME

REBEFERNERITMAEZEZESS
& o AR EMHEERET

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors

EETHREES
Directors 2= BITFBERH
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (Chairman) &3 504 (/) 2/2
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien Ti‘%‘ii'éﬁi 2/2
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming JEIS ST 2/2

The Board set up the Nomination Committee in March
2007 with specific written terms of reference (which have
been revised subsequently to cope with changes) which
clearly deal with its authority and duties. The Nomination
Committee’s roles are principally to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and make recommendations to the Board
in this regard; and assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

In compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules, the
Nomination Committee is chaired by the chairman of the
Board and comprises a majority of independent non-
executive Directors.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
members of the Nomination Committee have been and are:

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming
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The work performed by the Nomination Committee during
the Year included the following:

(i) to review the structure, size and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services)
of the Board and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) to assess on the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and

(iii) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors and to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
Year under review and the attendance of its members was as
follows:

RAFE REZBEEMETZIER
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AHZIBN FEMITES 2B
K
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EXECIFINEERRENE
& UMEeAEHEaEERAEL
EERMBEZAL -

REBFERRRT—IRELZEES
& o EREMHEBRIT

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors

EEFHREE
Members of Nomination Committee EHZZE5E€HKE BTERREY
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) BaEREE(EE) 11
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERELsE 11
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming PSS 11
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The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in May
2005 with specific written terms of reference (which have
been revised subsequently to cope with changes) (the
“Remuneration Committee”) which clearly deals with its
authority and duties. The Remuneration Committee’s role is
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management
and to ensure that they are fairly rewarded for their individual
contribution to the Group’s overall performance, having
regard to the interests of the Shareholders. The principal
duties of the Remuneration Committee include determining
the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors
and senior management with reference to corporate goals
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time. No
Director or any of his/her associates may be involved in any
decisions as to his/her own remuneration.

In accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, the
Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and comprising a majority of independent
non-executive Directors.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the members
of the Remuneration Committee have been and are:

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during
the Year included the following:

(i) determined the remuneration policy of the executive
Directors;
(i assessed the performance of the executive Directors;

(iii) approved the term of the executive Directors’ service
contracts;

(iv) reviewed and/or approved matters relating to the
share option scheme of the Company;

(V) reviewed and recommended the remuneration
package of the independent non-executive Directors;
and

(vi) reviewed and recommended the remuneration
package for the executive Directors and management
of the Company.

During the Year, there was no material matters relating to the
share option scheme of the Company which required review
or approval by the Remuneration Committee.
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CONTROL

The Board is responsible to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control systems, in order to
safeguard the interest of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. However, the risk management and internal
control systems were designed to manage rather than
eliminate all risks exposure of the Group. It does not provide
an absolute shield against inherent limitations such as
unpredictable risks, uncontrollable events such as natural
catastrophes, fraud, and errors of judgement, but it may
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatements or losses.

The Company established an Enterprise Risk Management
framework in order to implement effective risk management.
Our risk management structure is simple and clear, which
has categorical duties.
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EREME
The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the REEFERNGRIT—ATHNEESSY
Year under review and the attendance of its members was as F o HKEMNEEBRET :
follows:
No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors
Members of EETHREE
Remuneration Committee FHEEERE BITGERE
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (Chairman) — 2824 (/%) 11
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERAESE 11
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEELL 1/1
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION C. REREREBZRE
AND REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing EEHARSEEERBEAMNETERE
the accounts which were prepared in accordance e EARRRE - ZHMGLEZ®
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting BEAMBHZBAHNAREFE134EH
standards. A statement by the auditor about their reporting E--RVEN=
responsibilities is set out on pages 134 to 141 of this report.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties EEW TN NBABEMEEHIERZE
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant R A R AR REE AN A RIRIFEK
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going EEEG RS N NI ERRERM -
concern.
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL D. RISEERMNIBER
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Board of Directors

The Board plays an important role in the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Board is
responsible for establishing the risk management framework
and risk management policies, and the relevant policies
are aiming to assess and determine the Group’s business
strategies and defining the risk tolerance. The Board,
with assistance from the Audit Committee, monitors risk
management and internal control systems in an on-going
manner and reviews, at least annually, the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

Audit Committee

Audit Committee stands at the highest level of the risk
management and internal control systems below the Board.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems by
providing advice and support in respect of all risk matters,
including on-going monitoring of the implementation of
risk management procedures, reviewing the Group’s risk
register, reviewing and approving the internal control review
plans and results.

Management

The management of the Group is responsible for identifying
and continuously monitoring strategic, operational, financial,
reporting and compliance risks associated with the daily
operations of the Group. The management reports to the
Board and Audit Committee on the relevant risks and their
changes. The management also formulates various internal
control measures to mitigate the risks, and rectifies internal
control deficiencies they identified in a timely manner.

Independent Professional Internal Control Advisor

To ensure the independence of the internal control review,
the Group has outsourced the internal audit function to an
independent professional internal control advisor (the “Internal
Control Advisor”), whose work scope includes reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management procedures
and effectiveness of the internal control systems. The Internal
Control Advisor formulates the internal control review plan
based on risk assessment and gets approval from Audit
Committee, and will communicate with the Audit Committee
about the review results directly.
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The Group has established the Enterprise Risk Management
framework so as to effectively manage all kinds of risks faced
by the Group. The Enterprise Risk Management framework
defined the procedures for identifying, assessing, responding
to and monitoring risks and their changes. Through
regular discussion with each operating function, the Group
strengthened the understanding of risk management so that
all employees will understand and report the risks timely
which enhanced the Group’s ability to identify and manage
risks.

REBEY TEERBEBIERNEX
HMERAEBAEEHSERR - %
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Define risk Identify Assess the
scope — potential risks —_— extent of risks
&1L JE B & [E BB R AHEERERIZE

"\

e

Formulate
responding measures

T FE SRR 15 1

Monitoring and
report changes

BERERE(

In the course of risk identification, the management liaises
with each operating function, collect significant risk factors
that affect the Group from the bottom to the top, in various
aspects including strategic, operational, financial, reporting
and complying aspects. After establishing risk assessment
scope, the management will assess the potential impact
and possibilities of the risks and prioritise the risks, and
appropriate internal control measures will then be developed
to mitigate the risks identified and monitor the changes of
risks in an on-going manner.

Maintain an effective internal control system

(operational level)

° Establish clear internal control policies and
procedures, clearly define the responsibilities,
authorities and accountabilities of each key position;

° Establish code of conduct, convey to all employee
the Group’s requirements on integrity and ethic;
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° Establish whistle blowing mechanism, encourage
employees to report incidents of misconduct or fraud;

° Establish appropriate level of information technology
assess rights, avoid leakage of price sensitive
information;

o Establish inside information disclosure policy,

including reporting channels and responsible person
of disclosure, unified response to external enquiries
and obtain advice from professional financial advisors
or the Stock Exchange, if necessary.

o Establish policies and systems to promote and
support anti-corruption laws and regulations.

In 2022, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control policies and procedures of the Group,
including those related to financial reporting and Listing
Rules compliance and the management also conveyed
confirmation of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems to the Board and the Audit
Committee. The Board has considered the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions during the evaluation of the
review of risk management and internal control systems.

On-going risk monitoring (risk management level)
Based on the risk management framework and risk
management policies established by the Board, the
management communicates with each operating function
in order to understand the significant risk factors that affect
the Group from the bottom to the top. The Group has
established a risk register to record the risks identified and
the management will assess the potential impact of each
major risk and develop relevant internal control measures.

In 2022, the management conducted evaluation of the risk
management structure and procedures of the Group and
submitted a risk assessment report to the Board and Audit
Committee, including a 3-years internal control review plan,
to enable the Board and Audit Committee to effectively
monitor the major business risks of the Group and know
about how the management should respond to and mitigate
such risks.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

We established appropriate level of information technology
assess rights, avoiding leakage of price sensitive information.
We also establish inside information disclosure policy,
including reporting channels and responsible person of
disclosure, unified response to external enquiries and obtain
advice from professional financial advisors or the Stock
Exchange, if necessary, in order to ensure compliance
with the Listing Rule requirements regarding handling and
dissemination of inside information.

Independent review

The Group has engaged an external Internal Control Advisor
to conduct an internal control review on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and to submit the internal review report to the Audit
Committee.

The Internal Control Advisor has completed the internal
control review work during the Year. The review covered
transactions incurred by the Group during the period from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022, and the scope of
the review included the effectiveness of the internal control
measures at the corporate level and operational level. The
Internal Control Advisor has reported the results of the
internal control review work to the Audit Committee.

The management has established remediation and
improvement plan for internal control weaknesses identified.
Nothing has come to the Audit Committee’s or Board’s
attention that the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are inadequate or ineffective.
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The following are the principal risks and uncertainties faced

by the Group and their changes during the Year:

Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B b TERRERER 25
Economic  Affected by economic downturn, the number of - Regularly analyse overall Decreasing
downturn people who are able to purchase or rent property economic changes, adjust B
T decreased. We may need to lower the selling business strategies, and
price or rental rate of our properties or may even communicate promptly with
not be able to sell or lease them. We might also managers in business areas
be unable to increase our property management/ through video conferencing
other additional service fees due to the overall to implement recommended
worsen economic conditions. improvements.
RICE TR E - Bae NBERAENENA - THOMEBLCEES  #/EX
B BASFETAYRNEENES  EE BEE  UBBREGESRIRE
BRI E S o TRAT B AR B AT A 1 B DA EEBREEEABBREER
REVMEERE /HaBINRBHNER - BTk
- Conduct due diligence and
understand local economy and
property market outlook before
acquisition of new property
investment projects.
- WSRO YR EEBRETSR
BT - THREMSERDED
GRS ©
Human Insufficient staff or incompetency of our staff - Be close to the market pay No change
Resources  might affect our ability to provide quality service dynamics, control staff turnover &L,
ADER to meet our customers’ demands. In addition, rate.

labour costs in mainland China are expected to
increase which might also decrease our profits or
competitiveness.
BETABTRIENTRAEZERMRMES
FRISAR R E PR REREN o BN - hBIAREER
S8 R TRERSE AN AT AL & HII S5 B PR B0 IS
HFHEFEN ©

ERFMTIHERE - EHIRKE o

Recruitment planning every year,
timely replace departed staff.
BRETHRERE REBHRR
KAF

Provide adequate training for staff
to improve staff service standards.
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FRAGCE -
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
e biRud TERERERER 28
Brand Name If we fail to maintain our service level in customer - Regular self-review to maintain Decreasing
HiE service, engineering, cleaning or security, and enhance the quality of service J& 4
customers may lose confidence which will have and engineering.
a negative impact on our Company’s reputation - FHIETTIRBE SFAZALEE K&
and image. RARBMIIZESKF
SEEREEFREKT  EEPRE - Ti2E
5 FRSRTIEREREAME  F#8F% - Investigate customers’ level of
EER - HATBRBRIKENBAEENY satisfaction, monitor the latest
o ratings for each project, follow up
timely on customers’ complaints.
- HERPWER  BEXRERHEBAN
B REREFPEIEE
HEITIRE -
- Provide regular training for staff
to ensure that employees have
sufficient capacity to deal with
problems.
- THEIEI mREIBRHA
aﬁﬂfﬁf@ﬁﬁi °
Outsourcing  Failure by service providers and contractors to - Conduct strict assessment and No change
oM progress projects to their completion on time follow due tender procedures L

and on the unsatisfactory quality of the work may
incur extra cost to the Group in order to complete
the work.

FRAG e AR A R ST T AT

{EmERINIRAS - AIae e BR P HBMRKH

MERE - XL BHMIFEBE MBI ATKE

I
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in selecting outsourcing service
providers.

TR MO IR (L e R AT TR
ERRHE MR

Our project manager and legal
staff would review the terms of an
outsourcing agreement to ensure
the duty and responsibility of each
party therein are clearly defined
and stated.
HEKBNEBABREEINEE
UK » HERE 7 & 1630
B -

Evaluate and update performance
of outsourcing service providers
on regular basis to ensure their
service standards meet the
Group’s requirements.
THIEI M RS HER R
RERBKTERERBEL -
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RREBHE
Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
[ B ik TEERERER 25
Natural Inappropriate handling of emergency situations - Put in place various contingency ~ No change
disasters triggered by natural disasters (e.qg. fire, electric plans and strategies and have 30
BARAKE shock, traffic accident etc.) or epidemic outbreaks designated persons-in-charge
may lead to substantial/numerous claims and to deal with specific risks, and
liabilities against the Group and damage our conduct of regular disaster
reputation, in addition to human casualties and prevention drills.
direct losses on assets. - HEREBEERIEEHTREREE
AEETERBRINERE B AXF(HIIA AN EREHBEA - WEHME
K BE - RBEINEF)IELRREEEN B ISR -
ATRESIBA RS T REEEERKIN - TS
REFEH AR SERE  EREE  URB - Periodic checks on equipment
ZEEgEE . for emergency and regular
inspections would be conducted
so that any source of severe
hazards could be identified as
early as possible.
- TEHmERIGERE - AETH
BUE - RPEREAERIR
- Maintain third party liability
insurance to diversify our risk
exposure and review the scope
and amount insured regularly.
- BEF=EFEERBUSEE
B E BRI S ERRE
Occupational Failure by the Group to put in place appropriate —  Put in place various work safety ~ No change
healthand  emergency equipment, formulate and oversee procedures, strictly observe 3
safety the implementation of various safety procedures and implement precautionary
RS2  that result in injuries of our employees in work measures for all duties and
zF may incur liability to the Group against any procedures that are hazardous in

compensation, bring adverse effect to our
reputation and cause an outflow of talents.
SEERERESENERE  HITTEERE
ZERFHHT  SIBEIEIERRE &8
AESZALREST HATMNEEERAT
& AREIRATRE

nature. Designated persons would
be appointed to oversee the
implementation of such measures.
HIERETIERT - BEHITS
BEA RIS TEREGE AN
Prsgtait - WIRREBEABRE
HITHER -

Provide training on safety and
raise the awareness of our
employees on occupational
safety.

RHEZ 2 - BRETHEE
REHER

Conduct regular inspection on
safety equipment to ensure they
are in good working conditions.
THRERERE - HRREE
fEIEE o
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B i TERERERER 28
Interest rate The Group holds borrowings on floating interest. - Closely monitor the interest rate,  No change
R=& This may increase the borrowing cost and have and report to the management mEL
an effect on profits due to the increase in interest timely on the interest rate
rates. changes.
SERENFBMESTENER I ERM - EYEEMNERR  RERAER
E LFAHEMEMEERA - HEFE - BEMSH TR -
- Formulate policy and take
measures to reduce interest rate
risk.
- HIE R KR HE R R
Foreign The Group holds assets and liabilities — Actively monitor the fluctuationin -~ No change
exchange denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, foreign exchange rates, consider £,
rate US dollars and GBP. Foreign exchange rate all necessary actions (such as
fE & fluctuations may bring exchange losses to the reduce loan/investment, hedging).
Company. - BEEREXRER - UERRR
SERENBT AR®  ETREFEHEZE —IBETE (WRPEE &
EREE - INEEXRBHE RARAHERERL & ZEENE) o
‘K-
- Perform sensitivity analysis to
quantify currency exposure.
- ETRRESN  2EER
e o
Relevant Changes in policies, laws and regulations on real —  Actively monitor changes of laws ~ No change
politics, estate might increase our operating expenses. and regulations associated with &4t
policies and  If we breach relevant regulatory and governing the business of the Group.
regulations  requirements, such as lack of ability to adjust - BEREREAEEEKBENE
on real estate the operational procedures timely, the Group EERE
AE#EME may incur losses due to penalty, suspension or
g9FERAEL interruption of operation. - Consult legal staff or legal
A BORER  BEHCGK - ARREEEREEgeENEEE advisors to ensure the Group’s
R EBHY - AREERBEEAREEER(RE compliance with policy, regulatory

FRGER BB EERFEZ)NARESAE

ERXER Ry EmSIBURX -
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and governing requirements.
A A BSOETS B R R R A
SEREHE  ZHRKEEE
j\z o
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company, Ms. Lam Yuen
Ling Eva, is delegated by an external service provider.
The external service provider’'s primary contact person at
the Company is Ms. Lee Sum Yee, a director of human
resources and administration of the Company.

During the Year, the company secretary of the Company has
taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditor is Ernst & Young. The
remuneration paid/payable to Ernst & Young in respect
of audit services and permissible non-audit services for
the Year amounted to approximately HK$2,180,000 and
HK$493,000 respectively. The permissible non-audit services
of HK$493,000 comprised (i) agree-upon procedures on
interim financial information of approximately HK$400,000;
and (i) other non-audit and tax services of approximately
HK$93,000.

SHAREHOLDER'’S RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, a general meeting of
the Company can be convened by a written request signed
by Shareholders holding at least 5% of the total rights of
all the Shareholders having a right to vote at that meeting,
stating the nature of the business to be dealt with at that
meeting, and deposited at the Company’s registered office.
Directors must call a general meeting within 21 days after the
date on which they become subject to the requirement and
the meeting so called must be held on a date not more than
28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

The rights of Shareholders and the procedures for
demanding a poll on resolutions at Shareholders’
meetings are contained in the Company’s constitutional
documents. Details of such rights to demand a poll and
the poll procedures are included in all related circulars to
Shareholders and will be explained during the proceedings
of meetings.
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Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange on the same day of the
Shareholders’ meeting.

The general meeting of the Company provides a forum
for communication between the Shareholders and the
Board. The Chairman, as well as the chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee or in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, generally will attend the annual
general meeting and other relevant Shareholders’ meetings
to answer Shareholders’ queries at the meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at Shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including election of
individual directors.

Shareholder(s) representing at least (a) 2.5% of the total
voting rights of all the Shareholders having the relevant
right to vote at the meeting; or (b) 50 Shareholders having
the relevant right to vote at the meeting, have the following
rights:

(1) such Shareholder(s) may, when an annual general
meeting is to be held, request the Company to
give, to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of an
annual general meeting, notice of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at that annual general meeting; and

2) if such Shareholder(s) would like to express their
views to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution
or other business to be dealt with at a general
meeting, they can submit a written statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to that matter or
business and request the Company to circulate their
written statement to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the meeting.

For further details on the procedures and timeline in
connection with the above, Shareholders are kindly
requested to refer to Sections 580 and 615 of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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A Shareholder may propose a person (other than a retiring
Director) for election as a Director at a general meeting.
For such purpose, the Shareholder must deposit a written
notice at the Company’s registered office which identifies
the candidate and includes the signature of that candidate
confirming his/her willingness to be so elected and consent
of publication of his/her personal information. Such notice
must be lodged within the period commencing on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available on the website of the
Company (www.grproperties.com.hk).

The Company continues to enhance communication and
relations with its investors. Shareholders may send enquiries
in writing to the Company Secretary of the address of the
registered office of the Company set out in the section
headed “Corporate Information” in this report for such
enquiries and questions to be forwarded to the Board.
Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an informative and
timely manner.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION
POLICY

The shareholders’ communication policy was adopted by
the Board and became effective on 1 January 2022 (the
“Shareholders’” Communication Policy”).

The aim of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy is to
provide Shareholders with information about the Company
to enable them to engage actively with the Company and
exercise their rights as Shareholders in an informed manner.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-
going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular
for communicating with them and encouraging their
participation, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings, financial reports and other publications
and communications of the Company.

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of
the Company are primary forum for communication between
the Company and its Shareholders.
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The Company shall provide Shareholders with relevant
information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The information provided shall be reasonably
necessary to enable Shareholders to make an informed
decision on the proposed resolution(s).

The Company encourages Shareholders to attend and
participate in Shareholder’s meetings physically and in
the case of hybrid Shareholder’s meetings, physically and
online through designated platforms. Shareholders may also
appoint proxies to attend and vote at such meetings for and
on their behalf if they are unable to attend.

Where appropriate or required, the chairman of the
Board and other Board members, the chairmen of board
committees or their delegates, and the external auditors
should attend general meetings of the Company to answer
Shareholders’ questions (if any).

The chairman of the independent board committee (if any)
should also be available to answer questions at any general
meeting to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities, including but not limited to the following
documents of the Company: (a) the directors’ report, annual
accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s report and,
where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the interim
report and, where applicable, its summary interim report; (c)
a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document; (e) a circular; and
(f) a proxy form.

The corporate communication of the Company will
be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk) in a timely manner as required by the
Listing Rules.

Corporate communication will be provided to Shareholders
and non-registered holders of the Company’s securities in
both English and Chinese versions or where permitted, in a
single language, in a timely manner as required by the Listing
Rules.
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Shareholders and non-registered securities holders of the
Company should have the right to choose the language
version of corporate communications (Chinese version
or English version) or means of receipt of the corporate
communications (in hard copy or through electronic means).

The Company shall publish announcements (on price
sensitive information, corporate actions and transactions
etc.) and other documents (e.g., memorandum and articles
of association) on the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The website of the Company (www.grproperties.com.hk)
provides information on the Company, including
communication to Shareholders. In addition, financial and
other reports as well as announcements are available on the
Company’s website.

Corporate communications are posted on the Company’s
website as soon as practicable following their publication on
the website of Stock Exchange.

A dedicated corporate governance section is available on
the Company’s website. The corporate governance report
and the corporate governance policies and practices are
available and updated on a regular basis.

A wide range of Shareholder information is also available on
the Company’s website including financial highlights, share
price, financial calendar, press releases, presentations,
recordings of past webcasts as well as links that direct
Shareholders to the webpage containing the information of
other listed group companies.
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Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings and to the office to the Board in writing at the
Company’s registered office or by email as below:

Address: Unit 3505, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
No. 89 Queensway, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the company secretary of
the Company)

Email: info@grproperties.com.hk

Shareholders and the investment community may at any
time make a request for the Company’s information to the
extent such information is of public domain.

The Company recognises that the protection of personal
data is fundamental to preserving the trust of Shareholders.
The Company is committed to safeguarding and protecting
the personal data of the Shareholders in compliance with
applicable data protection laws. Unless required to do so by
law, the Company will not disclose Shareholders’ information
without their consent.

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy and its effectiveness for the Year. Taking into account
the various existing channels for communication and
participation, the Company is of the view that the existing
Shareholders’ Communication Policy is appropriate to the
Company and has been duly and effectively implemented.
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INDEPENDENT VIEWS MECHANISM

The independent views mechanism was adopted by the
Board on 1 January 2022 (the “Mechanism”).

An independent non-executive Director shall comply with the
“Chapter 3 — Authorized Representatives, Directors, Board
Committees” of the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time. This includes that he/she must, in the performance of
his duties as a director:

(@) act honestly and in good faith in the interests of the
company as a whole;

(b) act for proper purpose;

(©) be answerable to the company for the application or
misapplication of its assets;

(d) avoid actual and potential conflicts of interest and
duty;

(e) disclose fully and fairly his interests in contracts with
the company; and

® apply such degree of skill, care and diligence as may
reasonably be expected of a person of his knowledge
and experience and holding his office within the
company.

The independence of an independent non-executive Director
will be subject to questioning if he/she does not comply to
the Listing Rules 3.13, as amended from time to time, or
he/she falls into at least one of the following circumstances:

(@) holds more than 1% of the total issued share capital
of the listed company;

(b) has received an interest in any securities of the listed
company as a gift, or by means of other financial
assistance, from a core connected person or the
listed company itself;
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is/was a director, partner or principal of a professional
adviser which currently provides or has within
two years immediately prior to the date of his/her
proposed appointment provided services, or is an
employee of such professional adviser who is or has
been involved in providing such services during the
same period, to:

(i) the listed company, its holding company or
any of their respective subsidiaries or core
connected persons; or

(ii) any person who was a controlling
shareholder or, where there was no
controlling shareholder, any person who was
the chairman or a director (other than an
independent non-executive director), of the
listed company within two years immediately
prior to the date of the proposed appointment,
or any of their close associates;

currently, or within one year immediately prior to the
date of the person's proposed appointment, has
or had a material interest in any principal business
activity of or is or was involved in any material
business dealings with the listed company, its holding
company or their respective subsidiaries or with any
core connected persons of the listed company;

is on the board specifically to protect the interests of
an entity whose interests are not the same as those
of the Shareholders as a whole;

is or was connected with a director, the chief
executive or a substantial shareholder of the listed
company within two years immediately prior to the
date of his/her proposed appointment;

is, or has at any time during the two years
immediately prior to the date of his/her proposed
appointment been, an executive or director (other
than an independent non-executive director) of the
listed company, of its holding company or of any of
their respective subsidiaries or of any core connected
persons of the listed company; and
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(h) is financially dependent on the listed company,
its holding company or any of their respective
subsidiaries or core connected persons of the listed
company.

() Years of working experience: 8 and above
(b) Education degree: Undergrad and above

(©) Possess professional qualification or strong industry
knowledge

(d) Current employment(s)/Job position(s)

(e) If the candidate or his/her family members has any
relationship with the Directors and employees

® If the candidate or his/her family members has any
financial interest, business engagement or other
activities with the Directors or employees within/
outside of the Group’s business

(¢)} Any previous or potential independent non-executive
Director position

(h) No criminal record in any country

The Board has reviewed the Mechanism and its effectiveness
for the Year and is of the view that the Mechanism is
sufficient and has been duly and effectively implemented.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”)
was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
January 2019.

The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Board endeavors
to strike a balance between the Shareholders’ interests and
prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend

policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREB®RE

The declaration and recommendation of dividends is subject
to the decision of the Board after considering the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among

other things:
° the Group’s financial results;
° the Group’s cash flow, liquidity and capital

requirements;

o the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

° the Group’s shareholders’ interests;

° the Group’s current and future business operations,

conditions, cycle and strategies;

° the general market conditions;

° the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;
° past dividend record; and
° any other factors the Board may deem relevant.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend and the form of payment, subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Articles. Any final dividends declared by the Company must
be approved by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at
an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The Board may also consider
declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition to
the interim and/or final dividends. There is no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given
period.

The Company shall review and reassess the Dividend Policy
and its effectiveness from time to time. Any revisions to the
Dividend Policy shall be considered and approved by the
Board.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the Year, the Company had not amended its
constitutional document.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFRNEE

The Board hereby present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in the property development and
investments in the PRC, the USA and the UK, and the provision of
property management services in Beijing and Hebei Province, the
PRC. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal business activities are exposed to a variety
of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk,
operational risk and market risk.

The Group’s business and profitability growth during the Year
is affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-economic
conditions in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK. The
divergence of monetary policies in major advanced economies of
global nations is expected to continue to contribute partly to the
volatility of fund and trade flows and that of asset prices in Hong
Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK.

In particular, the potential impact on economic activities and
real estate prices is also affected by political and economic
developments in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK. The
long term business and profitability growth of the Group is expected
to continue to be affected by the changes in macro-economic
variables, including unemployment rates, real gross domestic
product growth, consumer and asset price indexes and credit
demand, and also qualitative factors such as political and economic
policy developments of Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The Group’s profit for the Year and the Group’s financial position
as at 31 December 2022 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 142 to 150.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
Year (2021: Nil). No interim dividend was declared for the Year (2021:
Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the Year has been stated in
Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 6 and Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 7 to 15.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group are set
out in Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 16 to
64.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

An account of the key relationships of the Group with its employees,
customers and suppliers is contained in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report on pages 16 to 64.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and equity
of the Group for the last five financial years/period, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements for the Year and
the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out on page 279. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance. The Group has been
allocating system and staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance
with rules and regulations and to maintain strong working
relationships with regulators through effective communications.
During the Year, the Board is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERHREE

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the Year
are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 17 August 2018, the Company completed the first completion
with the acquisition of 95% of the share capital of Wise Expert
Investment Limited, at a consideration of HK$1,464,254,000,
from Winluck Global Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei
Chunxian) and Silky Apex Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr.
Sun Zhongmin). The consideration was paid as to HK$361,260,800
by the allotment and issue of 451,576,000 consideration shares
at the issue price of HK$0.80 per consideration share and the
remaining HK$1,102,993,200 by the issue of convertible bonds
in the principal amount of HK$1,102,993,200 convertible into
1,378,741,500 shares at the initial conversion price of HK$0.80
per convertible share. By way of a summary, the conversion rights
underlying the convertible bonds may be exercised provided that
any such conversion (i) does not trigger general offer obligations
under the Takeovers Code on the part of the bondholder or parties
acting in concert with it; (i) does not result in the public float of
the shares of the Company being less than 25% or such other
percentages as the Listing Rules may prescribe, and that the
relevant bondholder complies with the procedures set out in the
conditions to the convertible bonds. Based on the market price of
the Company’s shares of HK$0.82 as at 17 August 2018, the share
capital of the Company was increased by HK$370,292,320 as a
result of the issuance of 451,576,000 consideration shares.

For the details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 May 2018 and 17 August 2018 and the circular of the
Company dated 20 July 2018.

On 3 September 2018, the Company allotted and issued 7,500,000
new shares pursuant to the exercise of the conversion rights
attached to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 at the issue price of HK$0.80 per share. Based
on the market price of the Company’s shares of HK$0.80 as at 3
September 2018, the share capital of the Company was increased
by HK$6,000,000 as a result of the issuance of 7,500,000 new
shares.
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For the details, please refer to the next day disclosure return of the
Company dated 3 September 2018.

On 7 May 2019, the Company allotted and issued 7,500,000
new ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 at the issue price of HK$0.80 per share. Based on
the closing market price of the Company’s shares of HK$1.41 as
at 6 May 2019, the share capital of the Company was increased
by HK$6,000,000 as a result of the issuance of 7,500,000 new
ordinary shares.

For the details, please refer to the next day disclosure return of the
Company dated 7 May 2019.

On 31 December 2021, the Company completed the second
completion with the acquisition of the remaining 5% of the share
capital of Wise Expert Investment Limited. The Company has issued
the second tranche convertible bonds with principal amount of
HK$70,130,060 to Wintime Company Limited (being the designated
nominee of Winluck Global Limited) and HK$6,935,940 to Mr. Sun
Zhongmin (being the designated nominee of Silky Apex Limited).

For the details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 May 2018, 17 August 2021 and 31 December 2021 and
the circular of the Company dated 20 July 2018.

After the exercise of conversion rights of the convertible bonds
on 3 September 2018 and 7 May 2019, the remaining principal
amount of convertible bonds is HK$1,168,059,200, a maximum
of 1,460,074,000 new ordinary shares will be issued upon
full conversion of the convertible bonds. Upon full exercise of
the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds, the
shareholdings of Mr. Wei Chunxian, the substantial shareholder
of the Company, will be changed from approximately 70.21% to
77.02% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as
enlarged by the issue of the shares of the Company upon the full
conversion of all the convertible bonds.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERHEE

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “SHARE OPTIONS” and
“SHARE CAPITAL” of this report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Company during the Year.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no reserve available for cash distribution/or
distribution in specie as at 31 December 2022 in accordance with
the provisions of section 291, 297 and 299 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity of the Group on pages 147 to 148 of this report
and in notes 36 and 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, less than 20%
of the Group’s revenue was attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers, and less than 20% of the Group’s purchases were
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the Year, the Group has related party transactions with
related companies (as disclosed in the note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements), including Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (Jt R EEFRZE AR A F]) and
bR BEE 2 AR A 7, which are controlled by Mr. Wei Chunxian
and Mr. Sun Zhongmin, the executive Directors. These related
companies are top 5 customers of the Group.

Except as disclosed per above, none of the Directors, or any of their
close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s top five customers
and suppliers.

* For identification purpose only
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
did not make any charitable donations.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Ms. Li Bing

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric

Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming

In accordance with Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Mr. Tung
Woon Cheung Eric and Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming will retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The Company has received written annual confirmations of
independence from all independent non-executive Directors
and as at the date of this report all of them are considered to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 65 to
67 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group as well as the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERHREE

Further details of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the
corporate governance report on pages 85 to 86 of this report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Other than the directors named under the paragraph headed
“DIRECTORS” above, no other person who have served on the
boards of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2022
and up to the date of this report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy was adopted by the Board and became
effective on 1 January 2022 (the “Remuneration Policy”).

The Remuneration Policy aims to set out the approach to guide
the Remuneration Committee in relation to the setting up the
remuneration package of the Directors.

The Remuneration Committee will recommend to the Board for the
remuneration package of a Director in accordance with the following
procedures and process:

1. To make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

2. Having regards to salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment, responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere, to review the competitiveness of the
Company’s executive and management compensation
programs to ensure that:

(a) the Company is able to attract and retain suitable &
qualified executives;

(b) executives are motivated to achieve the Company’s
business objectives; and

(c) the interests of key employees are aligned with the
long-term interests of the Shareholders;
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To review trends in compensation, oversee the development
of new compensation plans and, when necessary, make
recommendations to the Board on the revision of existing
plans for:

() non-executive Directors;
(b) individual executive Directors; and
(©) senior management.

Any remuneration packages include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments for loss or termination of
their offices or appointments (Competitive packages needed
to attract, retain and motivate executive Directors and senior
management of the quality required in line with market
practices);

The Company generally should not grant equity-
based remuneration (e.g. share options or grants) with
performance-related elements to independent non-executive
Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making
and compromise their objectivity and independence;

To review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

To review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

To ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERHREE

10.

11.

To assist the chief executive officer in the review of the
performance and remuneration of the executive management
team. In making any assessments, the Remuneration
Committee will consider:

(@ the Company’s performance and relative Shareholder
return;

(b) the compensation of chief executive officers at
comparable companies;

(@) the rewards given to the chief executive officer in past
years; and

(d) other factors as the Remuneration Committee
considers relevant;

To review and recommend to the Board the compensation
of all those corporate officers who are elected by the
Shareholders at appropriate time periods. The Remuneration
Committee will make recommendations to the Board as to
incentive compensation plans and equity-based plans;

To ensure that the performance-related elements of
remuneration from a significant proportion of the total
remuneration package of executive Directors and senior
management and are designed to align their interests with
those of the Shareholders and to give the Directors and
senior management incentives to perform at highest levels;

To review and recommend to the Board policies relating
to employment agreements, severance arrangements,
retirement arrangements, and any special or supplemental
benefits which may be adopted by the Company. For
the avoidance of doubt, compensation arrangements for
employees of the Company who are not members of the
Board or the chief executive officer, are the responsibility of
the chief executive officer subject to the adherence to the
broad policies adopted by the Remuneration Committee and
the Board;

To review and make recommendations as to long-term
incentive compensation plans — including the use of share
options and other equity-based plans are in accordance
with the Listing Rules or the employees’ incentive schemes
are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, as
applicable;
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12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

To operate the Company’s share option scheme or other
incentive scheme as they apply to, and recommend to
the general meeting(s) of Shareholders, grants of options
to be made to Directors and senior management. It shall
recommend to the Board the total aggregate amount of any
grants to employees (with the specific grants to individuals to
be at the discretion of the Board) and make amendments to
the terms of such schemes (subject to the provisions of the
schemes relating to amendment);

To liaise with the trustee of any employee share incentive
scheme which is created by the Company for the benefit of
employees, senior management or Directors;

To review the terms of executive Directors’ and senior
managements’ appointment letters from time to time;

To advise the Board in relation to the preparation of the
Board’s remuneration report (if any) to the Shareholders;

To have the authority to retain and terminate any
compensation consultant to be used to help evaluate
the compensation of Directors, the chief executive officer
and/or senior executives. The Remuneration Committee will
also have authority to obtain advice and assistance from
internal or external legal, accounting or other advisers;

To periodically review and reassess the adequacy of the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and
the Remuneration Policy and to recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval;

To be sensitive to market practice, including pay and
employment conditions within the Group and elsewhere in
the industry in which the Group operates, especially when
determining annual salary increase;

To advise Shareholders on how to vote in respect of any
service contracts of Directors that require Shareholders’
approval in accordance with the Listing Rules;

To periodically review and reassess the adequacy of the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and to
recommend any proposed changes in circumstances and
changes in regulatory requirements, including those under
the Listing Rules to the Board for approval; and
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21. To take up any other duties and responsibilities referred by
the Board.

The Remuneration Committee will assess and report annually,
for the remuneration of the Board, and launch a formal process
to monitor the implementation of the Remuneration Policy as
appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee will launch a formal process to review
the Remuneration Policy periodically to ensure that it is transparent
and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects the
current regulatory requirements and good corporate governance
practice. The Remuneration Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 137 of the Articles provides that every director, executive
director, manager, secretary, officer and auditor of the Company
shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against
all liabilities incurred by him as such director, executive director,
manager, secretary, officer and auditor in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, to the extent permitted by the
Companies Ordinance. The Company has also maintained directors
and officers liability insurance during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company
has not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body
corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part
of any business of the Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
AND CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and significant
related party transactions are disclosed in this report and in note
41 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the above, no
Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
the holding companies of the Company, or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
associates in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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percentage
Number of Number of of the total
ordinary underlying number of
Name of Directors  Capacity shares held shares held issued shares
B BT
KFEHE BRPEH
BEEps 51 KFELZERYE ROEE BMAFD
(%)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin Beneficial owner 136,752,350 (L) 117,756,660 (L) 7.95%
BRHRxE EnEAA
(Note 3)
(H1:23)
Mr. Wei Chunxian Interest of controlled corporation 2,246,160,464 (L) 1,342,317,340 (L) 112.16%

BuE St XEE 2w
(Notes 1 and 2)
(Kat12)

L denotes long position
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Wintime Company Limited is interested in 1,434,421,537 shares
and 1,342,317,340 underlying shares of aggregate principal amount
of convertible bonds of HK$1,073,853,872 issued by the Company
at conversion price of HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018 and
31 December 2021. Wintime Company Limited is wholly-owned
by Widewealth Company Limited, the holding vehicle incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands used by Trident Trust Company (B.V.l.)
Limited, the trustee of a discretionary trust, namely St. Heliers
Trust, of which Mr. Wei Chunxian is the settlor and a beneficiary.
Accordingly, each of Widewealth Company Limited and Mr. Wei
Chunxian is deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying
shares held by Wintime Company Limited under the SFO.

811,738,927 shares are held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited. Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
is owned as to 90% and 10% by Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (It R EMEF AR A F)) and
Future Glow Ventures Inc. respectively. Future Glow Ventures Inc.
is wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian. Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (b R E §% E it ZE FA 25 AR A 7)) is directly
wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (1t 51
42 A R A 7)), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Qingquan
Ruiyuan Business Management Co., Ltd.* QL 75 REHEFIE SRR
R A ®]), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Ruilong Business
Management Co., Ltd.* (It REEEEmESIEAR A R]), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Enterprise Management
Group Co., Ltd.* (b REH M EE R EBARAF), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Beijing Gangrui Enterprise Management
Development Co., Ltd.* QbR EE R R FR A 7)), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Yiyue Business Management Co.,
Ltd.* Qt R EMEEEE AR A7), which is in turn wholly-owned
by Well Hero Holdings Ltd (B & B AR A F]), which is in tun
wholly-owned by Wish Diligence Ltd (£2£)F R A 7)), which is
ultimately owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian (through Fair Development
Holdings Ltd, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian), Mr.
Sun Zhongmin and an independent third party as to 82%, 9% and
9%, respectively. Each of Wish Diligence Ltd (22 £h5FR A 7)), Fair
Development Holdings Ltd and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited under the SFO.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin is interested in 117,756,660 underlying
shares pursuant to convertible bonds in the principle amount of
HK$94,205,328 issued by the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018 and 31 December 2021.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 December 2022,
the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO:
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as percentage

Number of Number of of the total

ordinary shares underlying number of

Name Capacity held shares held  issued shares
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Wintime Company Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,434,421,537 - 44.83%
Wintime Company Limited (#7521) ExEAA

Beneficial owner - 1,342,317,340 41.96%
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Total interests
as percentage
Number of Number of of the total
ordinary shares underlying number of
Name Capacity held shares held  issued shares
BREHE
BENHE  FERTRO
£1 54 FELERYA R #E BHZEDL
Widewealth Company Limited (Note 1) Interest in Controlled Corporation 1,434,421,637 - 44.83%
Widewealth Company Limited(#75£7) XErECER
Interest in Controlled Corporation - 1,342,317,340 41.96%
XmzEER
Trident Trust Company (B.V.1.) Limited Trustee of a trust 1,434,421,637 - 44.83%
(Note 1)
BREFBV.ERRR(HF1) EEPAEIN
Trustee of a trust - 1,342,317,340 41.96%
(EHPA-EIN
Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Beneficial owner 811,738,927 - 25.37%
Limited (Note 2)
BHERRE (BR)BRAR(MZ2) ERBEAA
Wish Diligence Limited (Note 2) Interest in Controlled Corporation 811,738,927 - 25.37%
ZHRBDR(H722) RmEE B
Fair Development Holdings Limited (Note 2) Interest in Controlled Corporation 811,738,927 - 25.37%

N

Fair Development Holdings Limited(#7:22) S#uiE 2 B

Note 1. Wintime Company Limited is interested in 1,434,421,537 shares and
1,342,317,340 underlying shares pursuant to convertible bonds in
the principal amount of HK$1,073,853,872 issued by the Company
at conversion price of HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018 and
31 December 2021. Wintime Company Limited is wholly-owned
by Widewealth Company Limited, the holding vehicle incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands used by Trident Trust Company (B.V.l.)
Limited, the trustee of a discretionary trust, namely St. Heliers
Trust, of which Mr. Wei Chunxian is the settlor and a beneficiary.
Accordingly, each of Widewealth Company Limited and Mr. Wei
Chunxian is deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying
shares held by Wintime Company Limited under the SFO.
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Note 2: 811,738,927 shares are held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited. Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
is owned as to 90% and 10% by Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (3t B8 = thE 22 AR A 7)) and
Future Glow Ventures Inc. respectively. Future Glow Ventures Inc.
is wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian. Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (b RE$ EithZEFZE AR A 7)) is directly
wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (1t 52
$RIERR AR A2 A)), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Qinggquan
Ruiyuan Business Management Co., Ltd.* {t /B RELEEEEIEE
R A &), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Ruilong Business
Management Co., Ltd.* (Jt REE R EEIRFRE A7), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Enterprise Management
Group Co., Ltd.* (b B EEIREE AR A 7)), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Beijing Gangrui Enterprise Management
Development Co., Ltd.* QLU EEILER AR A R]), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Yiyue Business Management Co.,
Ltd.* bR EMEEEE AR A F]), which is in turn wholly-owned
by Well Hero Holdings Ltd (BB HR A &), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Wish Diligence Ltd (££)A R A 7]), which is
ultimately owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian (through Fair Development
Holdings Ltd, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian), Mr.
Sun Zhongmin and an independent third party as to 82%, 9% and
9%, respectively. Each of Wish Diligence Ltd (22 £)74FE A 7)), Fair
Development Holdings Ltd and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited under the SFO.

The English names of Chinese entities marked with “*” are
translations of their Chinese names and are included for identification
purpose only, and should not be regarded as their official English
name. In the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name prevails.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any
other person (other than the Directors and the chief executive of
the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 7 November 2016, the Company conditionally adopted the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), pursuant to which
the Board may, at its discretion, grant options to any Directors
and any employee of the Company or the Group or any person,
who, in the absolute opinion of the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the Company or the Group. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to (i) incentivise and reward those who have
contributed or may contribute to the development of the Group;
and (i) attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel and
motivate them to strive for the future development of the Group by
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company thereby linking their interest with that of the Group.
Unless otherwise determined by the Board in the relevant offer
letter to a grantee, there is no minimum period for which any share
option (the “Option(s)”) must be held before it can be exercised and
no performance target which needs to be achieved by a grantee
before the options can be exercised. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Board will have absolute discretion in determining the
subscription price (subject to the Listing Rules) in respect of any
Option. The Board is of the view that the flexibility given to the Board
will place the Group in a better position to incentivise or reward the
Participants and retain human resources that are valuable to the
growth and development of the Group as a whole.

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion and notified to the Participant in the offer
and shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of a share as
stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of offer of the grant; and (ii) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the grant. The consideration payable for
acceptance of the option by each participant is HK$1.00 which shall
be received by the Company within such time as may be specified
in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from, and inclusive
of, the date of offer). If the participant does not accept such grant of
option pursuant to the procedures specified in the respective offer
letter or notice within the stipulated time frame, such option shall be
regarded as unaccepted and lapsed.
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At the beginning and the end of the Year, the number of options
available for grant under the Share Option Scheme is 319,937,398
shares. As at the date of this report, the number of shares available
for issue upon exercise of the options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 319,937,398 shares, representing approximately
10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company. Pursuant
to Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules, the total number of shares which
may be issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme must not, in aggregate, exceed 10%
of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the scheme
mandate limit. The Board shall not grant any options which would
result in the maximum aggregate number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted but yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Company exceeding, in aggregate,
30% of the shares in issue from time to time. The total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company to each Participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue (the “Individual
Limit”). Any further grant of options to a Participant which would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such Participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding
the Individual Limit shall be subject to approval of the Shareholders
in general meeting with such Participant and his close associates (or
his associates if such Participant is a connected person) abstaining
from voting. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as
the Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the
date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.
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The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years commencing from the date of adoption of the Share Option

Scheme.

Remarks:

AR 51 807 2 L B 4 R 31 BB A B B
£t -

Pursuant to Rule 17.03A of the Listing Rules, the participants of a
scheme shall only comprise (i) directors and employees of the issuer
or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) directors and employees of the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the
Company; and (i) persons who provide services to the issuer group
on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course
of business which are in the interests of the long term growth of the
issuer group.

Pursuant to Rule 17.03F of the Listing Rules, the vesting period for
options shall not be less than 12 months.

Pursuant to Rule 17.04(3) of the Listing Rules, where any grant of
options or awards to an independent non-executive director or a
substantial shareholder of the listed issuer, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all options and awards granted (excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the scheme) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant
class of shares in issue, such further grant of options or awards
must be approved by shareholders of the listed issuer in general
meeting in the manner set out in Rule 17.04(4). Pursuant to Rule
17.04(4) of the Listing Rules, the listed issuer must send a circular
to the shareholders. The grantee, his/her associates and all core
connected persons of the listed issuer must abstain from voting in
favour at such general meeting. The listed issuer must comply with
the requirements under Rules 13.40, 13.41 and 13.42.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group entered into certain transactions which
constituted connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, the
details of which are set out below.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions undertaken
by the Group were entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial terms
or better; and (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has also confirmed that nothing has
come to the auditor’s attention that causes it to believe that the
continuing connected transactions (a) have not been approved
by the Board; (b) were not, in all material aspects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group; (c) were not entered into
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions, in all material respects; and (d) have exceeded the
respective caps as aforesaid, where applicable.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
insofar as they are applicable.
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Heat supply and property management services provided by
AOCEAN Property Management to Beijing Guorui Group
During the Year, 1t 7B Y3 E 2GR 22 &) (Beijing AOCEAN
Property Management Company Limited* or “AOCEAN Property
Management”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
provided heat supply and maintenance and property management
services to a total of 1,893 property units of Beijing Guorui Group
(Note 1) with a total floor area of approximately 205,196 square
metres.

The 2018 New Heat Supply Services Agreement, the 2018 New
Property Management Agreement and the 2018 Kingdom Guorui
Sales Office Management Agreement all entered into between
AOCEAN Property Management and Beijing Guorui Property (Note 1)
on 20 October 2017 (with details set out below) have expired on 31
December 2020.

In order to continue the provision of services by AOCEAN Property
Management to Beijing Guorui Group, on 2 November 2020,
AOCEAN Property Management and Beijing Guorui Property (for
itself and for and on behalf of Beijing Guorui Group) entered into
the 2021 New Heat Supply Services Agreement and the 2021 New
Property Management Agreement (with details set out below). Such
agreements have been approved by independent shareholders of
the Company on 23 December 2020 and became effective on 1
January 2021.

2021 New Heat Supply Services Agreement

Date: 2 November 2020
Parties: () AOCEAN Property Management
(i) Beiling Guorui Property (for itself and for and on behalf of
the Beijing Guorui Group) (Note 1)
Term: From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023 (both days

inclusive)
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Nature of
Transactions:

Fees:

Annual cap:

*

AOCEAN Property Management shall provide heat supply
and maintenance services to the members of Beijing Guorui
Group. AOCEAN Property Management’s responsibilities
include (i) overseeing the daily operation and provision of
repair and maintenance services of the heat exchange station
and facilities and the pipeline network located in the property
projects developed by Beijing Guorui Group, namely Fortune
Street Phase One* (% —Hi), Fortune Strest Phase Two®
(8137 =58), Fortune Street Phase Thres* (3147 =) and
Golden Tower* (£ &% AE) in Chaoyang District, Beijing;
Guorui Square* (E1§{/&%) and Kingdom Guorui* (E e &
78) in Daxing District, Beijing; and North Garden* (1t 7EH) at
Gaobeidian, Chaoyang District, Beijing; and (i) ensuring that
the heat supply complies with governmental guidelines and
standards, etc.

AOCEAN Property Management charges the individual
owners/tenants of the property units directly for those units
which are occupied. The relevant members of the Beijing
Guorui Group will be responsible for the fees of the vacant
units or units occupied by Beijing Guorui Group within the
aforesaid property projects

Residential properties: RMB18 to RMB30 per square meter
per heat supply season depending on the property project,
payable on annual basis

Commercial properties: RMB25.2 to RMB50.4 per square
meter per heat supply season depending on the property
project, payable on annual basis

For the three years ending 31 December 2021 are
RMB10,000,000, RMB11,000,000 and RMB12,100,000,
respectively

For identification purpose only
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The transaction was announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 2 November 2020, 23 November 2020,
4 December 2020 and 23 December 2020 and approved by
independent shareholders at the general meeting of the Company
held on 23 December 2020.

2021 New Property Management Agreement
Date: 2 November 2020
Parties: (1) AOCEAN Property Management

(2) Beiling Guorui Property (for itself and for and on behalf of
the Beijing Guorui Group) (Note 1)

Term: From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023 (both days
inclusive)
Premises: Fortune Street Phase One* (81 &—E&J), Fortune Street

Phase Two* (817 — ), Fortune Street Phase Three* (87
WA =) and Golden Tower* (£ &% AE) in Chaoyang
District, Beijing; Guorui Square* (El#% &), and Kingdom
Guorur* (E$iie & 78) in Daxing District, Beijing; North Garden*
(Jt7EE) at Gaobeidian, Chaoyang District, Beijing; and
Project Majugiao® (5559188 ) at Tongzhou District, Beijing

Nature of AOCEAN Property Management is responsible for (i)
Transactions: safekeeping of the keys of the vacant units; (i) carrying out
monthly inspections of the vacant units and keeping records
accordingly; (i) carrying out monthly cleaning of the vacant
units; (iv) inspecting the vacant units during bad weather
conditions; (v) providing security services; and (vi) maintaining

and managing facilities and assets for public use, etc.

Moreover, for particular property units, AOCEAN Property
Management will also provide initial clean up services
after completion of their construction (the “Initial Clean Up
Services”)

Fees: The management fee ranges from RMB0.49 to RMB33.6 per
square meter per month for different types of property units,
payable on an annual basis

For the Initial Clean Up Services, AOCEAN Property
Management charges a fee calculated based on its actually
incurred disbursement plus a margin of 10%

Annual cap: For the three years ending 31 December 2021 are

RMB47,500,000, RMB52,250,000 and RMB57,475,000,
respectively

*  For identification purpose only
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The transaction was announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 2 November 2020, 23 November 2020,
4 December 2020 and 23 December 2020 and approved by
independent shareholders at the general meeting of the Company
held on 23 December 2020.

For details of the 2021 New Heat Supply Services Agreement and
the 2021 New Property Management Agreement, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 2 November 2020, 23
November 2020, 4 December 2020 and 23 December 2020 and
the circular of the Company dated 4 December 2020.

Note 1: It REEHE AR AR A 7 Beijing Guorui Property Development
Company Limited*, or “Beijing Guorui Property”, which together with
its subsidiaries and associates, as the “Beijing Guorui Group”)), is
wholly-owned by 1t Bl §#1Z2AZ AR A 7 (Beijing Guorui Holdings
Co. Limited*), which in turn is indirectly owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian
and Mr. Sun Zhongmin, the executive Directors, and an independent
third party as to approximately 82%, 9% and 9% respectively,
and is therefore an associate of Mr. Wei Chunxian under the
Listing Rules. Mr. Wei Chunxian, being an executive Director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company, is a connected person of
the Company, and hence Beijing Guorui Property, being an associate
of Mr. Wei Chunxian, is regarded as a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions which were
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note 41
to the consolidated financial statements. For those related party
transactions that constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions (as the case may be) (other than those
described in the section above headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) under the Listing Rules, these transactions are
exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in this
report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has provided a signed copy of the said letter to the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed otherwise, the related party transactions and
continuing related party transactions as disclosed in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules throughout the Year.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group does not have any material subsequent event after the
Year and up to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the quality of corporate
governance so as to ensure better transparency of the Company,
protection of Shareholders’ and stakeholders’ rights and enhance
Shareholder value. In the opinion of the Board, the Company had
complied with all code provisions set out in the CG Code during
the Year except the deviation of code provision C.2.1 stated in the
Corporate Governance Report on page 71.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, all of the Directors have complied with, for any part of the
accounting year covered by this report, the required standard set
out in the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” and “Related Party Transactions” of
this report, there were no contracts of significance in relation to
the Company’s business, to which the Company or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year, and in which a Director had,
whether directly or indirectly, a material interest, nor there were
any other contracts of significance (whether or not for the provision
of services) in relation to the Company’s business between the
Company or any of the Company’ s subsidiaries and a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO SUBSCRIBE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than interests in share options of the Company as disclosed
above, and in the share option schemes disclosed in this report,
at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
or chief executives, or their spouses or children under the age of
18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debenture of the Company or any other body corporate, and none
of them had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company
or its associated corporations, or had exercised any such right
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors was interested
in any business, which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contributions
under these schemes is available to reduce the contribution payable
in future years. For details, please refer to, particulars of retirement
benefits schemes of the Group are set out in note 2.4 (headed “Other
employee benefits (pension scheme)”) to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by Ernst & Young. A resolution for their re-appointment as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
were approved by the Board on 31 March 2023.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wei Chunxian
Chairman

Hong Kong
31 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB RES

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

Independent auditor’s report
To the members of GR Properties Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GR
Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 142 to 277, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB HRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In accordance with the accounting

policies of the Group, investment
properties are stated at fair value.
As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties was

approximately HK$4,935,257,000

which represented 79% of the
total assets of the Group. The
valuation process is inherently
subjective, and dependent on a
number of estimates. The Group
engaged external professionally
qualified valuers to perform the
valuations for the investment
properties.

Related disclosures are included
in notes 3 and 16 to the financial
statements.

We considered the objectivity,
independence and competence
of the valuation experts.

We assessed the
appropriateness of the
valuation methodology adopted
by the valuers and evaluated
the data used as inputs for

the valuations and performed
market value benchmarking
against comparable properties.

We involved our internal
valuation experts to assist us in
evaluating the assumptions and
methodologies for the valuation
of the investment properties
held by the Group.

We considered the adequacy
of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial
statements in respect of the
fair value measurement of the
investment properties.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade and lease receivables
As at 31 December 2022, the In relation to the impairment

Group had trade and lease
receivables of approximately
HK$133,098,000, which mainly
arose from the provision of
property management services
and leasing of investment
properties.

Significant management’s
judgements and estimates on the
amount of expected credit losses
at the reporting date were involved
in determining the recoverability of
these trade and lease receivables
for impairment assessment.

Related disclosures are included
in notes 3 and 22 to the financial
statements.

assessment of trade and lease
receivables, we obtained an
understanding of the credit
loss provisioning methodology
adopted by the Group and
assessed the reasonableness
of the allowance for the
expected credit losses
estimated by management
with reference to the history of
debtors’ settlement patterns
and ageing analysis of the trade
and lease receivables.

We tested, on a sample basis,
the ageing analysis of the trade
and lease receivables prepared
by management; circulated
and obtained direct debtor
confirmations; and checked the
settlement status subsequent
to the reporting period.

We also considered the
adequacy of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements in connection with
the impairment of trade and
lease receivables.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAUZHEIRES

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAUZHEIRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. LEUNG, Yin.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

maBa

2022 2021
—E-CF B —F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
k3 FET FHT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREER
REVENUE A 5 352,276 1 b
Other income and gains, net HEMA R - JFEE 6 48,458 22,738
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA (6,019) (13,377)
Employee benefit expenses BTEMNER (63,491) (65,296)
Marketing expenses & HE A (283) (842)
Depreciation and amortisation e R g (3,207) (3,959)
Utilities, repairs and maintenance and NEEFE - HERRE
rental expenses ARFEEREX (116,437) (132,551)
Impairment of trade and lease FEUNE 5 KA ERFURE
receivables, net FRE 22(b) (8,122) (12,486)
Other operating costs H A AL AN (32,109) (95,023)
Other expenses, net EMER - F8E (24,116) (4,189)
Remeasurement gain upon transfer ETHELEMEEE
of certain properties held for sale to WEMHERZ
investment properties EIETERE 16(c) 51,175 265,416
Fair value loss of investment HEMEANTEEE -
properties, net FEE 16 (395,952) (50,551)
Finance costs HEER 7 (136,450) (108,085)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM REEEKEES LN
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BLADRF(&8) 8 (334,277) 133,130
Income tax credit/(expense) Fiissise, (FAx) 11 14,151 (56,883)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE REFEKSEEBKD
YEAR FROM CONTINUING EEERF(BE)
OPERATIONS (320,126) 76,247
DISCONTINUED OPERATION FILREER
Profit for the year from a REE I EEBR
discontinued operation N[ A 12 = 132,180
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR TEERR(F8) (320,126) 208,427
Attributable to: THIATEG ¢
Shareholders of the Company NN} (320,126) 207,625
Non-controlling interests eI - 802
(320,126) 208,427
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
ReEERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE_—FE - —#F+—=-H=+—HIFF/ZF

Note 2022 2021
Htat —EZCHF —E- 4
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER AARRRELER
SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BF,(&58)
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY 14
Basic (HK cent per share) HAR(ZEN)
— For profit/(loss) for the year —REFEEHF,(EE) (10.01) 6.49
— For profit/(loss) from continuing — B ELE R
operations wm A, (E518) (10.01) 2.36
Diluted (HK cent per share) B (ZEN)
— For profit/(loss) for the year —RNEEHF,(EE) (10.01) 4.58
— For profit/(loss) from continuing —REFECEEBD
operations wm A, (E518) (10.01) 1.68
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HeEHEWa

2022 2021
—E-CHF T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Htat FET FET
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FEERR(E8) (320,126) 208,427
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Htp2mEWzE(EE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) A1 BfE] A GEE 9 X8 = 15 an Y
that may be reclassified to profit or Em2Eies (EE) -
loss in subsequent periods:
Debt investments at fair value BAFE AR M2 RS
through other comprehensive WEBIRE
income:
Changes in fair value NEEEE) 19 - (808)
Reclassification adjustment for FTABTEMHESE Y
loss on disposal included BN EAE
in profit or loss 19 = 1,904
- 1,006
Exchange differences: fEH =58
Exchange differences on MEGINCEHETEEE
translation of foreign operations PE 5 ZERE (295,192) 64,989
Reclassification adjustments for BERNHEHEINETS
foreign operations disposed of EITEHNDERAE
during the year 37 373 3,015
(294,819) 68,004
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AEEHMEEKE(FHE)
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, HIERF 18
NET OF TAX (294,819) 69,100
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE rEERZEKRE (FHE)88E
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (614,945) 277,527
Attributable to: TEIATFEL :
Shareholders of the Company ViN/NE )i 323 (614,945) 275,959
Non-controlling interests FEIE R A = 1,568

(614,945)

277,527




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HizF FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 15 2,091 2,376
Investment properties B 16 4,935,257 5,467,503
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 4,094 2,925
Computer software BRI 18 679 976
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE = 33 13,786 16,448
Total non-current assets IEMBNVE EMERE 4,955,907 5,490,228
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Properties held for sale HIELEYWE 20 550,111 700,950
Inventories FE 21 860 1,150
Trade and lease receivables BN E 5 R EIRNK 22 133,098 97,908
Prepayments, deposits and other TARRRIAE ~ AT READ
receivables eI R TE 23 184,332 231,175
Financial asset at fair value through BAFER ABmA
profit or loss TREE 25 11,496 -
Other tax recoverables Hfth aT Uk [B] 55 18 50,748 69,474
Restricted cash IR HIR & 26 4,324 -
Cash and cash equivalents HE NIBEEEY 27 349,182 304,049
Total current assets MBNEEATE 1,284,151 1,404,706
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables BB SRR 28 88,759 48,942
Receipts in advance Sl G L] 29 72,807 80,815
Other payables and accruals HAbfERIE R ERT BB 30 247,152 481,408
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R EAME K 31 108,446 671,663
Income tax payables FERTPTIS TR 28,975 19,107
Other tax payables HAth FE R IE 8,287 3,528
Total current liabilities mEEEERE 554,426 1,305,463




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BER xR

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CF B —F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Kt FET FEIT
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFHE 729,725 99,243
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBARE
LIABILITIES 5,685,632 5,589,471
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Bank and other borrowings RITREALE K 31 2,220,064 1,438,746
Liability component of perpetual XA ESRZ
convertible bonds AaEzn 32 57,245 55,745
Deferred tax liabilities RIETIE A& 33 159,694 230,822
Other payables H b eSS 50 30 - 584
Total non-current liabilities B A EARE 2,437,003 1,725,897
Net assets BEFRE 3,248,629 3,863,574
EQUITY X
Equity attributable to shareholders 7 R R R FE(L#ER
of the Company
Share capital A& 7N 34 3,152,571 3,152,571
Equity component of perpetual KARBIRES 2
convertible bonds =D 32 1,172,244 1,172,244
Reserves Ee] 36 (1,076,186) (461,241)
Total equity TR ARRE 3,248,629 3,863,574
Wei Chunxian Sun Zhongmin
e BMHR
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE —FE - —#F+—-H=+—HIFF/ZF

2022 2021
—EC-CF T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Kz FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHEENRSRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BianaA(E18)
From continuing operations KEFBELEEK (334,277) 133,130
From a discontinued operation KEE i<<< S 12 - 132,180
Adjustments for: FHEIEE -
Finance costs 7% %& A 136,450 108,462
Interest income FLEHA 6 (4,500) (5,059
Fair value loss recycled from equity HEZRAFET AEAM
upon disposal of debt investments FEBHNEGRER
at fair value through other Q ez R [B1 A
comprehensive income NEEE 8 = 1,904
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - BEMEE
plant and equipment IH B K Es1E 8 = 13
Write-off of property, plant and equipment  #i$5¥1% - kR R 8 1E 8 3 -
Depreciation of items of property, Y - BREREEEE R
plant and equipment e 15 937 2,441
Depreciation of right-of-use assets G'EH%EE BENE 17 1,944 4,549
Amortisation of computer software TE P (- 5 18 326 148
Remeasurement gain upon transfer ?HT’E& EMEER
of certain properties held for sale to WEMFEE L
investment properties BETEWE 16(c) (51,175) (265,416)
Fair value loss of investment properties, HEMERNTEEE -
net HEE 16 395,952 50,551
Gain on disposal of a discontinued HEE JJ:Z‘“ EETE
operation FriSdes 37 = (143,061)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of a subsidiary HEWBARERE, (W) 37 (3,809) 48,490
Income from financial guarantee fee BTSERE B A 6 (11,112) (1,740)
Impairment of trade and lease FEWE 5 KA EFIBERE
receivables, net RER 22(p) 8,122 12,486
Interest income from a principal-protected BAFEAEREZAN
investment deposit at fair value through IR ETF R
profit or loss FLEHA (242) -
Operating profit before working capital BEE S HE AR E A
changes 138,619 79,078
Decrease in inventories FaRd 202 335
Increase in trade and lease receivables i3 H&z‘”%&a"ﬁ‘fﬁﬁ I (52,686) (15,845)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and TERFIE © 5T2 REM
other receivables JT%“MZ%KIE?@ZQ\ 23,534 157
Increase in amounts due from related parties & U @Bk 75 ZRIEIE 1 (21,290) (29,429)
Decrease/(increase) in other tax recoverables Efh FE UL R IE R 2>~ (38 10) 13,290 (745)
Increase in trade payables FESHE 5 B8R SRE N 50,587 29,030
Increase/(decrease) in receipts in advance ?’Eﬂﬂlﬁlﬁiﬂﬂ/ CRd) (2,364) 26,695
Decrease in other payables and accruals HAth e ROE N et B R e A (231,073) (16,117)
Increase/(decrease) in other tax payables ﬁ{ﬂ}E Hifﬁlﬁi*ﬂﬂ/ CRid) 5,321 307
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net B AR (22,450) (18,324)
Cash generated from operations KERENRE (98,310) 56,142
PRC corporate income tax paid XSGR == (975) (3,814)
UK income tax paid B TR B ATSH (6,834) (3,739)
Net cash flows from/(used in) rEESmS /(AR
operating activities mEFE (106,119) 47,589
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FRAERTRER

2022 2021
—E-—F - —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
izt FET FET

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHEENESRE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received BYF B 6 4,500 5,059
Purchases of items of property, plant and BE \%% %= K s 1E B

equipment 15 (820) (638)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME - ME MEEEE

plant and equipment Fr1S 3008 = 3
Additions to investment properties NEHR 5%% 16 (123,428) (101,768)
Additions to computer software BE TN 18 (102) (235)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKB AT 37 (753) 136,930
Proceeds from the disposal of debt HEZEAFEGTAEM

investments at fair value through other iﬁuﬁlﬁ&fi’]{%f%ﬁﬁ

comprehensive income FT1S 303 = 60,982
Purchases of debt investments at fair value & iﬁ@?{ﬁ?)\ﬁm

through other comprehensive income FHENE 2 EBIRE = (36,141)
Purchase of a principal-protected investment & & E’A?TEDH\TE % HY

deposit at fair value through profit or loss IRAIGETFR (11,560) =
Increase in restricted cash IR 3R &1 0 (4,324) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing REEBAE (TR

activities REREFEE (136,487) 64,192
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RETHEENRESRE

ACTIVITIES
New bank loans HERITE R 927,960 782,193
Repayments of bank loans BEBITEN (8,700) (829,763)
New loan from an independent third party BN E = IREFER 624,307 49,273
Repayments of advance from a former BB AR 5 2 2K

related party (749,850) -
New loan from a financial institution TR IR R ITE R 29,987 =
Repayment of loans from financial institution &% € B ~ 3% (5,374) -
Repayment of a quasi-loan equity BEEETLEBREZATE

contributed by a joint venture partner WEE F S

of a subsidiary (548,656) -
Advances from other related parties H{th Al 2 B3k 84,044 100,455
Repayment of advances from other related (B8 H i BIEE 5 2 Bk

parties - (57,157)
Interest paid for bank and other borrowings 15 #8717 M E 4t i 7R 2, (77,419) (84,278)
Other interest paid B EAMFE = (73)
Principal portion of lease payments HENE ZE Eilba) (1,834) (4,396)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BEEREFE, (BT

activities RemEF5E 274,465 (43,746)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRBESEEYILINFHE

EQUIVALENTS 31,859 68,035
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYR e MRS EEY

of year 304,049 234,527
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  [E R S5 2558 13,274 1,487
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FARAEERASEEY

AT END OF YEAR 27 349,182 304,049




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong and shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered
office and the principal place of business of the Company
is located at Unit 3505, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No. 89
Queensway, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
were involved in the following principal activities:

- property development and investment in the United
Kingdom (the “UK”), the United States of America (the
“USA”) and the mainland (“Mainland China”) of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); and

- provision of property management services in
Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2022, the immediate holding company
of the Company was Wintime Company Limited (“Wintime”),
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Widewealth
Company Limited (“Widewealth”), which is incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.

B 35 R 2R B

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

LAFREKERH

REEEAR AR ([ ARAR DA —FKR
E%Eﬁ&iZﬁ@@ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ%%

BEAERXZMARAR(THRAT]) ER
im AARINEMHEREREELE
MBI B 2 EE8OTR N B 1 B
3513505 % °

BE_ZT__F+-_A=+t—HLL#HF
B ARBREMBAR(REAIRE
B ) EZREETIIFR -

- HBE([RE])  ZNRERE
(FRE ) R AR KB (TH
B ) AR (R BIR R |) ey 3¢ 3
REWE Rk

- ETBEREREVEEERS

RZB_Z_F+A=+—RH " ' &R
ANEEERARANRRBEXES
sEM AL AL 2 B BR A & Wintime Company
Limited ([ Wintme J) * XA A EER
7 ARRREERAR AN EBR
Z B B S 2 B R A F]Widewealth
Company Limited ([ Widewealth |)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 S R P EE

31 December 2022 —Z&F—=—

#+=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, which
are all indirectly held by the Company, as at 31 December

2022 are as follows:

LT REKERHE)

R-BE-_—_F+-_HA=+—8 ' ARQ7
FTENBRARIHBEARFEEFEE)N
E3=p N

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary Percentage of
registration share capital/ equity attributable
Company name and operations registered capital to the Company  Principal activities
S/ ERA BRTZERET/ ENRE
ARER Sk &R EEAt TELEER
East Pacific Properties LLC Delaware, USA United States 100%  Property investment
ERE dollars (‘US$’) MERE
23,250,000
23,250,000% ¢
GR Properties USA Inc. Delaware, USA US$1 100%  Property development
EBE ESH and investment
MERERRIEE
Washington Motor LP Nevada, USA US$12,000,000 100%  Property development
FEREE 12,000,000%7 and investment
NEERRRE
Talented Chief Limited British Virgin Islands/UK US$50,000 100%  Property investment
EBANES/EE 50,000% 7T NERE
I REBBREEREERAA PRC/Mainland China Renminbi (‘RMB”) 100%  Property investment
((EREBRNEER]) B/ hEARE 1,000,000 NERE
(“Beijing Wangangtong AR 1,000,000
Technology Development”)/
ISR ERERR AR PRC/Mainland China RMB1,960,000 99.9%  Sale of properties and
(TglARHE]) HE/REARE ARH1,960,0007 property investment
(“Kaipeng Technology’)’ MERERMERE
TR AmEEEER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100%  Provision of property
W/ hEIARE AR50,000,0007C management services
RENZERRY
# These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability # % EN B A RIRE A BEA R

companies under PRC Law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

RERRTE -

ERABEINARRIMNBARRESR
RYEAEEANFREETTEZELRE
RAREFEEETZMANAR - ESR
R - BIEMKEB R R EAFEA
BILK » WAEA -



2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

31 December 2022

2.1

M RRHE
—FE - H=+—H

RB AR
ZEMBRERRRRBLESIAMAE
(BB EFEAE ) RMHEEM R
SEA([FRHBREER ) (BIEMHR
BEREMBREEN - BESTER
(TBBGTENRE)  BEEE
Kz @t RAIRBBARUEPIGES -
mEZEMBHRRE - RREYE &
NHERAHEMEEREMEBIRE R
BAFEAABENSREECE AT
Bt &5 HRABE LKA ERA -
BRIEZSNGAR - ZEM B HRERIAET
(BT IR - A EENERED
B TLER ©

ZERAVBERERBEARR R REWES
AREEBE_ZE_—_F+-_A=+—HL
FEMNPBHRE - MBARIEARF]
EENEEEFNER(REERLLE
) c EAEEBIBELHWMIEE HHE
R mAEN 2 DR AR ER T
LR WHERENERLIWEERN
D (BIREALEBE B RIBRENEBN
®EHREBEE R IR ET) 28 7Z
Z O 3R - BVER{SHE Hil4E -

—RIEN THAFES BRI ARIES
BEHETE - EARAIERIERER D
RBIRE T KRZ BTN IBLER -
EFEERDHEEHRRETOES
K- ASESZEMAHEBEENS
o B

(@) HEBHERESTEMIRREFEEN
aR%HE

b) EHERRHEENEN &

(€  AKBWFRRERBEIORE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022

2.1

—FE g+ —A=+—H

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income s reclassified to profit or loss or accumulated losses,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group has directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

2.1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BB SRS LR E35 (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 16

ARG ERE165E(BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 37
BASFTERIEI7HR(EETA)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

BB HEER —F— )\ FE_F_FF
HYF R 2E

Use

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

B BR R RS

AEEAANFEPHHRRERFALT
RIEFTBBHBEREER -

Reference to the Conceptual Framework
B2 NEE 2 pEut
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended

YIF -~ BE KRR - (ERUE Z AT E

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract
EEEH — BT KA

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples

accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

FRUHREENFER - BEMBREERIFESR -
BBV HMEERIFE165EEM BRI N

BB EFHERIE41R (BRI A)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

@)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to
its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that,
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if
they were incurred separately rather than assumed
in a business combination, an entity applying
HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to business combinations
that occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there
were no business combinations during the year, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

T HERRAEBNEETE LR
BHREERNEENTE -

(@)

BB RS ERFEIR (BT
R)AH T —NFXAEMZ
[ RERSIERE([HSIE
ZR ) 2R - R L AT 4R
BREVNHBRRZIERZRE
o mAgRKBERERE -
ZEEET I BB R E LR
SERSRIL INEFER R B Z FIIME
T AR EEBLER S IERAEE
TEEREEXABEZAR ° %0l
IMERIRE - BB SFERE
TR B S (BRI BRE 2R
ZEe) -REF2GGEEANZ
BERSIABEMNS @ WEFE
BERRARBEEBEEMIENE
AR - AIEATBYE
MEREBEIF 2 EEEDFIR
ERBGFTEREITHRHIEE
(BB HREREZES) -2
EE215 - MIEBSIEL - it
N REER BB RREETE
BEPUEE BHIRER - AEED
MR —_E-_—F—AF—Hzz%
BEMNEBAHAIENEAZS
1BR] - IR FERNITEERS G -
Wz EE TR EBR B AR
RRIBIWETRFLE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 EiNBERIEEEE(E)
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items as determined by
HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use
on or after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale
of items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfiling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to
the counterparty under the contract. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to contracts
for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at
1 January 2022 and no onerous contracts were
identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

FR G ERFE165 (BFTX)
FIFEBRYE - BB MREE
B AR kR h ST E R
Wiz B EERHEGEAEEE
BE R 5 SUEIEAT S RO R Kk
SURERIFASSOR - R - B
ARERLGTEAF 2R FE
FREER RafER h EEMEH
BB ZEFRERZERE 2K
Ko AKEEHR T —F—
A—BalZ&AIHERNTDE -
R M tmIA B B PEAZEE
7] o IR ~ BB KRB
{6 A A0 4 o P A E Y IR
B - MEZFETHAKENE B
AR RIRIY BT E -

B GTERIEITR (BRI X)) E
B RREBEE B EREIT
SRHEAWRBARMES - BT
BRINKANBIEEAS N EXAH
RIS » B8 K E IR BRI MR A
BIEEITZE QRIBE A (1
ERBTIRMH) REEITZE
HEEMEENEMKAD B (0
DERBITEAMAYE - BER
REFEENFEBRUARSHNE
BREBKA) o —RRITHK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

©

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are applicable to the
Group are as follows:

- HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the
fees that an entity includes when assessing
whether the terms of a new or modified
financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.
The Group has applied the amendment
prospectively from 1 January 2022. As there
was no modification or exchange of the
Group’s financial liabilities during the year,
the amendment did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

BANEREERE 105 RE B4R
F28/(ZT——F ) (BRI A)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

B AP wEERFE 165 BRI AN)

HKFRS 17

BN REERE175%

Amendments to HKFRS 17

BAM B wEERFE175% (BF]A)

Amendment to HKFRS 17

BN BREEFE17HREFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BAEFTERE1R(EETA)
Amendments to HKAS 1
BAEFTERE1R(EETA)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2
BAGFTERE1R R BB B E LR

EBHREFE2HRUSETA)
Amendments to HKAS 8
BAEFTERIZE8HR(BETA)
Amendments to HKAS 12

BB EFERIFE125E (BRI A)
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Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

REZHRBEN R A SRR B EE L F 3T &S

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

E# AL HE R (52

Insurance Contracts!

R E AT

Insurance Contracts'-®

RER A5

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information®

PG FE B BB TS IR 5 2B R 175 R B BRI #2522 A
9 — B EHe

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)2 4

HEESER B X R ([ — T _BFEFIAR])>*

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)?

HiERZEaFEREEE( ZF 514K ])?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'
BETHRRFE

Definition of Accounting Estimates'

BETGEBIES!

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P 355 Ak B

31 December 2022 —ZF——#+—H=+—H

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

2.3 EBRfiERRERHETEM

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective
date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. In addition,
as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued
in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS
39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before
1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating
to the classification overlay set out in this amendment shall
apply it on initial application of HKFRS 17
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022

2.3

—FE g+ —A=+—H

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below:

(@

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements
in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA
in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a
broader review of accounting for associates and joint
ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(©

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
in particular the determination over whether an
entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only
those with which an entity must comply on or before
the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. In addition, the
2022 Amendments require additional disclosures
by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when it has a right to
defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. An entity that
applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and
vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreements may require revision. Based on
a preliminary assessment, the amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

©)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to
HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application
is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-
mandatory, an effective date for these amendments
is not necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the
accounting policy disclosures to ensure consistency
with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities
use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that
occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (continued)

(f) Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available)
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to
transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component
of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition,
the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group measures investment properties, debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022

24

—FE g+ —A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a holding
company of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of

the other entity (or of a holding company,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(Vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) (continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a holding company of the entity); and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to a holding company
of the Group.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
investment properties, deferred tax assets, properties
held for sale, inventories and financial assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHBRGE(HE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write KRIBYE - BENZEEFAEG R EST
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to EMENHHERERNEIRERANE
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal HEE - stERNEZ TEFHNT ¢
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:
Building Over the shorter of the lease term and 2.5%
BF THE K2 5%/ E &
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 33.3%
HEMEERE T E I 33.3% B G &
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 10% to 33.3%
NS I= il YN 10%%33.3%
Motor vehicles 20%
B 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties include both completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction.

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for
sale in the ordinary course of business.

Completed investment properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Investment properties under construction or development
for future use as investment properties are classified as
investment properties under construction. Such properties
under construction are measured at cost, including
transaction costs, and subsequent to initial recognition, are
stated at fair value at the end of the reporting period when
the fair value can be determined reliably.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022

24

—FE g+ —A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
period of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from inventories (i.e., properties held for sale)
to investment properties, any difference between the fair
value of the property at the date of change in use and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component, the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate a non-
lease component and to account for the lease component
and the associated non-lease component (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
the straight-line basis over the following depreciation
periods, which are the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022

—FE g+ —A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests
in leasehold land held as inventories, they are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s
policy for “inventories”. When a right-of-use asset
meets the definition of investment property, it is
included in investment properties. The corresponding
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and
subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance
with the Group’s policy for “investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the interest rate implicit in the lease
or, where that rate cannot be readily determined,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in bank and
other borrowings.

Computer software acquired separately is measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of computer software are
assessed to be finite.

Computer software is subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the computer software may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
computer software is reviewed at least at each financial year
end. The estimated annual rate of amortisation of computer
software is 10%.

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

24 FESHBRIBEE)

ERBEBEREA ()

®)

HEERE(E)

EFEHEENRHRER - A%
EEREENRES M ERL  H
AR EAR SEHEETE - RN
ERGEH AREREREES
fERA=E - RFEWAHE - HE
BESREAIZINRER T H S HIE
£ HRDRIBFAELNEE
3K - wEoh - i - BE
Hi%E) MENREE (AR
A KB 5| A R R E 5K
HE))KBEREEENRER
ZFHEEE - AIEHERER
ARAREE -

AEEMOEEAFHARTRA
et -

BEIS A B M E T 4R FER IR AL
ARETE - BISE R AIE B F ARG
RER -

BT B R A A R 5
WA SR B BRI E AT eI (E R AT
BB - BIEE A EE SHE M S TR
ELEZMRFERETES - BFTE
PEEF RO S SR 510% °

173



174

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022

24

—FE g+ —A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade and lease receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade and lease receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset (debt instrument) to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets (debt
instruments) with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.

24

FESTRFRBEGE)

G RE IR B
TREEEVRERS D ERRERE
A - mAFEFFAREMEERER
BAHER ABRE -

iaEREBEED BEAURNEREE
MENRSRER  UERAKEEES
BMEENEBEN - RARBEEAR
BHEKEDIXAEECETRERBT
HAEEBABMEMKI D ZENEEE S
RBAERFIN  XEBENFZAREE
M EmMEELIFNRFEFELE
B ARHRR) RHNAFTEELE
BE - WABESERBEEKE DA
SECETEERENRKE S REE
BRARIE N XX WA TER I PRt BRI &
BB HREERFE15K TP A LIWA
BENRXHENE -

AFREREEREENS MAREER
eME(EAHEERASRFE]) - 77
DR BER AT ERR A FERA
Hih2EREWEeRmEE(EBTR) -
REeRnEYIHEREEARS MFEHE
MEE(EBTLRE)RAFEFARED
BYEE - MARERBEMME -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R T ot

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERBEEGE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
(debt instruments) refers to how it manages its financial
assets (debt instruments) in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets (debt instruments), or both. Financial
assets (debt instruments) classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets (debt instruments) in order
to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
(debt instruments) classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets (debt
instruments) which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

@) Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

(b)

©

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses
or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
change recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

@)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment (continued)

@

General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment (continued)

@) General approach (continued)
Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade and lease receivables which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which
credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which
credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment (continued)

(b)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily

derecognised (i.e.,

removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at amortised cost, which are recognised
initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted
for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the
higher of: (i) the ECLs allowance determined in accordance
with the policy as set out in “Investments and other financial
assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE
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24

—FE g+ —A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The component of perpetual convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position, net of
transaction costs. On issuance of perpetual convertible
bonds, the fair value of the liability component is determined
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond;
and this amount is carried as a financial liability at amortised
cost. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the
equity component of the perpetual convertible bonds that
is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net
of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the equity
component of the perpetual convertible bonds is not
remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the liability and equity components of
the perpetual convertible bonds based on the allocation of
proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are initially recognised.

Properties held for sale are intended to be held for sale and
are classified as current assets.

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the estimated selling price based on prevailing
market conditions less estimated costs to be incurred in
marketing and selling the properties.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

24

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with.

Where the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

@)

(b)

()

(@

Provision of property management and other services
In respect of property management services, the
Group’s property management fee is charged
on a lump sum basis. The Group acts as the
principal and is primarily responsible for providing
the property management services to the property
owners, accordingly the Group recognises property
management fee received or receivable from property
owners as its revenue and all related property
management costs as its cost of services. Revenue
from the provision of property management and other
services is recognised over time when the services
are rendered.

Provision of services in relation to operations of the
Recreational Centre

Revenue from the provision of services in relation to
operations of the Recreational Centre is recognised
over time when the related services are rendered.

Sale of goods in relation to operations of the
Recreational Centre

Revenue from the sale of goods in relation to
operations of the Recreational Centre is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer.

Restaurant operation

Revenue from restaurant operation is recognised at
the point in time when catering services have been
provided to customers.

Revenue from other sources
Revenue from rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors of the Company)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange
for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a Black-Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in the share option reserve in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date
fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered
to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Upon the exercise of share options, the resulting shares
issued are recorded by the Company as additional share
capital. In addition, at the time when the share options
are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the
share option reserve will be transferred to the share capital
account.

Options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or
lapse are deleted from the register of outstanding options.
When the share options are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses as a
movement in reserves.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions vest fully once made and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries established
in Mainland China and overseas are currencies other than
HKS$. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into HK$
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of the
exchange fluctuation reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of certain subsidiaries established in Mainland
China and overseas are translated into HK$ at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of these entities which arise throughout
the year are translated into HK$ at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions, that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements and have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are set out
below:

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade and lease receivables, by applying ECL rates to
different ageing groups of trade and lease receivables. The
ECL rate of each ageing group is determined by the Group
based on the average of historical incurred credit loss
experience on each ageing group in the past years and,
where material, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future and significant
management estimates are required in the estimates. When
the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact on the
carrying amounts of trade and lease receivables and the
amount of ECLs provided or reversed in the periods in which
such estimates have been changed. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade and lease receivables is
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

31 December 2022
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties are
assessed by management based on property valuations
performed by independent professionally qualified valuers.
The assumptions adopted in the property valuations are
based on information of annual rental income and property
market price per square metre, supported by (i) the terms
of any existing leases and other contracts; and (ii) (when
possible) external evidence such as current market rents and
recent prices for similar properties in the same location and
condition.

Further details of the fair value estimation of the investment
properties, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are set out in note
16 to the financial statements.

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong,
Mainland China, the USA and the UK. The Group carefully
evaluates tax implications of its transactions in accordance
with prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provision
accordingly. However, judgement is required in determining
the Group’s provision for income taxes as there are many
transactions and calculations, of which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain, during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, the
differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which the determination is made.
The carrying amount of current income tax payables carried
as liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2022 was HK$28,975,000 (2021:
HK$19,107,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

In addition, the Group has investment properties located in
the PRC, the USA and the UK which are measured at fair
value. Investment property is property held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or both. In considering whether the
presumption in HKAS 12 Income Taxes that an investment
property measured at fair value will be recovered through
sale is rebutted in determining deferred tax, the Group has
developed certain criteria in making that judgement, such
as whether an investment property is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time or through sale. The presumption is rebutted only
in the circumstance that there is sufficient evidence such
as a historical transaction, future development plan and
management’s intention to demonstrate that the investment
property is held with the objective to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits over time, rather than through
sale. Continuous assessments on the presumption will be
made by management at each reporting date.

The financial guarantee contracts have been recognised and
measured as detailed in “Financial guarantee contracts” in
note 2.4 to the financial statements. The estimation of fair
value of the Group’s financial guarantee contracts involved
assessment of ECLs which is a significant estimate and the
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast economic conditions. The Group classifies the
credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts as stage
1. Further details are included in note 30(b) to the financial
statements.

31 December 2022
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates
the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest
rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone
credit rating).

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on the nature of their products and
services and has three reportable operating segments as
follows:

(a) the property development and investment segment
from continuing operations engages in property
development and investment in the UK, the USA and
Mainland China;

(b) the property management segment from continuing
operations engages in the provision of property
management and other services for office buildings,
residential properties and car parks in Mainland
China; and

(c) the operation of a leisure and lifestyle experience
centre (the “Recreational Centre”) segment from a
discontinued operation engages in the operation and
management of a leisure and lifestyle experience
centre in Beijing, the PRC. On 31 May 2021, the
Group disposed of the operation of the Recreational
Centre. Further details of the disposal are included in
note 12 below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that head office and corporate income and expenses
are excluded from this measurement.

Segment assets and segment liabilities exclude unallocated
head office and corporate assets and liabilities as these
assets and liabilities are managed on a group basis.

31 December 2022
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M RRHE
—FE - H=+—H

EERREH(E)

EEEEBEEAKES QLRI
o OREME D B EIR K AR -
RM|ERBRERERAB G, BEF
il - MEAEBERIAF BB
B - EPEBARN,BEAEEK
SEHAENEE - ERRETEY
TEEERRATBARER -

RIBEEMNRBEETRIERD ELAAH
RAREEMEAE BHA/ZFEEME
BEEREEmERE

Continuing operations Discontinued operation Total
RERERE FLigsy ait
Property development Total continuing Operation of the
and investment Property management operations Recreational Centre
VELEVUT NEER RREEXNEE fiEmhEE
2022 201 2022 2001 2022 2021 2022 201 2022 201
CB-Cf -“E -5 CB-CE -“E--F CZB-CE -E--F CECCE O -E--F OCECCE OCEC-E
HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  AKS000
Fér At o T . fEn FEn FE TEE TR
Segment revenug fom continuing - REREELSERAIR
operations (note 9) Rhshs) 133668 126164 218608 205151  3m2206  3313% - - 3226 3313%
Segment revenue from a REEHEEZHNR
discontinued operation ot~ e T2)
1) - - - - - - - 14146 - 14
1336068 126184 218608 205151  3m2206  3313% - 1ie w6 345481
Segment results hiagE (346,820 130,060 4261 10292 (04,149 140,362 - (10881) (304149 129471
Reconcilation: HE
Other unalocated incomeand—— ERRSRUA RN G
galns Pl 1400 - 143061 29 144461
Comporate and other nalocated ~ ATIRERAAEER
£Xpenses (30,407) (8,622) - - (30407) 8,622)
Profi/loss) before tax Ralgnl/(Bl) (334217 133130 - 1R800 (342 265310
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R AR Y EE

31 December 2022

4,
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BERREIHGE)
(continued)
Property development
and investment Property management Total
NERRRRE NEER &
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —ECF —E-CF —E-F —E-CE —B_F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Segment assets WREE 5,801,650 6,465,465 306,417 274687 6,108,067 6,740,152
Reconciliation: -
Corporate and other unallocated ~ AFREMANTHEE :
assets:
—Property, plant and equipment  —#1% - BE R 558 59
- Right-of-use assets —(FREEE 2,203 631
— Prepayments, deposits and ~BFE  FTe Rk
other receivables [EMRIE 2,238 2,538
- Cash and cash equivalents -ReRBEEEN 126,992 151,554
Total assets BEE 6,240,058 6,394,934
Segment liabilities RREE 2,596,584 2,677,272 243,461 207,674 2,840,045 2,884,946
Reconciliation: -
Corporate and other unallocated AR REMASEEE
liabilties:
- Other payables and accruals —Hi AT R BERER 4,297 4137
-Dueto ashareholderincluded ~ —JERTRRFE(B AR
in bank and other borrowings RITREMBERFR) 87,506 85,881
— Lease liabilties included in - HEBRE(BENET
bank and other borrowings REMETT) 2,336 651
~ Liabilty component of —KATRERA
perpetual convertiole bonds BEHH 57,245 55,745
Total liabilities aafk 2,991,429 3,031,360




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 5 Rk TR

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WERREE(E)
(continued)
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Total
BREEEEH BLigss Ghl
Property development Total continuing Operation of the
and investment Property management operations Recreational Centre
NERERRE nEER KEREEREE fRERLEE
202 2021 202 2021 202 2021 2022 202 2022 202
_§--F -E--F CECCE “E--F 0 CBCCE O CE--F 0 CBCCE O CE--F 0 CBCCE CEC-E
HK$000 HK8000 HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$1000 HKS000  HK$1000 HK$000
FA7T 7AT 77 7AT 7AT 7AT 7&7 7AT 7&1 FAT
Other segment information: HtER
Capital expenditure® Ly
- Operating segments —mEH% 123,431 103934 250 811 123,681 104,745 - 02 123,681 104807
- Amount unallocated N kit 3119 -
127,460 104,807
Depreciation and amartisation fEREH
- Operating segments ~BERR 716 1015 782 lal 1,498 172 - 3179 1,49 4905
- Amount unallocated N kit 1,709 2233
3201 7,138
Remeasurement ganupon ransler - £ T {ELENZER
ofcertan properties held for RENZG ER
sale to investment properties B 54,175 205416 - - 51,475 265416 - - 51,175 265,416
Fair value loss of investment RENELTESE
oropers, e 94 505 B0 - - P RS - - P B0
mpaiment of rade and EWESREERR
Iease receivables, net RE 58 133 3963 7,989 8523 8,122 12486 - - 8,122 12,486
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * EARTBEANEDE  BENLKR

and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets
and computer software.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(a) Revenue from external customers

4.

EERREH(])

(a) FEIBEFHKA

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Mainland China ey N7 274,821 249,535
The UK < 52,716 60,869
The USA E35 24,739 20,931
352,276 331,335

The revenue information of continuing operations
above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

KREFBEEEBOBABRTIRER

FiEmE, o

(b) FRBHEE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Mainland China Fh B K B 2,841,836 3,192,447
The UK HE 1,133,206 1,423,831
The USA ESe 964,318 856,812
Hong Kong B 2,761 690
4,942,121 5,473,780

The non-current asset information of continuing
operations above is based on the locations of the
assets and excludes financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.

During each of the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021, there was no single external customer which
contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue from
continuing operations for each of these years.

LRIERBEEERABEMRG
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ANBEERIBEE °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R T ot

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

REVENUE 5. A
Disaggregated revenue information of the Group is as REEHNKASTIERGDT -
follows:
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_ZE-_—f+-A=+—HLEE
Property
development
and Property
investment management Total
Y E
Segments it kERE L E3=¢:1 =
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Types of goods or services ERBREER
Rendering of property management and 12 {42 & AR 15
other services - 211,680 211,680
Revenue from restaurant operation ERELEHMBIA = 6,928 6,928
Total revenue from contracts HFPAHBAREE
with customers - 218,608 218,608
Revenue from another source H AR BA
— Gross rental income from investment  — R GRE Y EL L
property operating leases MEHES WAL 133,668 - 133,668
Total revenue Nt 133,668 218,608 352,276
Timing of revenue recognition U\ T R B
Services transferred over time FERF R R = 211,680 211,680
Services transferred at a point in time ~~ FER 2 EZ AR TS = 6,928 6,928
Total revenue from contracts HEAHWM ALz
with customers - 218,608 218,608
Revenue from another source H RN
— Gross rental income from investment — R B &ML=
property operating leases HEMBS WAL 133,668 = 133,668
Total revenue LNt 133,668 218,608 352,276
All revenue from contracts with customers was generated in FIEEFEAHWARFRBIREEA -

Mainland China.
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R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA(#E)
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-—E-—F+—_A=+—HILEE
Property
development
and Property
investment management Total
MR
Segments R RIGE MEER =H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Types of goods or services EmSREES
Rendering of property management and 121 % &8 &
other services HAtb AR 7% - 195,390 195,390
Revenue from restaurant operation ZRELEMFRA - 9,761 9,761
Total revenue from contracts with REEHWALEE
customers - 205,151 205,151
Revenue from another source =D LN
- Gross rental income from investment  — 38 B8 & W) 34L&
property operating leases HENES WA B 126,184 = 126,184
Total revenue ONE 126,184 205,151 331,335
Timing of revenue recognition W A\ FERR B
Services transferred over time K& B B A% AR 7S - 195,390 195,390
Services transferred at a point intime ~~ BE R & B 8875 R 7% - 9,761 9,761
Total revenue from contracts REAHWAEE
with customers - 205,151 205,151
Revenue from another source HhsRBA
— Gross rental income from investment  — R B A ELE
property operating leases HEMHES AR 126,184 = 126,184
Total revenue LONGE 126,184 205,151 331,335
All revenue from contracts with customers was generated in FiB R P& 8 AR B RBEEA o

Mainland China.
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5.

REVENUE (continued)

Notes:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R T ot

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

5. IA(##E)
Hia -

(a)

(b)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period:

(a)

TRINTRA S B R R
S8 EFFABRSHINANAE

2022 2021

—E=-= —T—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Property management services YEEBRTE 49,620 30,614

No revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2022 related to performance obligations satisfied or partially
satisfied in previous periods (2021: Nil).

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations in
contracts with customers is summarised below:

Provision of property management services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment in advance is normally required.

Restaurant operation
The performance obligation is satisfied when the catering
services have been provided to customers. The Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly cash or smart
cards settlement on delivery. The credit period is generally
less than one month.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15 to its revenue from the provision of property
management and other services for not disclosing the
remaining performance obligations under the Group’s
existing contracts as the Group recognises revenue from
the satisfaction of the performance obligation in the amount
to which the Group has a right to consideration from a
customer that corresponds directly with the value to the
customer of the entity’s performance completed to date.
In addition, for all other contracts in which the performance
obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue
with an original expected duration of one year or less, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed as permitted under HKFRS 15.

(b)

REBE-ZT-_—_F+=-A=+—H
IEEFE - WARRERELAHAEE B
TRIHDBITHBLAEEEREHK
ANZZT=Z—F:8])-

BREE
ERAEERTEFPANANENR
ERERT AT

FERYEETERE
R #E EREZ R E RGO R E R
17 BBARFEREMNK -

B
BHBEERERRE P RHEEHKR
BRERT AKBRFPEEI
ReRERREETARS - B
H—RR—ERNRT -

AEEBRBEBY B RS ELE
165 2 BERER 251 - iR M
MEEIE R E MRS 2 WS BR T
BREAEEREGEN T ZHR TR
BEff - AEEHERARRERTE
WEEMELE  MAXEAEER
FERERE MRELAHEZAR
LTERBROEEZREFPEEAERMN
5o peoh - RIRHETE SR
BREHFHR—FRUARREZ
FAEMENNS @ REEWHR
SERFSHEAA  HEEZE

REBTEHNZR BTN THRE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6.

An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains, net from
continuing operations is as follows:

Htuk AR a o (B8R
AR R R TS R A B
@ FEAFMT :

204

2022 2021
—E-CF T
Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
et FET FEIT
Other income Hiug A
Bank interest income RITHBHA 428 221
Interest income from loan JE U B XA B
receivables 23(a) 4,072 4,838
Compensation from a EBEZHE
contractor (@) 12,921 -
Government grants NEgNE (b) 5,411 4,224
Financial guarantee income RS E R YA 30(b) 11,112 1,740
Interest income from a KEZRAFEETA
principal-protected BmHRARE
investment deposit at R A A
fair value through profit or
loss 242 -
Others Hh 10,463 9,639
44,649 20,662
Other gains, net Hnkzs - B8
Foreign exchange gain, net SNEN S - SFER - 2,076
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & —EHE A &
& 37 3,809 =
3,809 2,076
48,458 22,738
Notes: Kt -
(@) The amount represented compensation received from a (@) ZHEERIEER KRS —TEE
contractor upon termination of a construction contract for EREMENEEAAOMKREEE
an investment property under construction in Culver City, PERYAR(E o
the USA.
(b) The amount mainly represented government subsidies, (o) ZRBETEERRSME  EBER R

value-added tax refund and other tax refunds. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

grants.

HHERK - SEEM AR
REMRGIHHAEL -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M RRHE
31 December 2022 —ZE_-—#F+_-A=+—H
FINANCE COSTS 7. HMBEA
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs from continuing REBREBELEEBNVIEERD
operations is as follows: MEATR
2022 2021
—EB-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
it FET FET
Interest on loans from banks 71T & & Bl IR A4
and financial institutions BB 66,205 29,767
Interest on a loan from ViN/NC] iR el
a shareholder of the BEREFE
Company 31(c) 1,624 1,612
Interest on loans from FEEHIERREEN
director-controlled entities =0kl 31(d) 727 378
Imputed interest on a loan FEEHIERRMEN
from a director-controlled EREHEE RS
entity 31(d) 1,061 1,055
Interest on a quasi-loan MBARCEERR
equity contributed by a AEABERHEER
joint venture partner of a TR A
subsidiary 31(e) 13,423 54,133
Interest on loans from B FE = FREN
independent third parties BERHFE 31(f) 52,002 19,797
Interest on perpetual KA ESFI S
convertible bonds 32 1,500 1,279
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 293 64
Total financial costs S ERAE 136,835 108,085
Less: Amount capitalised in B RTERREMER
investment property EAR(EFRIE
under construction (385) -
136,450 108,085
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 8.

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax from continuing
operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

WRAEF,(BiR)

AEEREFERE

EBHBANER,

(BB, (%) THIRIE :

2022 2021
—E-CF T
Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
HiaE FAETT FEIT
Depreciation of property, W - BB NRREITE
plant and equipment 15 937 1,002
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets 17(a) 1,944 2,809
Amortisation of computer B
software 18 326 148
Loss on disposal of items HEYE  BE KRG
of property, plant and THH /SR
equipment = 13
Write-off of property, plant MWEEE - R K&
and equipment 3 -
Employee benefit expenses EERFER(BHE
(including directors’ EEEHM(H29)) -
remuneration (note 9)):
Salaries, allowances and e EMNEY
benefits in kind Mz 62,096 63,631
Pension scheme RIS EIER
contributions 1,395 1,665
63,491 65,296
Auditor’s remuneration Z RN 5 2,180 2,050
Foreign exchange differences, [ ¥, =58 %58
net 13,559 (2,076)
Remeasurement of financial B EVEEREL
guarantee contracts 30(b) 9,306 4,248
Loss/(gain) on disposal of a HEHBARIER
subsidiary (Wezs) 37 (3,809) 48,490
Fair value loss recycled RHEELRAFEETA
from equity upon disposal E 2wl ER
of debt investments at & 1% B Rz BIURHY
fair value through other NEERE
comprehensive income 19 - 1,904




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EEHM

BIEBIEES EMBANT EHRE
Al )) ~ HACR A ) 3 383(1)@) -
0) * O ROHIEARCAR(HESZEFZ
BRDEFDE 2 BEEN AT EERH
Ban T

Group
REE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Fees e 1,324 1,040
Other emoluments: E RN
Salaries, allowances and e EZMNEYH G
benefits in kind - 257
Pension scheme contributions RIRES T2 RN 54 45
54 302
Total remuneration FrEN4aEE 1,378 1,342
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EFEFHM(E)

(continued)

An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named

basis, is as follows:

EEHFMOAER REE)DITIT

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind contributions remuneration
e 2EH Bike
ok BN HEGES 270 o
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E_—_5+_-8
=t-HLEE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Wei Chunxian (‘Mr. We") ML (BE4E]) 480 - 18 498
Mr. Sun Zhongmin (‘Mr. Sun”) BRREA([HREE]) 484 - 18 502
Ms. Li Bing FERLT = = - -
964 - 36 1,000
Independent non-executive directors: BV HHTEE :
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERELE 120 - 6 126
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEEL+ 120 - 6 126
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming BT AE 120 - 6 126
360 - 18 378
Total &= 1,324 - 54 1,378
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_E-_-5+_-8
=t+—-HLEE
Executive directors: HITEE .
Mr. Wei e 480 - 18 498
Ms. Liu Shuhua® ZREr Lo - - = =
Mr. Sun FkE 200 - 209
Ms. Huang Feif mIEL L - 257 - 257
Ms. Li Bing FEUOT = = = =
680 257 27 964
Independent non-executive directors: BV HHTEE :
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERELE 120 - 6 126
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEEL+ 120 - 6 126
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming RIS A 120 - 6 126
360 - 18 378
Total 1,040 257 45 1,342




10.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(continued)

@ Resigned as an executive director of the Company on 1
April 2021.

* Resigned as an executive director of the Company on 28
September 2021.

Note: There was no arrangement under which a director waived

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2021:
Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
(2021: Nil) director, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the three
(2021: five) non-director, highest paid employees for the year
are as follows:

31 December 2022

10.

M RRMEE
—EF -+ —HA=4+—H

EEHFMGE)

e R_ZE——FNOA—HEEARQA
WITES o

5 R-IE-_—FANA-FN\BEEA
DRIAITES °

Hiat - FANEE B RESRERE T
SHLH (T —F ) o

AR ESFHFER

FA - AfEEHEETEEMNGES
(ZZ=—F : |®) - EF0FR X
H9 FAN=ZZ(ZZT=_—F: AL}k
EENRRFREE ZHFMFBNT -

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EBNE YR
in kind 3,856 5,473
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET B 90 36
3,946 5,509

i 2022 ESHEARAT 209



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AfiEEHES (&)
(continued)
The number of the non-director highest paid employees FTMERA A TEEANIEEERS R
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as EMAELT :
follows:
Number of employees
EEAE
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 1,000,000 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L&
1,500,000/ 7T 2 8
3 B
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 11. FRSMEH (E®)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year (2021: Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in countries/jurisdictions in which
the Group operates, based on the prevailing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

An analysis of the Group’s income tax charge/(credit) is as

RAEE - ARAKEY EEEEAR
FERAEENERTSH - At - W&
AEEMNEHA REE(ZE_—F:
&) e

H A 77 B E RSN < HRACAREA
NRITEAR  RBRIEM - BAKH
LEMRERKBERRMRITH R

o

S

im

AEEREHER,/(BR)DITIT :

follows:

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current — Mainland China & H — B KR 12,413 5,335
Current — UK B H— S E 7,160 3,560
Current — USA & —XE - 583
Deferred (note 33) B (H7£33) (33,724) 47,405

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FRFEER (FE)
4a g (14,151) 56,883
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11.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022

M RRHE
—EF -+ —HA=4+—H

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 11. Fif8IREBA (E%)(&)
(continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to RBBERARA R RERZHHE A A
profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory tax rates for the EEMEMA A SRS
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of (B EERRAELENHRBEER,
its subsidiaries operate to the tax expense/(credit) at the () - BHIREERBRERAEHNTIIES
effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable tax B GRe)EER - AR ERFR=R(ED
rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, EEME)MEBERHEERIOT
are as follows:
Year ended 31 December 2022 —E--E+=-A=+—HLEEE
Hong Kong Mainland China Overseas Total
B PEARE 55 fif
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HKS$'000 %  HK$'000 %
A7 FAT A7 FET

Loss before tax from continuing REBELLERE

operations HaEE (30,091) (177,495) (126,691) (334,277)
Tax expense at the statutory REEHETER

{exrate HEER (4,965) 165 (44374 %0 (25566) 202 (74905 24
Income not subject to tax Rl ON (47) 0.2 (6,310) 36 (4,025) 32 (10,382) 34
Expenses not deductible for tax RAENEERER 5,012 (16.7) 6,343 86 42214 (333 53569 (16.0)
Adjustment in respect of current SBBRENDE

tax of previous periods HIBfELMHRE - - - - 1,067 (1.6) 1,067 (06)
Tax losses utiised from HARTHEER

previous period - - (746) 04 - - (746) 0.2
Tax losses not recognised KEZHBER - - 10,088 (5.7) 6,258 (5.0) 16,346 4.9
Tax expense/(crecit) at the A EERHE S

Group's effective tax rate HEBR/(B%) - - (34,999) 19.7 20,848 (165)  (14,151) 42
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 1. FASREH (E%)(HE)
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-—E-—F+-—A=+—HILEE
Hong Kong Mainland China Overseas Total
% EARE B Ait
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %
FA7 & T &

Profit/{loss) before tax from i L g

continuing operations %}1’ il (F8) (21,899) 175,905 (20,876) 133,130
Profit before tax from a RERHEEEBH

discontinued operation GEThavl - 132,180 - 132,180

(21,899) 308,085 (20,876) 265,310

Tax expense at the statutory REERETER

taxrale HEER (3613) 165 77,02 %0 (5113 245 68295 %517
Income not subjgct to tax BRBHABA (3,700) 169 (38,026) (123) (4,327) 07 (46,053 (174)
Expenses not deductible for tax AEATIERER 7,295 (33.3) 5,220 17 3,080 (148) 15595 59
Adjustment in respect of current gt il

tax of previous periods ROAELRRE - - 670 0.2 678 8.2 1,348 0.5
Tax losses not recognised RERHEEE 18 (0.4) 1,11 38 5,909 (28.3) 17,698 6.7
Tax expense at the Group’s BRERERHZ

effective tax rate HEMREER - - 56,656 18.4 227 1.9) 56,883 214
Tax expense from continuing B R

operations at the effective rate SHENFIEER - - 56,656 184 221 (14) 56,883 214
Taxexpense fomadiscontinued RS IHELEBEREH X

operation at the effective rate STERTEER - - - - - - - -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

DISCONTINUED OPERATION 12. FILIEEER
On 31 May 2021, the Company announced the decision R-EBE_—FFA=+—H ARAE
of its board of directors to dispose of Rui Hua Investment HMEERLEHERMTEEFRA A
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Rui Hua (RARNEEMBAR)ZRE ° $iFE
Investment Limited and its subsidiaries engage in operation AR EBER AT REMEB A AR EL
of the Recreational Centre. The Group decided to cease ERRPLHER - AERERAEFILER
such business to reduce further loss and commitment to RAZERS - INRD B EBNE—FER
such business and realign its resources to focus on its core NoAdE - WEFFARREERASE TNE
business of property development, property investment YRR MERERYESIEHNZL
and property management. Further details are set out in X5 - EHHBEHNARRBHAZT
the Company’s announcement dated 31 May 2021. The ——FRAZ=Z+—HWRAM - HEHE
disposal of Rui Hua Investment Limited was completed on K EBER AT ZEEHEN T ——
31 May 2021. FRA=T—HZHK °
The results of Rui Hua Investment Limited and its subsidiaries HEXMICEAR A REMBRARRN
for the year ended 31 December 2021 are presented below: BE T -_—F+-_A=+—HItFE
RZEEZ5)00F ¢
2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
TE7T
Revenue YA 14,146
Other income and gains, net E A A RN a5 428
Expenses FZ (25,069)
Finance costs 2RI (386)
(10,881)
Gain on disposal of the discontinued HEEIEELER 2 s
operation (note 37) (H1:£37) 143,061
Profit before tax from the discontinued KRB AR E TSR A )
operation 132,180
Income tax expense e -
Profit for the year from the discontinued REFILEEEBHNRER
operation i Al 132,180
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

12.

13.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 12. SI-ESE%E(\)

The net cash flows incurred by Rui Hua Investment Limited HERIMMILEFR AR RENB AR
and its subsidiaries are as follows: EERSREFHMAT
2021
T —F
HK$’000
FHET
Operating activities KRS (2,729)
Investing activities KEEH 363
Financing activities BEES) 5,913
Net cash inflow REMAFEE 3,547
Earnings per share: BREF
Basic, from the discontinued operation AR REFEIFEEER HK4.13 cents
Diluted, from the discontinued operation g REEILEEER HK2.90 cents
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share from REFIEEEBNTRERNREEE
the discontinued operation are based on: MIRIBEATEE A E -
2021
—E-—F
Profit attributable to shareholders of the ANAFIRRIEE R BIF LA & %5
Company from the discontinued operation Epeapil HK$132,180,000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares RErESRERZNEFEANHAL
in issue during the period used in the basic BT BRI B (Mt 14)
earnings per share calculation (note 74) 3,199,373,986
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Rt EEFRESE BRI FE R
used in the diluted earnings per share TR I (S 14)
calculation (note 14) 4,563,516,372
DIVIDEND 13. KR
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final EEZRUITEERBEE_ S __F+=
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 Nil). A=+t—HLEFERGREARE(ZE

——F ) o



14.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount
is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2022, no
adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented in respect of a dilution as the impact
of the perpetual convertible bonds outstanding had an
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amounts
presented.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2021, the
calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company, adjusted to reflect the deemed conversion of all
dilutive perpetual convertible bonds at the beginning of that
year, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in the calculation is the total of (i) the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during that year, as used
in the basic earnings per share calculation; (i) the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued on the deemed conversion of all dilutive perpetual
convertible bonds into ordinary shares of the Company; and
(iii) the weighted average number of ordinary shares with
effect of dilution of share options.

31 December 2022

14.

M RRMEE
—FE - H=+—H

FATIRREESERRT
(E51R)

FRAERN,(BER)TIREARA BBIRE
HEREN, (BR) RFRNEETER
B FEBET RS -

RBUE—T-_—F+_A=+—HLHF
EmME - BMEREREEEZTNERE
REFELFAE - REABRRITHEKA
AR ES 2 FEH M2 ERER
EBEAREE(ER -

RELE—F - —F+-_A=1+—HILF
EmE @ SEEERNIREARRK
REMEFRENE - WHEARRR
FRIEEIM TS RS EHKAR]
BEES - MatE TR RS BAINEF
BEURATIREB 2B « ()i ESRE
RBMESATRNFEARNE RITEBRINE
FHE G (R EIEERAEAEETE
HIKA AR E S R A R B B B R R
REBTH L BRAEFIE K i) &
BEIREFIHE - WE R K EBEAE#

S B2 4R
/@E&E °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 14. FAFBRREESRERT
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF (E51|)(]|)
THE COMPANY (continued)
The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per BREAARRBERT,(EIE) TR
share amounts are based on the following data: TEBEAESD
Earnings/(loss) BR(B8)
2022 2021
—EC-CFE BT —F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FAET FET
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to AARBREELAFE
shareholders of the Company, used wA(EE) - AR
in the basic earnings/(loss) per share STEEREARERN,
calculation: (F8) :
From continuing operations REFERLEER (320,126) 75,445
From discontinued operation RAFIHEEETR = 132,180
(320,126) 207,625
Interest on perpetual convertible bonds sk A AT AR (E 5 KO 7.2, = 1,279
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ~ RstEGREERT
shareholders of the Company, used (E18) RE R AR A
in the diluted earnings/(loss) per R EEAFE T
share calculation (E18) (320,126) 208,904
Attributable to: VATNIE B FEfS :
Continuing operations RIS TS (320,126) 76,724
Discontinued operation EIEEER = 132,180
(320,126) 208,004
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P 355 Ak B

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 14. FLFBREEGSERET
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF (E548) (#8)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Number of ordinary shares

ZARHE
2022 2021
—E-CfF —E-—fF
Weighted average number of ordinary RetEBRELRTR,/
shares in issue during the year, used (ER)RERANAEE
in the basic earnings/(loss) per share BT L AR NET9E
calculation 3,199,373,986 3,199,373,986
Effect of dilution of perpetual convertible 5k A A #A AR (& 2 I BE AR AE EY
bonds and share options — weighted a2 T EiR E
average number of ordinary shares EH - 1,364,142,386
Weighted average number of ordinary Rt EGREERT
shares in issue during the year, used (BB BEANAEE
in the diluted earnings/(loss) per share BT L AR NET 9
calculation 3,199,373,986 4,563,516,372
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. P1% - BERK{E

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HENE &R £EN
% BAZERE AE CH
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FE FE FE FE
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E--%
TZAZT-HLEE
At 1 January 2022: R-E-—&—f—7:
Cost A 641 7,035 2,546 10,222
Accumulated depreciation SEHE (595) (4,921) (2,330) (7,846)
Net carrying amount EE%E 46 2,114 216 2,376
Net carrying amount: EEHE -
At1 January 2022 RZB==%—f—H 46 2,114 216 2,376
Additions e 640 180 - 820
Depreciation provided during the year (note 8) - 7 sH24r & (f:28) (157) (694) (86) (937)
Write-off s _ @) _ @)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 37) HE—FEHBAT
| (Hit57) - o) - )
Exchange realignment [ E - (145) (15) (160)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ_F
+-A=t+-8 529 1,447 115 2,091
At 31 December 2022: i ——
+-RA=1-R:
Cost B%N 1,281 6,639 2,339 10,259
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (752) (5,192) (2,224) (8,168)
Net carrying amount FHFE 529 1,447 115 2,091




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 5 Rk TR

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. V¥  BERBRR (&)

(continued)
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
MEME &M KEW
3 YN B =5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-E--f
TZAZ+-BLEFE
At 1 January 2021: i S 2l =
Cost PR 10,852 26,327 2,656 39,835
Accumulated depreciation 25t & (8,329) (21,061) (2,216) (31,606)
Net carrying amount FEFAE 2,523 5,266 440 8,229
Net carrying amount: FRFE:
At 1 January 2021 R-E-_—%—f—H 2,523 5,266 440 8,229
Additions N - 638 - 638
Depreciation provided during the year AEEFE (702) (1,512 (227) (2,441)
Disposals HE = (16) = (16)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HERBAR(H737) (1,806) (2,412) 1) (4,225)
Exchange realignment I 31 150 10 191
At 31 December 2021 s
+-A=1+-H 46 2,114 216 2,376
At 31 December 2021: i
+-A=1+-H
Cost XA 641 7,035 2,546 10,222
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (595) (4,921) (2,330) (7,846)
Net carrying amount EHFE 46 2,114 216 2,376
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31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. BREYXE
Under
Completed construction Total
=535 EEHR a5
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FAETT
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Htit(a) (K1zt b))
Carrying amount as at RZE-—F
1 January 2021 —A—H/ERMmE 4,443,993 209,316 4,653,309
Additions NE 22,440 79,328 101,768
Net gain/(loss) from fair value NHEFAREEN
adjustments Tz (E1E) (61,381) 10,830 (50,551)
Transfer from properties held for & B {EHE W%
sale (note (c)) (Hiit () 672,737 = 672,737
Exchange realignment P i, A2 88,797 1,443 90,240
Carrying amount as at RZEZ—F
31 December 2021 and +—A=+—EBK
1 January 2022 —E-F
—A—BEHREE 5,166,586 300,917 5,467,503
Additions NE - 123,428 123,428
Net loss from fair value adjustments A {E R E £
FER (388,425) (7,527) (395,952)
Transfer from properties held for EEEHELEE
sale (note (c)) (K1izc) 145,015 = 145,015
Exchange realignment bE X (404,383) (354) (404,737)
Carrying amount as at RZE-__F+_H
31 December 2022 =t+t—HWEEE 4,518,793 416,464 4,935,257




16.

(@)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes:

The Group’s completed investment properties as at 31
December 2022 represented a commercial building located
in London, the UK; a commercial and residential complex
located in Santa Monica, the County of Los Angeles, State
of California, the USA (the “US Complex”); and a commercial
building located in Beijing, the PRC, which are leased to
third parties under operating leases, further summary details
of which are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

The Group’s investment property under construction as at
31 December 2022 and 2021 represented a parcel of land
located in Culver City, the USA (the “Culver City project”).

During the year, the use of certain units in the properties
held for sale has been changed upon the inception of
operating leases with external third parties. As a result, the
leased portion of the properties held for sale was transferred
to completed investment properties and a remeasurement
gain of HK$51,175,000 (2021: HK$265,416,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

Each year, the Group’s senior management decides which
external valuers to be appointed for the external valuations
of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained.

The Group’s senior management has ongoing discussions
with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and results
when the valuations are performed. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 December 2022 and 2021
based on valuations performed by Colliers International
(Hong Kong) Limited, Colliers International Property
Consultants Limited and Cushman & Wakefield Western,
Inc., independent professionally qualified valuers.

31 December 2022

M RRHE
—FE - H=+—H

16. EBEHME(E)

HEE

(@)

RZBZZF+_A=+—HAEE
B2 EEKIREMERMNEE M
B —EBEEET R EE A
BREDMNEEHKEERERHHEE
HEME(ERSREME] + R
RABIERE — B ERT - 2E
FRELEHELHTFE=1 ' &
E—SMEFBHERMBREM T
17 ©

RZTE-_—FR-_FT-_—F+=-A
Et+—HAXKEZERPREME
FEUREBR KRB B 2 — 38 i
([<ERZIER 1) ©

RAFEE @ BINBE=FHFE
HE®%  BIELEMENDHE
ZEREEEE c At NAFE
BIEHEEEMNHERDES
EER IR B ME RN B N TER
5 B51,175,000/8 L ( — T = —
£F : 265,416,000/87T) °

s
JT

BF  ARBERAEERERELRME
B—HKNELEMAEAREYE
EVSNER 1B - BUERERI BT IS A
B BUERERERFERNKE -

AEESREREHE G ERNEEST
HERFENREERIRER -
MRIBZZFR-_FTZ—F+_A
=+—B AKEEZREMEHE
VEESEABGBEMSIBEEY
¥ER(BHF)BR AT - Collers
International Property Consultants
Limited X Cushman & Wakefield
Western, Inc.fE BB AERHETT
EHAE -
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31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H
16.
Notes: (continued)
(d) (continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, fair value measurements
of all of the Group’s investment properties are using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 as defined in HKFRS
18). During the year, there was no transfer into or out of

Level 3 (2021:Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of the Group’s investment

RAEYMRR)
wiit - (&)
@

AP EERHEE

RZBEZZFR-_T-—F+=
B=+—8  A&BFMEEED
WA FEFEHEREATA
BERGABE(F=ZBL)(FER
BRI HHRELERE135E) - B
AEE BMESASERE=E

BROATESE(F

&)

AT BRAEEREMEEEMRRBD

—Z—%F:

fAERM R ERAERRE

properties:
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range of input
R E R EATTHEBAE BAEEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-F
Completed investment properties
BERRENE
A commercial building Income capitalisation () Equivalent yield 4.93% 4.38%
in UK (i) Unit market rent £66.34 per £64.19 per
per month square foot of square foot of
gross floor area gross floor area
REE R EEEF WAB R ) HEKEE 4.93% 4.38%
(i) BRAELMmSES SYFRABEEE STHFRAEERE
66.34 5 % 64.19% 8%
The US Complex Income capitalisation ()  Capitalisation rate 3.75% 3.5%
(i) Unit market rent US$51-US$78 US$47-US$81
per month per square foot of per square foot of
gross floor areaand  gross floor area and
US$4,487-US$8,171  US$5,100-US$8,800
per unit of bedroom  per unit of bedroom
or townhouse or townhouse
EEFEME WAB R ) BRfE 3.75% 3.5%
(i) BRAEfMSES SYFRABEEE BSTHFRAEERE
51XTZ78E TR YTETEBIETR
BENBER BEMEE
BHEE4487TRTE  HHHETE100% T2
81T1ETR 8,800 7T



Notes: (continued)

©)

g el E
31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=1+—H
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. &% (i)
it - (&)
(continued) (@) (®)
Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued) ANFEHERBEE(E)
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range of input
fRERM BARAHERAR BABEE
2022 2021
—E-CE —E_—F
A commercial building Direct comparison () Sales comparison RMB36,400- RMB55,800-
in the PRC RMB44,500 RMB68,200
per square metre per square metre
for retail and for retail and
RMB45,594- RMB44,607-
RMB50,496 RMB57,513
per square metre per square metre
for office for office
R B EEET L AVA () HEXR ZEEBYAK ZEBETAK
AK¥36,4007T 2 AR#55,800702
AR¥44,50070 K AR 68,2007t K&
BAZGELK MARFERK
AR¥4550402 ARE44,607LE
AR #50,4967T AR¥57,5137C
Investment property under construction
EEPREYHE
The Culver City project Direct comparison () Sales comparison US$771 US$771
per square foot per square foot
of land area of land area
REFMIEE BEREERE () HELR BYAREEEEE STHIREEEEE
TMER TTET

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

223



224

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

The investment properties of the Group were valued using
the income capitalisation approach and direct comparison
approach. The income capitalisation approach is applied
based on net rental income that can be derived from
existing tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary
potential of the properties.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental
value in isolation would result in a significant increase/
(decrease) in the fair value of the investment properties. A
significant increase/(decrease) in the equivalent yield and
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for
the estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally
similar change in the rental value and an opposite change in
the equivalent yield and the capitalisation rate.

The direct comparison approach is applied based on
market price by referencing comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant markets. Market price is one of
the key inputs, taking into account the time, location and
individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the market price used
would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties.

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment properties
were all pledged to secure financial guarantee contracts
(note 30(b)), banking facilities granted to the Group (note
31(a)) and loans from financial institutions (note 31(0)).

At 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s investment
properties with a total carrying amount of HK$4,652,702,000
were pledged to secure financial guarantee contracts (note
30(b)), a banking facility granted to the Group (note 31(a)), a
loan from a financial institution (note 31(b)) and loans from a
joint venture partner of a subsidiary (note 31(g)).

16. EEME(E)

Hii -

©)

(%)

(&

DFEERE ()
AEENREMERBRAEARE
EREELBORETHE - BAK
ABRNOEBSBERASEREGH
EHFHEHRA - XZRAREH
YIEHEREN -

BEGAHESEBERNELA (T
f) @ BB EME RN FEAE LT
(TR&) - EEREXREREES
BARELA (TR SEHREY
EAFEREBTRE (L) - —R
mE - At ESEEMERRA
S HEHESEERRT RS
PUARFEERRERENMEERER
TTIRHEEE -

HERLEENERTIREBEMISER
WLERBATS LW AL EHER
SHET - THEBRRETEBAERLZ
— Y& RAT LB R R R 2
-~ 1B R EBRARNEAE MR -

B (2 A T AR A I 0 R )
GEBRANEH DT EARL
#,/(FB8) -

RZTEZ—F+=ZA=+—H " &
SEEREHREMEEARTA
SERMBERE L (MFE300))
RITRVE (MH3E31(@)) B3R A & Bk
B2 B (FIFES1(0) Z MR ©

RZTE=Z—F+=ZA=+—H " &
S EHEIFEREE & ££4,652,702,000
BITHETIREMEERETAE
B K B ISR E 49 (M 5E30()) ~ 3R
TEEE (MI7E31(a)) « RE S BB
ZEF(KEE31(b) Rk A —FHEH B
RRIZAERREBRAZER (M
31(e)) Z &R ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LEASES

The Group leases its investment properties (note 16)
consisting of a commercial property in the UK, one residential
and commercial property in the USA and one commercial
property in the PRC to third parties and related parties
in which two directors of the Company have beneficial
interests, under operating lease arrangements for terms
ranging between 1 and 15 years (2021: 1 and 15 years).
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the contract terms. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was HK$133,668,000 (2021:
HK$126,184,000), details of which are included in note 5 to
the financial statements.

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

31 December 2022

17.

M RRHE
—FE - H=+—H

HE

AEERBLERELHRE =TT KA
RAMBES A Emigm RS o
FAEZEYE (MzE16) (BIEEERERN
—HEAYE  EEEN—BEERD
AMERTEHREN—BERAYE) - 8
EHBIFEF(ZTE_—F  1FE
166 ) T - ZEHEMBR—MEK
P HRES @ WAl ARIEAS HIEK
TEHAERS - AEBERAFERERL
e U A A133,668,0008 L( =T ——
& 1 126,184,000/ 0) © HFFBaF AR
TSR PIFES ©

KRB —_F+_A=+—1H  &x5£H
BREEEAFETH AT AELCENR
& IRARREIEUER R AR IT R B E R 5K
N

2022 2021

—EC-CFE —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEr

Within one year —F R 169,777 98,826
After one year but within two years —FBERFEAN 135,145 116,846
After two years but within three years MEBREB=FRA 95,801 89,992
After three years but within four years —FREBENFA 57,221 72,763
After four years but within five years MERERFA 33,179 42,071
After five years HF% 226,416 202,605
Total aEr 717,539 623,103

The Group’s operating lease receivables as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are disclosed in note 22 to the financial
statements.

AEFRN —_E-_—FR_F-_—F+—
A=+—HrE I SRR I %
A2 HHEE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

17. LEASES (continued) 17. #HE(HE)
The Group has lease arrangements as a lessee for office AEBEAAEA  HERAREEKE
premises for use in its operations. Leases of office premises BRMASYECHEELRH - i S
have lease terms between 3 and 4 years. Generally, the EOHENTHERAIR4LIE - —KMm
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased S REENA[AAEB LA A THEE
assets outside the Group. All the lease contracts do not EHHEHEEEE - TEHEESNETE
include any extension and termination options and variable SRR AR R ERE KA S E 1
lease payments. Ko
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a EHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use AEEZFAEEERTELN
assets and the movements during the year are as FEEHHMT :
follows:
Office Motor
premises vehicle Total
WAEYE RE =5
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2021 N —%F
—H—H 5,479 26 5,505
Additions INE 2,166 - 2,166
Depreciation provided during AEEFHRINE
the year (4,523) (26) (4,549)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)  HEWBAR(H/237) (230) = (230)
Exchange realignment P 5 A 88 - 33
As at 31 December 2021 and NZE—_—F
1 January 2022 +=-A=+—H
E—TE-_—F
—H—H 2,925 - 2,925
Additions NE 3,110 - 3,110
Depreciation provided during AEGHRITE
the year (note 8) (#1:#8) (1,944) = (1,944)
Exchange realignment BEE 3, 2 3 - 3
As at 31 December 2022 NZE__fF
+=—A=+—H 4,094 - 4,094




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MR R M
31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=1+—H
17. LEASES (continued) 17. #HE(HE)
(b)  Lease liabilities REBEREBAE)
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under (b) HEAFE
bank and other borrowings) and the movements HEBRCEAE(BERITR
during the year are as follows: HMER) RAFEEFHMT :
2022 2021
—E_C “E-—fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—ANEKEE 3,045 5,483
New leases FHE 3,110 2,166
Accretion of interest recognised REEB RN SILE
during the year 293 64
Payments E (2,127) (4,469)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR = (245)
Exchange realignment B i S EE 2 46
At 31 December (note 37) N+=A=+—H
(H17231) 4,323 3,045
Portion classified as current liabiltes D EARE & E2FH (1,378) (1,058)
Non-current portion JEBNERER > 2,945 1,987
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBENEIE B DT ENTBHRE
note 44 to the financial statements. BizE44 o
(c)  Other lease information (c) HMBEEEZE
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to B EBHEN BN ERN 2
leases are as follows: N
2022 2021
—E-F —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE 293 64
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {EREEENE 1,944 4,549
Total amount recognised in RIER AR FKIE
profit or loss FEtC) 2,237 4,622

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
38(c) to the financial statements.

THERIR M AR =R ISR R M
7£38(c) °
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31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

18. COMPUTER SOFTWARE 18. El&EH
2022 2021
—E-CF —E- %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January: R—H—R:
Cost DN 1,532 1,825
Accumulated amortisation B £ (556) (877)
Net carrying amount RESE 976 948
Net carrying amount: AREDHE -
At 1 January R—A—H 976 948
Additions NE 102 235
Amortisation provided during the year RNEFHZEE (H7:78)

(note 8) (326) (148)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HEHB AR (A7:£37) - (90)
Exchange realignment B SR (73) 31
At 31 December R+=—A=+—~1 679 976

At 31 December: W+—A=+—8:
Cost AR 1,490 1,532
Accumulated amortisation At (811) (556)
Net carrying amount AREFE 679 976
19. DEBT INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 19. BRAFEHARMZEINE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

HRBRE

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income of the Group represented the unlisted debt
investments and were designated as financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the
Group plans to both hold the financial assets to collect their
contractual cash flows and sell them, as appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the gross loss
in respect of fair value remeasurement of the unlisted debt
investments recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$808,000 and a loss on disposal of certain
unlisted debt investments amounting to HK$1,904,000 was
recycled to profit or loss. The debt investments have been
disposed of during the year ended 31 December 2021.

228 GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AEEZEAHES AR EERESNE
BRERFLHEHRE - BRIEER
BAFEFAEMEZEARENEBRE
ZE - THRASEEFASREEN
WENE S KR EREMHE (HER) °

BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEF
B BERRNEME2EKRIENIELTE
BREZEFHEAFEZEEIES
808,000/ 7T Kk H & & T3 EmERK
& 2 518 51,904,000/ L B RO £ 18
e ERREER T -_—F+_A
=t+—HHE-
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31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

19.

20.

21.

DEBT INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 19. BAFEGFARMZEKE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE MEHFRE(E)

INCOME (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
are as follows:

SRR HEAEZZNT ¢

HK$’000

FET

At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—F—HF—H 24,562
Addition NE 36,141

Loss from fair value adjustment NERARERE (808)

Disposal HE (60,982)
Exchange realignment M 1,087

At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and RZB-_—F+-A=+—8H"
31 December 2022 —E-__F—AF—HB~K

—E__F+HA=+—H =

During the prior year, there were no transfers of fair value RBEFEE  pRIELMERFEREMS -

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for the unlisted debt investments.

F—REE R ABEAVEAESE
% MESBAEHE=R -

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 20. FHEHEME
Properties held for sale of the Group as at 31 December AEERZE__FRZF_—F+=
2022 and 2021 represented a certain portion of a A=1+—H 2 e EWERL N E
commercial building located in Beijing, the PRC. IR —EEEEFHE—FD °
As at 31 December 2022, the properties held for sale were RZZEZ=ZF+=-A=1+—H  &~5&H
pledged to secure a financial guarantee contract (note 30(b)) ERBELENEEARTAEERN
and a banking facility granted to the Group (note 31(a)) (2021: IS ERE 4 (M 3E300)) R IRTTREE
certain of properties held for sale with a carrying amount of (FIzE31@) 2 ER(ZE=—F : 1%
HK$624,283,000 were pledged to secure the loans from a ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%@fﬁﬁesm,za&ooo;‘%ﬁm%
joint venture partner of a subsidiary (note 31(g))). THRELNEMHEIERRE —HMBA
ZEERRERAZES E’J?f?‘ﬁ(ﬁﬁﬁ
31()) °
INVENTORIES 21. &8/
2022 2021
—EC-CE B
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET T
Operating items for restaurant operations B EEAL & K 4K T8 B 19 39
Repair and maintenance parts WS MR B 841 1,111
860 1,150

£ 2022 ESHESRLT 229
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31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

22. TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES

22. BBRZRHEEIRR

2022 2021

—E-—& —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET T8

Trade receivables FEW B SRR 119,914 93,616
Lease receivables FEWTH S BR TR 42,330 32,203
Total gross trade and lease receivables  FEWE 5 kIR SR 458 162,244 125,819
Less: Impairment (note (b)) B RE(H D) (29,146) (27,911)
133,098 97,908

Notes:

Trade and lease receivables are non-interest bearing and
arise from the provision of property management services,
leasing of investment properties. Tenants of the Group’s
managed properties are required to pay a calendar year’s
property management service fees annually in advance.

The Group’s credit terms of its trade and lease receivables
are negotiated with and entered into under normal
commercial terms with tenants of the properties managed
by the Group and tenants of investment properties.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

Included in the Group’s trade and lease receivables as at
31 December 2022 are amounts of HK$65,312,000 (2021:
HK$58,892,000) in total due from companies controlled by
two directors of the Company, which are repayable within
60 days. Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun, both being the directors
of the Company, have beneficial interests in these related
parties.

As at 31 December 2022, certain lease receivables of
HK$42,134,000 (2021: HK$31,832,000) in total were
pledged to secure a banking facility granted to the Group
and a loan from a financial institution for refinancing of a
commercial building in London, the UK (note 31(a)) and
financing the development of the US Complex (note 31(b)).

wii -

EWE 5 MM E R At B MR
REMEEERT  HEREME
REL MHFPERAEEEREZY
¥ ASFEAN—ABRFZYWEE
BIRFBER

AEERWE S LHERANEE
BREBREASEEENYEEP
REBREYEE PR —RE B IREE
BRI ﬁ%@jﬁ%wﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%
B EEIR m e E b (5 g4

AEBR-_Z-_—_F+=-A=+—
BREKRE S KEERREIEREK
ZAN/NCIITEEE: ==ty 10N /O
4 #£65,312,0008 L (=T =—F :
58,892,000/ 7T) * I R B0KX AfE
B RAERREEEBARRE
BRSBTS R o

wa::¢+*ﬂ:+—a &

4 542,134,000 L (=T = —
¢ 31,832,000/ 7t ) &9 4 T FE U AH
ERERERBEALAEEALE M
B—RAEEFHRE (E31(@)
REBREBRGEMEMBEE (M

31(b) MERBITHE k& MEEE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

®)

An ageing analysis of the trade and lease receivables, based
on the due date and net of impairment, is as follows:

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

22.

R % R EERR (&)

(%)

e Az ERE 5 R EERK
(AEFNERRE) 2 BRI DT AT

2022 2021

—E—= ZT=—F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FETT FET

Current = A 76,907 60,332
Past due: 2

Less than 1 year DR—E 47,000 33,510

1 year to 2 years —EWEF 8,538 3,727

2 years to 3 years ME=5F 653 339

133,098 97,908

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

RAFE  BRE S REERTR

trade and lease receivables during the year are as follows: EEBBHENEZSINT
2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January K—A—H 27,911 14,873
Impairment recognised, net BERRE  FE 8,122 12,486
Amounts written off as uncollectible WEH AT ARz 25 (3,965) -
Exchange realignment fE 5 R (2,922) 552
29,146 27,911

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on the average
of historical incurred credit loss experience on each
ageing group of trade and lease receivables. Generally,
trade and lease receivables are written off if they are not
considered recoverable by the Group and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

RE& I E B HIER A B AR TR
BEDH - UFFERBEEEE - B
BERDLDENEWE 5 MEERAD
ERRENELEELEEEBRL
BEOTHEEE - —KRME - BYK
Lo MHERRERAEEE ST
A] W Bl 65 AT T AR - ABAXIR
RIBHIATTIES
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R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

22. TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(o) (continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade and lease receivables using

a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2022

22,

BlR 7R ERERE)
wiit - (&)
O

BRAREERAREEETENE
WE 5 FAERFNERERRE R
O

R-B-——F+-A=+-A

Ageing based on due date

EAZIH A MM RR
Less than 1to 2to Over
Current 1 year 2 years 3years 3years Total
B OR-F -EmF WESE  ZFNUE At
Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 0.25% 8.68% 33.69% 87.01% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) SREEE(TFET) 77,100 51,470 12,875 5,026 15,773 162,244
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BEEEERE(FET) 193 4,470 4,337 4,373 15,773 29,146
As at 31 December 2021 N-—ZB-_—F+=-A=+—H
Ageing based on due date
EATIH A M RR
Less than 1to 210 Over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
24 SR —E@E  ME=F  =EME At
Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 0.80% 10.44% 61.31% 92.01% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRE4E(E(FET) 60,817 37,417 9,634 4,244 13,707 125,819
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BEEEEE(TET) 485 3,907 5,007 3,905 13,707 27,911
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PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. FE{IERIE - ;T& R HEMhfEY

RECEIVABLES IR
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
it FET FET

Prepayments AR 10,098 11,104

Deposits and other receivables A& K H A W IR 19,813 18,094

Loan receivables W E K (@) 47,293 68,736

Due from related parties ek Ra B 5 R A 24 107,128 133,241

Total prepayments, deposits and FENRIE - Flek

other receivables H At EUGRIRAERE 184,332 231,175

Notes: Kt -

(@) Included in the loan receivables of the Group as at (@) RZEZ—F+=-A=+—8H"
31 December 2022 was an aggregate amount of AEENEWNERBELAER
HK$47,293,000 due from independent third parties. These 47,293,000 T EWOB L E =7
receivables bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 5% to B o ZE RUAR SR E E F F %
8.4% per annum and are repayable within 6 months to 1 5%28.4%T 8 ERG6ERAE1FERA
year. Each of these receivables is secured by an asset (a B8 - ZERWEFIAEB AR
receivable) owed by its debtor and one of these secured REEE (BWERF)ERER - K
assets is a receivable from Jt R Bl &% 5 th 2 5 2% B FR A & FEEREE AR KNI REE
(“Guorui Property Development”, a company controlled by HERZEAR AR ([ BHEHER
Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun, the directors of the Company, with B —RARRRESTHLERRE
beneficial interests). Subsequent to the reporting period, FEESNAT  HEERER)H
in January 2023, a loan receivable of HK$15,000,000 was IR - RIREHR  —_ S =F—
repaid by the borrower. A &7 AEE 15,000,000 7T &)

FEEK

Included in the loan receivables of the Group as at R—ZZTE=-Z—F+=-A=+—8H"
31 December 2021 was an aggregate amount of AEENEWERBDEAER
HK$68,736,000 due from independent third parties. These 68,736,000 LA EUBILE =75
balances bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 5% to B - RS HEMRIRETEFHES%E
12% per annum and are repayable within 5 months to 1 12%5H B - WERSEA E1FRIE
year. Each of these receivables was secured by an asset (a B ZERWKEHNEEE AR
receivable) owed by its debtor and all balances have been REOEE(BURR)ERER - 2
settled during the year. EEHRERFRLS °
During the year, interest income of HK$4,072,000 (2021: FRN - RZEFERRERNEBRARE
HK$4,838,000) was recognised in profit or loss in respect of RF B UE A 4,072,000 T(—F = —
these loan receivables (note 6). F : 4,838,000/ 7T) (fI7E6) °

(b) The financial assets included in the above balances relate to (b) Ll PTYI & RS A BT HR A

receivables for which there was no recent history of default
and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal. No ECLs
were recognised against these balances as, in the opinion
of the directors, the loss given default rate of each of these
balances is close to zero.

BRSO SENEKERS
BN TE__FR-_ZT=—F
+—A=+—H  SEEHEETG
AR WERZEEHEREDN
FEEE  THRESRAEZEH
BRHVE LB R KA NT ©

233



234
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31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

24. BALANCE WITH RELATED PARTIES 24. HRABARIEER
The balances with related parties are unsecured, interest- EARGEE T N SRR AR - 0 8 B M[E
free and repayable on demand. TEESRER o
Amounts due from related parties, disclosed pursuant RIEF B mEH Y E383(1)(d)
to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong Companies BR(ATI(HEEEMNIEER)
Ordinance and Part 3 of the Companies (Disclosure 1R 5 YSE 38N 4k 75 1) FE U R B 7 =X
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, AR ¢
are as follows:
Maximum At Maximum
amount 31 December amount
At outstanding 2021and  outstanding At
31 December  during the 1 January during the 1 January
2022 current year 2022 prior year 2021
RZB=-f
IS +=A
b St =+-Ak B
=R  XEERS ZB-Cf FEER RIZ--F
Company name INGES =t-B FEESH -B-B KEE:E —A-AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr T TEr AT FAT
Director-controlled related ~ EZ 124t ERH 5+
parties*
Winluck Global Limited 355 355 355 355 355
FREHAEERSE FREHCREERE
BRAF BRAT 80,259 80,259 48,415 48415 -
FREEEXERAR FREREXERAT
(“Beijing Guolong’) ([EmEE]) 3,515 4,281 4,281 4,281 2,501
Silky Apex Limited (“Silky Apex”) ~ Silky Apex Limited
(I'Silky Apex/) 3 35 35 35 35
Gang Rui International Investment E&EIE % & (B75) B R AR
(HK) Limited (* Gang Rui")** (s 360 360 360 360 360
Guorui Property Development  BIsi =t AR 2 8 24,635 24,635 24,635 30,945
IRHBAREER IRHBEANEER
BRAF BRAT 1,770 1,770 - - -
86,302 78,081 34,196
Other related parties =0l -y 20,826 55,160 35,643
107,128 133,241 69,839
* Two directors of the Company, namely Mr. Wei and * RAAEIMEBES(AREE
Mr. Sun, have beneficial interests in these related RIRFE)RZE@E T R
parties. HEERER -
* Gang Rui is a shareholder of the company who ** BHABRRRRREIN =F

holds a 25.49% shareholding in the company as at
31 December 2022 and 2021.

T FER-ZTE-—F+=A
=+ —HIFBEARRAF25.49%
KRR HE o
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25.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BALANCE WITH RELATED PARTIES
(continued)

There were no recent history of default and past due
amounts for the amounts due from related parties,
and therefore as at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

The balances as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
mainly represented short term advances from (i)
related parties in which Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun have
beneficial interests and (i) Gang Rui. These balances
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss represents
a principal-protected investment deposit made with a
creditworthy bank in the PRC which has provided banking
facilities to the Group. This investment deposit has been
placed as a security for the bank borrowings (note 31(a)).
It is mandatorily classified as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss as its contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest.

The fair value of a principal-protected investment deposit
is determined with reference to market observable inputs
currently available for investments with similar terms and
credit risk. The carrying amounts of principal-protected
investment deposits are the same as their fair values.

31 December 2022

24.

25.

M RRMEE
—FE - H=+—H

ERBHREERGE)

EEESE - Al RZT=——F
;r=F=—F+=—A=+—8"
EEREETE AR -

KRB ZFR T —F+=
A=1+—RAZ&EHETER(EEL
SRR ERER B M
75 R (iS5 s 2 R EREAR - 2 E 4
HAEER BEBEEETER
HARR o

BOAFEAARZHEMNE
-3

AT EE A BB AL AR
SRAEAMAEBEHERTRAN—
REBRIFHRERTAMORARE
Tk o IRATHOMERRTE R 1
{R(HE31() - HANRESATEAL
MASRFIE - HlkXBHBEAED
TEFENSRAE -

RAKREFERO R FEDZ2RAGHRE
R EEERRRE B B BRDH
MHBRAMEEN - RAREFKMK
EEEEATEER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

26. RESTRICTED CASH 6. SZMRBIHRE
2022 2021
—E-_C—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Restricted cash for a bank loan IRITER ZRER 4,324 =

27.

The restricted cash represented a deposit placed in a
designated bank as part of the security given to secure a
general banking facility granted to the Group (note 31(a)).

[RFIEIR T RN E RITHFR -
ERAEERS —RBITERN—FD
HPEGR (FT3E31(9))

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReRBEE&EFEY
2022 2021
—E-CF B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
Total cash and bank balances NE RIBITEEEAERE 353,506 304,049
Less: Restricted cash (note 26) B XBRFIRE (M5E26) (4,324) -
Cash and cash equivalents HE RIRSEEY 349,182 304,049
Notes: Hiat -
(@) At 31 December 2022, the cash and bank balances of the (@) R-ZE-_—_F#+-A=+—H" ' &K

Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$103,980,000
(2021: HK$63,276,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

SERARKINENR © RIEITLHE
#43£103,980,000/ 8 0( =T ——%F :
63,276,000 7T ) © BE ARETE
HEMEEEHLE  BEBREP
B A BE B0 SN B IR AR ) e A5 B~ &
ERMNEERHRTE - NEET] B
BEEETINEEBNRITHEAR
B HIRRH B o

(b) RITEFRES BRTFRF R
BZFBHEREFR - RITEBRER
STEAND SR 4 RSk BLE B AERTT -



28.

29.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the average
credit period is 60 days.

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

28. [EFEZIER
FENE BERFTEE - B FHEEHR
ABBOK °

REBEZEZAH  RNREHR - AKEE
NEZEARNRESITT -

follows:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Within 3 months =@mAR 66,476 38,162
4 to 6 months M7~ E A 8,788 2,583
7 to 12 months +Z=+—1@A 8,858 1,922
Over 1 year —F Pk 4,637 6,275
88,759 48,942
RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE 29. FirFRIA
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Contract liabilities BHBE 37,016 49,620
Other receipts in advance Hih Bl kg 35,791 31,195
72,807 80,815
Notes: Hat
(@) The Group’s receipts in advance represented (i) (@) ZNER B ) TE WK I 4B () R AR P HCER A

prepayments of property management fees received from
tenants; and (i) rentals received in advance from tenants of
the Group’s investment properties.

The Group’s contract liabilities as at 1 January 2021
amounted to HK$74,012,000.

The decrease in contract liabilities in 2022 was mainly due
to the decrease in property management fees received in
advance during the year. The decrease in contract liabilities
in 2021 was mainly due to the disposal of the operation of
the Recreational Centre during the year ended 31 December
2021.

YEETEBBEMNFIE  Ri)AAER
WA MERFEWRNES -

b ARER-FE-_-—F-A-HHA
#BER74,012,0008 7T °

AHNEBEBNR_E-_ERIIEE
HREFERBRDEEEERRDH
B ANBBR-_E-_—FRID
TEHRREBEE-_ZE-_—F1+=A
=+ HIEFELHE TEERNF
DNBEFBFTE °
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31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

30. HfuEfFHRRARER

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000

Hiat FET FET

Other payables HAb R (@) 82,654 342,144
Accruals TEiRE M 9,155 10,930
Financial guarantee contracts B FEHEIRE 4 (o) 12,936 4,248
Due to a shareholder )i Hﬂxﬁm 24 1,339 21
Due to related parties e~ AR 5 2 A 24 141,068 124,649
247,152 481,992
Portion classified as current liabilities 748 &R &) B &/ 2D (247,152) (481,408)
Non-current portion SERENEL D = 584

Notes: Kiat -

() The Group’s other payables as at 31 December 2022 and
2021 included, inter alia, the following:

0] amounts of HK$14,618,000 (2021: HK$14,927,000)
in total payables to water, heating and electricity
suppliers in respect of public utility fees collected
from tenants on behalf of public utility suppliers;

(ii) refundable decoration deposits and property
management service fee deposits of
HK$23,256,000 (2021: HK$25,085,000) in total
received from tenants of a commercial building and
residential properties managed by the Group; and

(iii) at 31 December 2021, an amount of
HK$252,368,000 was advanced from independent
third parties, which ceased to be related party since
2020, for the purpose of maintaining daily working
capital and financing new investments. These
advances were unsecured, interest-free, repayable
on demand and was fully repaid during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

R —_FR-_ZT-_—F+=A
=+—H AEEMNEAMENKE
FE(EPBE)ATEHE :

R BRK - BRR&RE N
FER B A 14,618,000
JC (ZZ = —*F 14,927,000
BIT) - BREAARREERT)
2 F AR e L FE 7 (R 78 i
BY

(i) AT REER fJé&%
XEERBETAH
28,256,000 L (=T = —
£ : 25,085,0008 ) * B
Bl R —ERAEEE
BrEEAERFENEY
TAPUE : &

(iif RZEZ—F+ZA=+—
H BHAfLRATEEZEES
REFREMEZBLE=
F(BEZZZZEF8THA
RAE 75 ) #13K A5252,368,000
BT o REBRAERER
ED B ERERNEBET
——HF+-A=1+—H&%
{E3Z o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b) The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees
given by two subsidiaries of the Group to banks in the PRC
in connection with facilities granted to 1t RE L EKiEEE
AR~ 7F (“BCEG Road and Bridge Construction Group
Co., Ltd.”or “BCEG”, an independent third party which is a
general property development contractor of the Group) and
details of which are as follows:

(i) guarantees given by Beijing Wangangtong
Technology Development, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, to two banks in the PRC
in connection with facilities granted to BCEG during
the year ended 31 December 2021. The banking
facilities of BCEG granted by the two banks were
RMB300 million and RMB216 million respectively,
of which a total amounts of RMB279,755,000
were utilised by BCEG as at 31 December 2021.
Beijing Wangangtong Technology Development
provided guarantees in favour of BCEG by pledging
its properties to the two banks (note 16). In return,
Beijing Wangangtong Technology Development
shall receive from BCEG a guarantee fee of 2% per
annum on the actual drawdown amount by BCEG
under the banking facilities. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over the guarantees. Further details are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 4 August
2021.

The bank loans from the two banks were fully repaid
by BCEG during the year ended 31 December
2022. Thereafter, the guarantees have been
released as at 31 December 2022;

HEE

()

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

30. HMEFHRRRRER(E)

(%)

5 75 42 AR 45 78 5= [ P ) P JB8 2 ) )
R BERRITIREMER - HEHRA
ERETRBEEFRAF (MR
BIRGEEERAR IR E
THBEE] ERBYFE=7 I
RAREN—RYEXERABELZ
—ERNBEER  AREFBW
T

(i) rEEREE2ERB AR
REBRREERERAR
) A B P R AT IR A A 4
R HERGERETRES
EREE—_T=-—F+=A
=+ HILFEERNRE
B - bt RETRIGEEE
ISRERITREMRITRIE
2 Bl & A K ¥ 300,000,000
T & A R # 216,000,000
T RZTE=Z—F+=A
=+—H IRBEIEES
EEEssAEPNARE
279,755,000 7T ° dt R & 7
BRI BERAEEYEER
TRERITAARN © bR
BIRBER R @ ARME
R (MIzE16)  fEARRIRK -
I RERBREER &AL
RET G S B WERIL R
TITREEBNRITERIET
ERRNGE2%NFERE
RE - A& ENW EBL R
BEMERRREAMEEE
BIHE - EZFHBEHNAR
RIAMA-—ZT-_—F/\ANW
=NESPN= 0

ZEAMRIBITARITER
EREE-T-_—_F+=A
=+—HIEFERERET
EREE2HEE - 1tE -
RZEBE_ZF+-A=+—
A% SRR R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(0)

(continued)

(i)

a guarantee given by Kaipeng Technology, an
indirect 99.9% owned subsidiary of the Company,
to a bank in the PRC in connection with a facility
granted to BCEG pursuant to a guarantee
agreement between Kaipeng Technology and
BCEG during the year ended 31 December 2022.
The banking facility of BCEG granted by the bank
was RMB800 million and the whole amount was
utilised by BCEG as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil). Kaipeng Technology provided a guarantee
in favour of BCEG by pledging its properties to
the bank (notes 16 and 20). In return, Kaipeng
Technology shall receive from BCEG a guarantee
fee of 1% per annum of the actual drawdown
amount by BCEG under the banking facility. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over the guarantee. Further details
are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
15 March 2022 and circular dated 25 April 2022;
and
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30. HfEfFHRRARER(R)

Hii -

)

(&)

(&

(i

QN A EE S 99.9% 1
M E A A AR M)
R —RERITIRE A
R HEEmIERETR
BEBERBEE-_ZT—_—
F+-—A=+—HILLF
Ensl AR R RET
B R EIRE R R A
BEARE - LREIRB
SEES—RRITIREA
RITEE BARKES00E
B WRZFT==

+-—A=+—HEtRE
ITREBESBEZ2HEHH(Z
T —F &) o GLAR
R E Y% E 18 TR
TR MAERBETE
BB AT AREER
(MIzE16 R MIsE20) ° 1
AR - AR E R
T A S B E
ETRBEENRRITER
HTNEBRERESEI%H
FEERE - AEBEWE
PERGE EAEE RN
Hihfz BB TH - F%
FHBEENARRBEAS
T _F=ZATRHHEHMA
ERAEA-ZT - &M
AZ+HHAEE &



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

®)

(continued)

(il

a guarantee given by Beijing Wangangtong
Technology Development to a bank in the PRC
in connection with a facility granted to BCEG
pursuant to a guarantee agreement between
Beijing Wangangtong Technology Development
and BCEG during the year ended 31 December
2022. The banking facility of BCEG granted by
the bank was RMB300 million and the amount of
RMB299,970,000 was utilised by BCEG as at 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil). Beijing Wangangtong
Technology Development provided a guarantee
in favour of BCEG by (a) pledging its properties
to the bank (note 16); (b) pledging its rights to
receive rental income and corresponding lease
receivables arising from the pledged properties to
the bank; and (c) providing a joint liability guarantee
for the repayment by BCEG. In return, Beijing
Wangangtong Technology Development shall
receive from BCEG a guarantee fee of 1% per
annum of the actual drawdown amount by BCEG
under the banking facility. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over
the guarantee. Further details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 7 October 2022.

31 December 2022

P 35 R R P EE
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30. HMEFHRRRRER(E)

HEE

()

(%)

(&)

(i)

trREEEREERARE
—FHRITIRE R AR - K
MitRETEEEEREZE
T —F+=ZA=+—H
IEFERIEREB BB
BREEFETRESEERE
HRERNRE AR - bR
BIRBERES —HRT
REMNRITHERSARE
300BEIL  WRZT=_=
F+ZA=+—HAILTE
ITRBEECHAARE
299,997,000 L (=& = —
F:|) - tREBABRRE
BERNQEEDEERTZ
BT (FIEE16)  (o)A& U BN
B WA HYIE R S AE FE Y EE
B B9 5 FE AR E /R K
BT ZRT 0 RORIER
BIKBERz2EREMS
REEEETEROAR
LIt RETREER AR
AREER - EREIR - b
REBBREER AR
BIRBERWERILRET
EEERNRITERETNE
BIREN & HR1% R F B HE R
B AEEWERERETE
R o Sk B At (5 B g 0
TR - EZFBEHNAQA
HBAR—Z-_—_F+A+tH
ORI
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 S R P EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b) (continued)

The Group recognised financial guarantee income of
HK$11,112,000 in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: HK$1,740,000) (note 6).

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except
for the above. All guarantees are approved by the board of

directors of the Company.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher
of the ECLs allowance and the amount initially recognised
less the cumulative amount of income recognised. The
ECLs allowance is measured by estimating the cash
shortfalls, which are based on the expected payments
to reimburse the holders (i.e., the banks) for a credit loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the debtor (i.e., BCEG). During the year ended
31 December 2022, an ECLs allowance of HK$9,306,000
(2021: HK$4,248,000) was provided (note 8).

The credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts
is classified as stage 1. During the year, there were no

transfers between stages (2021:Nil).
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30. HfEfFHRRARER(R)

Hii -

)

(&)
(%)

AEBRBE_ZE_—F+_A
=t+—HIEFEBTBEEREA
11,112,000/ L (=T = — 4 :
1,740,0007% 7T ) #E R A B 2= (BT
#16) °

BRARBERSN - AEREL TR
PATEPER - FTBEREPEAR QT
EERME -

SR G QIR TE R E B 518
HEYIBFER N S R B ER
MEFTWA B2 ERSET
2 - BHEEEEREEBAR
WA EHAE MRS TR
BEEBRFEE A BIRTT) X7
NEEEEEANEEBERE
AEBETEBMEES A (B =2
TREEE)WERHERNSE L
RERSE REBEE-ZT=-—
+—A=+—HILFE Bt
$29,306,0008 TL( =& = —4F :
4,248,000/ 7T) WTEHA(E B E518
B (MEES) ©

BBERENNEERRES R
RE—R - FR - BRZELE
BR(ZT—_—F &) -



31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR
—E - gt H=1+—H

31 December 2022

31. SBITRHEMEBER

2022 2021
—E-CF B
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mz FET &
Bank loans, secured BER(BHEM) (@) 1,573,973 762,399
Other loans: HiEH%
Loans from financial institutions, secured & EEIRHNER(BER) () 252,201 207,214
Loan from a shareholder of the Company, — ANAF—&IRERENHER
unsecured (EIEH) (© 87,505 85,881
Loans from director-controlled entities, ERMHEREIEHAER
unsecured (A (d) 81,027 24,814
Quasi-loan equity contributed by a joint WEATzAZANRIAB AR
venture partner of a subsidiary, secured REE R R (EHER) (&) = 579,756
Loans from independent third parties, B F= iR ER(EIER)
unsecured 4] 329,481 427,300
750,214 1,344,965
Lease liabilities HEERE 17(o) 4,323 3,045
Total bank and other borrowings RIT R EMEREFT 2,328,510 2,110,409
Analysed into: DITHE -
Bank loans repayable: FEEBIRITER :
Within one year or on demand —EFEAHIREK 22,533 =
In the second year E_F 24,413 2,300
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EENF(BREEREME) 719,100 760,099
Beyond five years hFE 807,927 =
1,573,973 762,399
Other loans repayable: HibEEZEEN -
Within one year —FR 84,535 670,605
In the second year E-F 92,882 279,951
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EZENF(BEEEME) 348,580 140,420
Beyond five years hE% 224,217 253,989
750,214 1,344,965
Lease liabilities repayable: EEEHEARE
Within one year —FR 1,378 1,058
In the second year FE_F 1,494 1,987
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FoEENF(BEERME) 1,451 =
4,323 3,045
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMETE 2,328,510 2,110,409
Portion classified as current liabilities NERRBRENITD (108,446) (671,663)
Non-current portion FERBHS 2,220,064 1,438,746
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 S R P EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes:

(a) The Group’s bank loans as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
were obtained for operation and financing the purchase
and construction of the Group’s investment properties.
The bank loans bear interests at floating rates with effective
interest rates ranging from 5% to 5.58% per annum (2021:
a floating rate with an effective interest rate of 2.34% per
annum). The bank loans are secured by certain investment
properties (note 16(e)), properties held for sale (note 20) and
lease receivables (note 22(a)) of the Group.

In addition, there is a banking facility that required the
Group to maintain a minimum amount of RMB10 million in
specific bank accounts including (i) a principal-protected
investment deposit classified as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss (note 25) and (ii) a bank deposit of
HK$4,324,000 (2021: Nil) classified as restricted cash (note
26) as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). This banking facility
is also guaranteed by Mr. Wei and his spouse and 1t 7 B £
ERS AR A A (“Beiiing Guorui Holdings Company Limited”,
a related company which is indirectly owned by Mr. Wei and

Mr. Sun).

(o) The loans from financial institutions were obtained to finance
the operation of US Complex and the construction of the
Culver City project. The loans bear interests at a floating
rate with an effective interest rate of 7.76% per annum and
at a fixed rate of 3.65% per annum; are guaranteed by a
Group’s subsidiary; and are secured by certain investment
properties (note 16(e)); lease receivables (note 22(a)) over
the US Complex; and rights to future lease receivables over

the Culver City project.
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31.
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(@)

REBR T _FRZT=—F
TZA=T+—BZRITERAE
ERABEREEAEENIREY
EMER - ZFRTERREFE
B FI R A T 5% = 5.58% K F B 8
RHE(ZZT=—F : BFEEF
L234% W) FE) B EK) o ZFIRTT
BEXBAREETREME (M=
16(e)) * FF1EH & W (HiFE20) K fE
W & R FR AR (BT 3E22(a)) ©

o RZTZZF+ZA=+—
B —BRIBRESERAEEEAE
BERTEFPFARERERIEA
R #10,000,0007c (= ZF = — 4 :
&) BIE)DBEARKRATEAR
@ B E R R AR A TF (KT
7£25) K (i)9 8 AZ BRI & K RIT
TF(Kt5E£26)4,324,000/8 T (=&
T ) o ZIBTTRVANARERE
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31.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(©)

Pursuant to a shareholder’s loan agreement dated 1
January 2019 entered into between the Company and
Gang Rui, Gang Rui granted a shareholder’s loan facility of
HK$200,000,000 (or its equivalent in US$25,644,000) to the
Company, of which HK$87,505,000 (2021: HK$85,881,000)
had been utilised as at 31 December 2022.

The shareholder’s loan is unsecured, bears interest at a
fixed rate of 2% per annum, and is repayable in 3 years
from 21 March 2019, which is the first drawdown date of
the principal. Pursuant to a shareholder’s loan agreement
dated 1 January 2022 entered into between the Company
and Gang Rui, the maturity date of the shareholder’s loan is
extended to 31 December 2024. The balance was classified
as a non-current liability as at 31 December 2022 (2021: a
current liability).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, interest paid and
payable to Gang Rui in respect of the shareholder’s loan of
HK$1,624,000 (2021: HK$1,612,000) was recognised as
finance costs for the year (note 7).

This related party transaction constitutes an exempted
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The loans from director-controlled entities as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021 were advanced
from related parties in which Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun have
beneficial interests. The loans as at 31 December 2022
will be matured for repayment in 2023 and 2025 and are
unsecured and interest-free.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, interest paid
and payable to director-controlled entities of HK$1,788,000
(2021: HK$1,433,000) was recognised as finance costs for
the year (note 7).

This related party transaction constitutes an exempted
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

SRIT R H i f5 % (48)

HEE

©

(%)

BEANR BB ZLABRAZ
T-NF-—A—HNREEZRD
& B AR R T 200,000,000
7 7T (2 F 18 /925,644,000 7T ) HY
REEZREE + HF87,505,0007%
JL(=Z = —4 : 85,881,000/ T )
ERZZE_ZF+_A=+—H%E
fEF -

ZERRERBEERT  KRETEEF
FE2%srE r WEHBZZ—hF
=AZ+—R(BAemE XER
ZB)REIFAEE - BRIBEARA
ARV ANA S _—F—
R—BORFRERGZ - REER
WESPEETRE_S _NFE+—
A=+—H RZZT=Z=—F+=A
=+—H BR&ZSESIBERIER
HEaB(—E-—F  nEam) -

HE_T-_—_F#+-_A=+—H1it
FE - RREEREN REMNBHR
7 B 51,624,000 L (= F = —
F 11,612,000/ 7T ) MR A A FE M
BEAMET?) °

ZRRB T X SEK ETRAF14AE
FSE 2 R P RAER S -

RZBZZF+_A=+—HERZ=
-+ - A=+—HWESE
HlEEIRENER B EERRE
EEREBABSESNER TR
B - RZTEZ_F+=ZA=+—
A ZEEFHER_T_=FK=
TRFRHEE  WAEKER
BB e

HE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—Hlit
FE - BNEREMBEEHEEA
551,788,000 (Z T = —*F :
1,433,000/ 7 ) FER B A F E I 5 &
FA(HIE7) ©

ZRRB T X SEK ETRAF14AE
FSE 2 EHRRAER S -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022

31.

—FE g+ —A=+—H

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

©)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group accounted for the
capital injected by the joint venture partner into a fund as
a quasi-loan equity from a joint venture partner. As at 31
December 2021, an aggregate amount of RMB473,000,000
was advanced from the joint venture partner and it bore
interest at a fixed rate of 8.9% per annum; was repayable in
2022; and was secured by shares of Kaipeng Technology
and 104 out of 129 units of a commercial property in
Beijing owned by the Group, which the 129 units were
partly accounted for as investment properties and partly
as properties held for sale. The loan was fully repaid by the
Group on 25 March 2022 and a 66.57% equity interest of
the fund was transferred by the joint venture partner to the
Group on 19 September 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, interest paid and
payable to a quasi-loan equity from a joint venture partner of
HK$13,423,000 (2021: HK$54,133,000) was recognised as
finance costs for the year (note 7).

These related party transactions do not constitute
connected transactions of the Group as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The loans from independent third parties as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 were obtained to finance the construction
of the Culver City project, and the daily working capital and
new investments in the PRC. The loans are unsecured,
bear interests at a fixed rate of 12.5% per annum and at
a floating rate with an effective interest rate of 3.65% per
annum, and are repayable in 2023 to 2026, except for
two loans as at 31 December 2021 which were interest-
free. These two interest-free loans are originally obtained
from entities formerly controlled by Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun
with beneficial interests in 2019, due in 2023 to 2024 and
initially recognised at fair value. During the year ended
31 December 2022, a loan has been early repaid and
accordingly, imputed interest of HK$28,990,000 (including
accelerated imputed interest recognised upon early
repayment of HK$25,291,000) (2021: HK$16,608,000) was
recognised as finance costs for the year.

31.

81T By Hoft fi5 =% (48)

Hii -

©

(%)

RZZE=Z—F+=ZA=+—H " &
EEBAEERRABARESFA
HWERIIERREGERAEHA
HEERERN RZT-—F+=
A=+—H A8 R&EAEH
#E NRH473,000,0007T © ZEHK
B EEFHERE.9%:TE » WA=
T _FREE BANBERESN
IR RAE BRI mETHEA B — R
B EME2EERN (HF DI AEZE
M - AT AFELEME)FH
104 BB AL {EEIR - ZERER =T
T ZA-thBHRAEEEH
B8 MR-ZE-__FHLA+AIHE
ZEEECLTHHREEEENFE
BAEBERER -

BE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—H1t
FE - BAELRIEGRBANEERE
% B B T & FE - 7 513,423,000 7
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REAFEEHTEEAMET) °
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H3.65%HF BN A KT S - WER
T =FETFEE T
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HRERSER - ZMELSER
AR - NEFEOEZABAZE
ERBREEERCHAEEZE R
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ET_NFHE - BRVIUAFE
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=+—HILEFE —ZERERE
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ERIRFEE TR ERR MR G
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4 : 16,608,000/ L) R ANFE
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31.

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=+ 2
e
31 December 2022 —ZE_-—#F+_-A=+—H
BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 31. MITRAEMERR)
et . (&)
(continued) ) (&)
In addition, during the year ended 31 December 2022, o RBE-_T-_—_F+_-A
total interest paid and payable in respect of loans from =+—HIEFE BBIE=FFH
independent third parties of HK$52,002,000 (2021: B & FE 7 852,002,000
HK$19,797,000) was recognised as finance costs for the JL(=ZF = —4F : 19,797,000/8 T )
year. BRANFENFER -
The Group’s secured bank and other loans are secured by Q) AEERNFERRITREMERTD
the following assets: HUATEEFEER
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
K FET FET
Investment properties 16(e) 3,806,975 4,652,702
Properties held for sale HEHEWE 20 550,111 624,283
Lease receivables FEM A S BR X 22(a) 42,134 31,832
Financial asset at fair value through BAFETAEBZ
profit or loss HEemEE 25 11,496 -
Restricted cash ZIR IR 26 4,324 -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other (h) NS B ER 1T K B A 5 B A AR T (B BA
borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: T3 EBEHE :
Carrying amount
BRTH B
2022 2021
—E—— T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
£ 681,594 762,399
us$ 398,632 283,286
RMB 1,158,630 978,192
HK$ 89,494 86,532
2,328,350 2,110,409




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

32.

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

bonds outstanding during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021, the summary information of which is set out

32. KATERES

The Company had two batches of perpetual convertible BHE_T-_—FN_T_—F+-_A=+—

HILFE - AR EGEA ML REER KA
BERES - EREBLREREN TX -

as follows:
Batch one Batch two
FE—H#t ETHE
Issuance date BEITHHE 17 August 2018 31 December 2021
—E-NEFENATLEHR 2 —H+ZHA=1+—H
Maturity date ZIHAH No maturity date No maturity date
fmEIHRH fmE|ERH
Original principal amount [ RN HK$1,102,993,200 HK$77,066,000
1,102,993,200/% 7T 77,066,000/ 7T
Coupon rate EArE | P 1% per annum and will 1% per annum and will cease
cease to bear any to bear any coupon after the
coupon after the fifth fifth anniversary of the date
anniversary of the date of issue
of issue
BFR1%WHNEITHE SF1%108RETHE
FERIAFRI I ASE FRIBFRE A
ERCIESS) REIESISY
Conversion price per ARARFRE R  0.80 0.80
ordinary share of the 2 ABEGET)

Company (HK$)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(continued)

These perpetual convertible bonds were bifurcated into a
liability component and an equity component for accounting
purposes, as further described in the accounting policy
for “Perpetual convertible bonds” set out in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The following tables summarise
the movements in the principal amounts, the number
of conversion rights outstanding, the liability and equity

31 December 2022

M RRHE
—EF -+ —HA=4+—H

32. KARMERSG (&)

MEHEREMS @ RS KAABRKES
DERABRS RERED  E—PFE
SRR 2.4 k[ sk A AT p (&
FINgBEBL - TREBANEE
—T=-= T —F+ZA=1—

BIEFEARBRARBRBRER 2 AE
B RITEZABREHEARAERE

components of the Company’s perpetual convertible bonds w2 &
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021:
Batch one Batch two Total
F—#t HEHE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FAET
(note (a)) (note (b))
(K15t (a)) (K15 b))
At 1 January 2021 Rn—E-_—F—H—H 1,090,993 = 1,090,993
Issue of perpetual convertible 37Tk A AJ AR E
bonds - 77,066 77,066
At 31 December 2021, R=ZTE=—F+=A
1 January 2022 and =t+—B -ZF__fF
31 December 2022 —HA—BR-ZT_—_F
+—A=+—H 1,090,993 77,066 1,168,059
Batch one Batch two Total
F—H#t £ st
(note (a)) (note (b))
(K15t (a)) (K15 b))
At 1 January 2021 R-ZZE-_—F—H—H 1,363,741,500 - 1,363,741,500
Issue of perpetual convertible  Z{Tk A AI R AR (E 5
bonds - 96,332,500 96,332,500
At 31 December 2021, RZZE—_—%+_H
1 January 2022 and =+t—H -ZT=-_F
31 December 2022 —A—BRZZE__fF
+—A=+—H 1,363,741,500 96,332,500 1,460,074,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

32.

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(continued)

32. KATMBRS (&)

Batch one Batch two Total
=it EH et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET FEIT
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Ht5t(a) (Kiz#b))
At 1 January 2021 R-_ZE-_—F—H—H 51,197 — 51,197
Issue of perpetual convertible BTk A AJ AR (&5
bonds - 3,269 3,269
Interest expense (note 7) FBRZ(Hit7) 1,279 = 1,279
At 31 December 2021 and RZZEBE-_—F+=H4
1 January 2022 =t BRZ-ZZE__F
—H—H 52,476 3,269 55,745
Interest expense (note 7) MERZ(HZ7) 1,313 187 1,500
At 31 December 2022 RZE__F
+=-RA=+—8 53,789 3,456 57,245
Batch one Batch two Total
=it it et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET FEIT
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Bfit(a) (Ktat b))
At 1 January 2021 R-ZZE-_—F—HF—H 1,078,217 — 1,078,217
Issue of perpetual convertible BTk A AJ# AR (&5
bonds - 94,027 94,027
At 31 December 2021, RZTE_—F+_H
1 January 2022 and =t+—H8 -ZF=-_—F
31 December 2022 —B—HBER=ZZT=__fF
+=—A=+—H 1,078,217 94,027 1,172,244




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(continued)
Notes:

(@) Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered
into with Winluck Global and Silky Apex Limited (the
“Vendors”) on 30 May 2018, the Company issued a total
of 451,576,000 ordinary shares and a batch of perpetual
convertible bonds to the Vendors on 17 August 2018
as partial consideration for the acquisition of a 95%
equity interest in Wise Expert Investment Limited (“Wise
Expert”). Further details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 30 May 2018 and 17
August 2018, and a circular dated 20 July 2018.

For accounting purposes, the fair value of the perpetual
convertible bonds issued as consideration for the acquisition
of Wise Expert as at the date of completion of the
acquisition amounted to HK$1,130,568,000.

Further details of the terms of these perpetual convertible
bonds are set out in the Company’s circular dated 20 July
2018.

(b) Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered
into with the Vendors on 30 May 2018, the Company
further issued a batch of perpetual convertible bonds to
the Vendors on 31 December 2021 as consideration for
the acquisition of a remaining 5% equity interest in Wise
Expert. Further details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 31 December 2021, and
a circular dated 20 July 2018.

For accounting purposes, the fair value of the perpetual
convertible bonds issued as consideration for the acquisition
of Wise Expert as at the date of completion of the acquisition
on 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$97,296,000.

Further details of the terms of these perpetual convertible
bonds are set out in the Company’s circular dated 20 July
2018.

(c) The conversion of the perpetual convertible bonds is subject
to, amongst others, the condition that any conversion will
not result in the public float of the Company’s shares being
less than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company.

P 35 R R P EE
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32. KARMERSG (&)

HEE

(@)

1R ¥ B 1 3R Bk £2 Silky Apex Limited
TEFDR==—/\FHA=1+H
FVZEEHE  ARAR=ZE
—NENA+LtBREFETEHE
451,576,000% & 38 A% K —#E K A AT
BRES - ERIIER Wise Expert
Investment Limited ([ Wise Expert ] )
H95% R #E 2 S A RE - BREZK
BEHE2E-—SPFBEARALAAA
HAE-_T—N\FRA=ZTHR=-ZT
—NENRTtRAZA A RBEHA
—E-NFLA-tBHZEX-

REHEEMS © REKWEAR
HA 4 7 Uk BE Wise Expert 2 1 &
BIIKARBRBRER 2 A FEA
1,130,568,000/ T °

B B 7% K A R BB S R RO
—SHBERARAAHS-F
—N\F+tAZTHZEHL -

BER=ZZ—N\FRA=+HHE
FEIMHEEmZ  AAARZE
——F+ZA=t+—HREBEAHE—
HETT —BOR AT BRBKES - 1F
AU BE A Wise Expertfs T~ 5% % HE &)
RE - FANEBEENEZFER
RARBRBHA-—T-_—F+_#
=t+—HHAMERAHAZZ—N
FEAZTHREBK ©

REFENME RBESRET
REH(ZE-—F+-A=+—
B) - AWK EWise ExperttI (B
BITHKAABRRBRESFHNAFES
97,296,000/ 7T °

B %k AT R 35 0
FEHERRAATNBSA-T
—N\E+ A=+ AHA -

PO A RREFBAZ(HFE
B ER TS EB AR R RN
DRBEFHEREDLRARR D ETRG
HRERO5% B R ITFFTHRBR ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

33. DEFERRED TAX

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

33.

RERE P BRRRERHEERIAEE

MEEFRENT
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets FRIEFIAE B 13,786 16,448
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIBEE (159,694) (230,822)
(145,908) (214,374)

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) of the
Group are as follows:

ATRAKERIENIREE (BFE)H

SHER -

Arising from revaluation of
investment properties

ELXBREVEER

2022 2021

—EC-CHF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FHEIT

At 1 January n—H—H (214,374) (145,251)

Net deferred tax charged/(credited) ~ ANEERIBZIIR

to profit or loss during the year (Gt ) BIEE R I8 558

(note 11) (KiE11) 33,724 (47,405)

Exchange realignment M 5, B 34,742 (21,718)

At 31 December R+—A=+—A8 (145,908) (214,374)




33. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes:

(@)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

33. EERIA(LE)

Mt -

At 31 December 2022, deferred tax assets have not (@) RZB__F+-HA=+—H " H
been recognised in respect of unutilised tax losses of REBEEEBENARRRETHEBAR
HK$255,875,000 (2021: HK$54,846,000) as they have AIEEIE—BRER - mAMFTHES
arisen in the Company and certain subsidiaries that have AR REEERANKEERTIIERERE
been loss-making for some time and it is not probable ) FER RO A - Bk R 5t o< 7 A
that taxable profits will be available against which such tax Tt 18 /&5 18 255,875,000 8 L ( = &
losses can be utilised. Out of this amount, tax losses of — —1F : 54,846,000/8 T ) HERE
HK$7,012,000 (2021: HK$18,876,000) will expire in one to ERIBEE - EZSHED - BIE
five years. 7,012,000 T(ZF=—F :

18,876,000/ TL) i @R —EHFNA

EE o
Pursuant to income tax laws of the PRC, the UK and the (b) sy das! FHEREBIFTERE -
USA, withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to REZFRREILAINERE D ER
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises BINEEE TR IXE B MTEH
established in these countries. Lower withholding tax oo (HZESEHREBINGEER T
rates may be applied if there is a tax treaty between these REERAIAMBIEL - AR ER
countries and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The BEMENHE - Bt - XEEE
Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends MRZEBRKRKIZLAMBRARIME
declared by the subsidiaries established in these countries. IRERR B TEIIER ©
The withholding tax rates applicable to the Group are as BRARAEBENTENBR RN T -
follows:
Entities established in Mainland China AR BIRRERR B E B 5%-10%
Entities established in the UK REBIR K E R 20%
Entities established in the USA REBIRK K E RS 30%
At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax has been R-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 " #&
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable B BLTE A B R RE E‘i&%ﬁfiﬁ
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding FESMTENB A EENE A A
taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland REN B BH BT ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@uuﬁ(
China, the UK and the USA (2021: Nil). In the opinion of MEERB(ZE - —F : &) - &
the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will ERAE EARAK  ZEHMEBEA
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The AITRAIBE D IRILEREH - KT
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with ZZHFF+ZA=1+—H  HAER
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China and the USA EER B B E R R R B KR R EE
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised MEBAREBENENEEM8EAH
was HK$75,479,000 (2021: HK$319,304,000) in aggregate A75479,0008 T (=T = —F :
as at 31 December 2022. 319,304,000/ 7T) °
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the @] AAB TR BEMET

payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

2,
=
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31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. BB&E
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FrET
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE :
3,199,373,986 ordinary shares 3,199,373,986/%
Rl 3,152,571 3,152,571
A summary of a movement in the Company’s share capital BHE T -_—_FR-_TE-_—F+=A4
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as =+—HIEFE » NARRRAEEB)EE
follows: EmT
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
28T
BRNEE [N
HK$°000
FET
At 1 January 2021, Rn=—ZF—_—F—H—H8"
31 December 2021, —E-_—F+=-H
1 January 2022 and =t—HB -ZTZ_F
31 December 2022 —B—BR=ZZT__F
+=A=+—-H 3,199,373,986 3,152,571

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the
share options issued under the scheme are included in note
35 to the financial statements.

BRAA QR M BB 8 RAREZ A &
BITHMBREFBRN MBS HRERME
35 °



35.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
on 7 November 2016 (the “Adoption Date”) for the primary
purpose of (i) incentivising and rewarding those who
have contributed or may contribute to the development
of the Group; and (i) attracting and retaining skilled and
experienced personnel (“Eligible Participants”) and motivating
them to strive for the future development of the Group by
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company thereby linking their interest with
that of the Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of ten years commencing on the Adoption
Date and shall expire on 6 November 2026, subject to
early termination provisions contained in the Share Option
Scheme. The board of directors of the Company may grant
options to Eligible Participants to subscribe for shares in the
Company subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme is
not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the Adoption Date, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Further, the total maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. Options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director, or to any of their respective associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange at the date
of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The number of share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2020 were 5,020,500
with weighted average exercise price of HK$0.827 per share.

31 December 2022

35.

M RRHE
—FE - H=+—H

RRz et &
RER-_F—R"E+—ALB(&RAR
H11)BBHRES - AR B BERE
ZI([BEETE ) EERA 25
BBRHESAAREERRNKE
(i) 3B & 228 2 ¥ 5k m] BE 3 AN ok [ ) 3
BRIEHBERBAL  R(i)R5| RBEH
REEARENAB(AERZEE )
AERHBRERANEENRKERE
M - femsmEmga il AR Ea s
i - BAERT B B RMB S
Bt TFERAER > XHR_F_RF
T—ARAER  EZRRERETE
WS IR LR - fERBRBAERT 815k
REOBRT » ARREZR/ARESER
SEERBBRIEAZBARRRN

EABARRIREELEMENBERT
AR 9 B AR 1 81 AT RE B8 5 9% ) 1 B AR
B5 BR%(7 BECT SRR B AR AR R
B EHIE ZITADE10%  Bob - BT
FEREERETE AR BT b
AE Rt &R H B R TTE R 22 RITE
BRI AT RE BT TRI R D R B BT S
FRIBA A BN 2 BEEBITAIRAS0% © i
m—&EBRESIB T IFITE Fek(E
AR ES B MEE AR H N ERENT
AIEZE R AR L B 128 A HEE5E
AR BRI R R B 21T 15 0.1% Kk 48
BE (AR E B RERNSEH
MERMAARTRG KT EBEE)
B 185,000,000/ 7T+ BB L RBRE KX
2 _FESRR R

RNR-E-_ZTE+-_FA=+—H ' Bk
BB TRHARITENERESE &
5,020,50017 © MmN FHITEERS
A& A% 150.8277 T °

255



256

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022

35.

36.

—FE g+ —A=+—H

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The fair value of these share options at the grant date
amounted to HK$1,730,000 which had been fully recognised
in profit or loss as a share option expense in the prior years.

No share options were outstanding as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 and no share options were granted, forfeited and
exercised during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, except that 5,020,500 share options were forfeited
during the year ended 31 December 2021 due to the
resignation of Ms. Liu Shuhua, a former executive director,
on 1 April 2021, resulting in the transfer of the corresponding
Group’s share option reserve of HK$1,730,000 to
accumulated losses during the year ended 31 December
2021,

RESERVES

(a) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current year and the prior
year are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

(b) Capital reserve mainly arose from (i) deemed
contributions from non-controlling shareholders of the
Company as a result of certain liabilities of the Group
being waived by two shareholders of the Company in
prior year; and (i) the difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests acquired and
the cost of acquisition (fair value of consideration
paid).

() Merger reserve represented the difference between
(i) the amounts at which the assets and liabilities
are recorded under a business combination under
common control, net of any reserves of the acquired
entities; and (ii) the cost of acquisition (fair value of
consideration paid).

(d) The PRC statutory reserve is the reserve set aside
in accordance with the PRC Companies Law as
applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries established in
Mainland China. None of the Group’s PRC statutory
reserve as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was
distributable in the form of cash dividends.

35.

36.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R T ot

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. HEMBEAT
2022 2021
—E-CF T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt et FET FET
Net assets/(liabilities) disposed of: BHEEE (Af)
HE :
Investment property included in AR ZZE _ZTFHRHE
assets of a disposal group held HERHEAREE
for sale in 2020 ZIREE - 327,169
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 15 5 4,225
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17(a) - 230
Intangible assets M BEE 18 = 90
Non-current deposits EREIEE - 1,218
Inventories 7E = 778
Trade and lease receivables B 5 FEWGRIA I FEI
MEFIE = 1,007
Prepayments, deposits and other TARRIA ~ e READ
receivables FEU IR 1,391 32,602
Other tax recoverables E A eI = R 18 = 5,582
Due from related parties JE Uk RA B 75 FRTE = 6,706
Cash and cash equivalents BENEBESEEY 753 60,936
Trade payables B S e 5RIA = (19,679)
Receipts in advance TR AR K = (42,156)
Other payables and accruals H fib e~ 5008 M B ET
IBH (805) (22,600)
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EAE K = (169,791)
Due to related parties &1~ RS 75 SR IE (5,462) (91,803)
Other tax payables HAbE IR (64) (1,308)
4,182) 103,200
Exchange fluctuation reserve b R B 373 3,015
Gain on disposal of a discontinued & (Z | F& & E IS
operation = 143,061
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HeE B AT
subsidiaries (E#8E) 8 3,809 (48,490)
—* 200,786
Satisfied by: BAT A RER -
Cash B —* 200,786
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. HEMEAT (&)

An analysis of the net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash HHERBARBHEMNIRE RIS EE
equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as MR GRE ) BB DT ¢
follows:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FHET

Cash consideration RERE —* 200,786
Cash and bank balances disposed B &R 4 KIRTT4H%

of (753) (60,936)
Consideration receivables as at REIRA IR (E

period end - (2,920)
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and HHERBATEREN

cash equivalents in respect of the ReMREEEY

disposal of subsidiaries A CRH)F5E (753) 136,930
* Less than HK$1,000 * A H1,0007% 7T
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37.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Note:
Details of the disposals are as follows:

(i) In January 2022, pursuant to a sale and purchase
agreement entered into between the Group and a related
company in which Mr. Sun is the director of the related
company, the Group disposed of the entire equity interest of
a subsidiary for a cash consideration of RMB1. At the time
of disposal, the Group’s subsidiary was engaged in property
management;

(i) In January 2021, pursuant to a sale and purchase
agreement entered into between the Group and an
independent third party, the Group disposed of the entire
interest of GR Properties UK Limited to the independent third
party for a total consideration of £30,938,000 (equivalent to
HK$325,462,000) which comprised (i) cash consideration
of £30,782,000 (equivalent to HK$323,825,000 (including
the repayment of bank loan of £11,700,000 (equivalent
to HK$123,039,000))); and (i) settlement of transaction
costs incurred by the Group for the disposal amounted to
£156,000 (equivalent to HK$1,637,000) by the purchaser;
and

(iii) In May 2021, pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement
entered into between the Group and Winluck Global and
Silky Apex (the “Purchasers”), the Group disposed of the
entire equity interest in Rui Hua Investment Limited for a
cash consideration of HK$100 to the Purchasers (note 12).
At the time of disposal, Rui Hua Investment Limited and its
subsidiaries were engaged in operation of the Recreational
Centre.

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

37. HEMBLATGE)

HEE

HESFRMFENT

U]

(i)

(i)

RZB__F—F REAEEHR
—RBREEREETEEOEER AR
RIVHMEE R  ARBEUARK
ITHRERELET —RE QR
2 ERAE - RILER - NEEH
BRBCEMRER

RZTEZ—F—f  BEAEER
BUE=AUNEERZE A%
[E #GR Properties UK Limited &) % &B
T %5 DA 42K {830,938,000E & (1R E
325,462,000 70 ) HE T HEILF
=7 - EB¥E({)H 2K E30,782,000
82 (18 & 1.323,825,0007 7T) (B
JHEERITER11,700,0005 £ (46
E#123,039,000/8 L)) ¢ K(i)EH
BEAEERLESTHEANR S
X 7Z5156,0002 £ (48 & 71,637,000
BT &

RZZBZ—FRA REAEEHE
BHEIRBR K Silky Apex([E ) 2
FAIVRMEERZ  ARERE ST
ETHERMBEBRARNES
B - LARERIR © {81007 7T (B
F12) - RHER - RHEXMKESR
BARREMNBAREERERE
REIFR DN ZER o
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Save as disclosed in notes 16, 17 and 20 to the
financial statements regarding the transfer from
a portion of certain properties held for sale to
investment properties and additions of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities, the Group has no
other major non-cash transactions of investing
and financing activities during the years ended 31

December 2022 and 2021.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

38.

= e B &K ERMEE

BRSO ELEMEERER
BYMEMAEERAREERME
EaE (MR HRERMFE16 - 17

K 20FT# 8 ) 4
B ENNTE T —

AEEREE

F+=H

=t ALEFETEEMREE
MBERDTETNERFRRS

Due to related Bank and
parties and other
a shareholder* borrowings
FER B S R BITR
PR R FRIE* HAibE®K
HK$'000 HK$000
FETT FEIT
At 1 January 2021 R-—Z—-—%®—H—H 117,702 2,119,581
Changes from financing cash flows R &R &%= & 72,331 (51,833)
Interest expense FERHE 23,443 165,081
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HEMB AR (A:757) (91,803) (159,791)
Exchange realignment PE 3 2,997 37,371
At 31 December 2021 and RN —F
1 January 2022 +—A=+—HK
—E-_F—HF—H 124,670 2,110,409
Changes from financing cash flows I &IR & %= & 26,046 248,419
Interest expense =N - 135,335
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 37) HEHB AR (M7£37) (5,462) -
New lease HE = 3,110
Exchange realignment bE 5 (2,847) (168,763)
At 31 December 2022 i S—
+—HA=+—8H 142,407 2,328,510




38.

39.

40.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022

M RRMEE
—EF -+ —HA=4+—H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. FEBEKERMEGE)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(continued)
The total cash outflow for leases within financing SFARNFERARERERA
activities included in the consolidated statement of BEHANNBEER SR L @5
cash flows is HK$2,127,000 during the year (2021: 2,127,000 L ( — = —4F :
HK$4,469,000). 4,469,000/47T) °
* Due to related parties and a shareholder are * FE{ REES 5 R AR R IERT A
included in other payables and accruals in note 30 Bt 3330, H fh P& 1~ 518 K g
to the financial statement. =tIER
CONTINGENT LIABILITY 39. BRAR
In or about February 2021, a plaintiff commenced a legal MN-ZZE_—F_HAE  —ZBREHAK
claim against a subsidiary of the Company in the USA, NEIMI R EBEE — BB A TR HEAE
alleging that the subsidiary has caused bodily harm to the RE - IBIEZH B AR RERERLGS
plaintiff in relation to the construction of the US Complex. The YRR R ERASBE o AR
related claim was in an aggregate amount of US$1,000,000. & E A5 41,000,000 7T ° &R
The first hearing was held on 23 August 2022. A minute MRZEZZFNAZ+=RHHIT - &t
order was issued by the court on the same date and found REBEM TESHR - HEHB AR
in the subsidiary’s favour. As notified by the insurer to the Bsef - MERANR-_ZE-_—_FhLASE
subsidiary in September 2022, the claim has been dismissed A ZRBDRHEE o
by the court.
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. FEKIE
The Group had the following capital commitments as at the RI|EHKR @ NEBEL AT E AR
end of the reporting period: ¥ -
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Contracted, but not provided for: B ETABEREHE R
Construction in progress for EMEREEEE
an investment property 169,279 285,550
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 41. FABKAIEEE
The Group had the following material transactions AEBEERAHM A BEAENTEAR
with related parties during the year: 2
2022 2021
—E-CHE —T-—fF
Company name Nature of transactions Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
NRER REME Wizt FHET BT
Directors - controlled
entities:
EEETIER
Guorui Property Property management fee income (i) 24,807 25,251
Development
B 850 55 1t E e 3 MEEBEWA
Heat supply and maintenance fee (i) 3,217 1,282
income
IR RAEEBIRA
Car park management fee income (i) 656 634
FESEREWA
Service fee (iif 81 2,274
s B
Beijing Guolong Property management fee income (i) 2,263 2,404
b R MEEBEIA
Heat supply and maintenance fee (i) 2,120 3,063
income
IR LB ERA
Gang Rui Interest paid and payable 7,31(c) 1,624 1,612
g B RERFE
I REH/HEER Interest paid and payable 7 - 378
BRAR B REMFE
I REH/ ) EER Rental income (i) 805 779
BRAR RN
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 5 Rk TR

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 41. RS R (18)
(continued)

(continued) (%&)

2022 2021

—ECCEF -
Company name Nature of transactions Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
NEHRB REME Kzt FHET FET
Vendors (as defined innote  Interest paid and payable 7,32 1,500 1,279
32(a))

E75 (% R MiE32() ENRENTIE

L RBIE B Property management fee income (i - 2,591
BRAF
It RESBEER MEEBREKRA
BRAF
Heat supply and maintenance fee i) - 452
income
R LG EERA
I RAKRLETEHAERE  Property management feg income (i) - 185
BRAF
TRARKEZEHRRE  METERBRA
BRAR]
Heat supply and maintenance fee i - 254
income
HEE LB EERA
It RSEERREEREAR  Rental income (i 912 947
NS
T RSEBEENBERER  HEBA
RA]

Joint venture partner of a
subsidiary
MEARZEELTEBA
Kunlun Trust Co., Ltd Interest paid and payable 7,31() 13,423 54,133
BRiETEEREERR] BRI RERFE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 S R P EE

31 December 2022

41.

—FE g+ —A=+—H

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(continued)

Notes:

U]

(i)

(i)

The Group provides property management services
to landlords of certain properties managed by the
Group, in which two directors of the Company
have beneficial interests. In return, the Group
receives property management service fees, heat
supply and maintenance service fees and car park
management service fees which were charged at
rates mutually agreed between the Group and the
landlords. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the total fees received by the Group from
landlords in respect of these services amounted
to HK$25,558,000 (2021: HK$36,116,000). These
related party transactions constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Rental expense was charged to this related parties
for the lease of office premises at RMB1,480,000
(equivalent to HK$1,717,000) (2021: RMB1,433,000
(equivalent to HK$1,726,000)) during the year
ended 31 December 2022, on a mutually agreed
basis, which, in the opinion of the directors,
approximated to market rates. This related party
transaction constitutes an exempted continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Service fee was charged to this related party for the
provision of rental related services at RMB66,000
(equivalent to HK$81,000) (2021: RMB1,888,000
(equivalent to HK$2,274,000)) during the year
ended 31 December 2022, on a mutually agreed
basis, which, in the opinion of the directors,
approximated to market rates. This related party
transaction constitutes an exempted continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules

41.

(&)

0

(i)

(i)

PR 75 58 (4)
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#2 %A 525,558,000 7T ( —
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=t+—HBHLEFENRESRAY
Mz T HERAEYE
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41.

42.

43.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)

Save as disclosed above and the balances detailed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had
no other material outstanding balances with related
parties as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Key management personnel of the Group are
directors of the Company, whose emoluments are
included in note 9 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

Other than financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss as disclosed at note 25 to the financial statements,
all financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 were financial assets and financial
liabilities stated at amortised cost, respectively.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 approximated to their fair
values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and lease
receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and other
assets, due to related parties, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals and the current portion of bank
and other borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

41.

42.

43.

BRI 75 18 58 (48)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2022 were
assessed to be insignificant. The fair value of the liability
portion of the perpetual convertible bonds is estimated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using an
equivalent market interest rate for a similar convertible bond
with consideration of the Group’s own non-performance risk.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 43.

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2022

EMIANLFERLFE
& (#8)

TEERALESRIANATENR
AR -
BATEFENEE

R-®=—F+-A=+-8

Fair value measurement using

ATEHREA

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

REBME EAUEBR EATUBR

HRE BARE BARE
(E—#) (B=8) (B=8) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

A principal-protected investment A TET ABRARKRE
deposit at fair value through T3

profit or loss - 11,496 - 11,496

The details of the valuation technique and the inputs used
in the fair value measurement of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss have been disclosed in note 25 to the
financial statement.

During the year, there was no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2021: Nil).

ARERAFHESABREN SR EEE
N EFENBERN B AREFE
ERMBHREME25H HEE -

AEE  pemEERSRARMN
CF—REE—HAFEFEZEL
BEY BRI EEAREH (=T
Z—F |

Book ox
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022

44.

—FE g+ —A=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and bank balances, financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss, bank and other borrowings and perpetual convertible
bonds. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and lease
receivables, deposits and other receivables, trade payables,
other payables, receipts in advance and amounts due from/
(to) related parties.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below:

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates. Since HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group
does not have significant foreign exchange risk in respect of
its operations in the USA. However, owing to its significant
investments and operations in Mainland China and the UK,
the Group’s financial position and operating performance
can be affected significantly by movements in the RMB/HK$
and £/HK$ exchange rates.
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44.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022

M RRHE
—FE - H=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44. BMHRPEEE B RRBUER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ($8)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TERFIBANBEHREMEERET
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in B AR REGEE R HIR S EA] AL
the RMB and £ exchange rates, with all other variables held HENRIBERAT » AEBEMARMN(EE
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (arising from RMB BARBREEFENSRITE) K
and £ denominated financial instruments). B HRRE o

Increase/

(decrease) (Increase)/ Increase/
in foreign decrease (decrease)
exchange in loss in profit

rate before tax before tax
HNESEE R BiAE1E BiAT s A
E#H(CFRE)  (m)®L 2 CRd)
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—fF
% HK$’000 HK$'000
FET &
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_Z——F
+ZRA=1+—HLEE
If HK$ weakens against RMB WEBITAARKEIZE 5 (24,606) (29,969)
If HK$ strengthens against RMB WEBTEAREAE () 24,606 29,969
If HK$ weakens against £ (DEEE B S A 5 (30,089) (35,764)
If HK$ strengthens against £ e BT EEAE () 30,089 35,764

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of the Group’s
counterparties to meet their obligations under property
management service agreements and rental agreements.
Credit risk exposure is minimised by undertaking transactions
with a large number of counterparties and conducting credit
reviews on prospective tenants. In addition, the Group
regularly reviews the recoverable amount of trade and lease
receivables to ensure that adequate provision for impairment
losses is made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

ERRRERERZ RS TTAIBEREE
BITRENMEERRG WERESH
& NZEEMEL - AEBBEBRKRE
RHHTETR S M BERPETE
REL  BERRRBRERE © 1t
AREETFEHREMHERE S LHERRZ
AT YO BE DA RE AR 34 N AT I B 2 RRAT 1R
RABEEERE ARETFEEX
S ERRERMER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

44.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44. BBRREEARERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (88)
With respect to credit risk arising from other financial AEBHMERMEETERRERE SRR
assets of the Group, which mainly comprise cash and bank TEB N EMEWTIE  AEEABX
balances and other receivables, the Group’s exposure to EeMEENERRREERARSEH
credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a B REAEBHOSERZETIAMNE
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these HEE
instruments.
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRIRERKREF ZERENE=EE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, EZENFTEHENSAEERM  FEER
which is mainly based on past due information unless other BHEN (RIEEMER A EHBLEE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and TN BRASE NRIE R NERS) KR
year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2022 and —E I FRE_—F+ZA=1+—
2021. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts AR EREBR D - IZ2JINEFR
of financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the SRIEEMNERRE MV EERELON
financial guarantee contracts. EERR
As at 31 December 2022 R=B-=%+=-A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
TZERARE
HEEFE FENAREERS
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-Ka BE-RE EE A% &5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TE7n T#7n T#7n TE7n T#7n
Trade and lease receivables FUE 7 REERN - - - 162,244 162,244
Financial assets included in STATBEE - iT& R E el
prepayments, deposits and other ~ ZURMSRIAE
receivables 174,234 - - - 174,234
Restricted cash ZRARE 4,3% - - - 432
Cash and cash equivalents, notyet B4 RRSZEN(HKHH)
past due 349,182 - - - 349,182
Guarantees given to banks in P RRIREEEER IR
connection with facilities granted to ~ BEE M = I TIRERERF
and drawn by BCEG - Not yet past ~ — & E8
due 1,227,339 - - - 1,227,339
1,755,079 - - 162,244 1,917,323




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44, MBERBREEHRRBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#8)
As at 31 December 2021 N-—ZE-_—%+-HA=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
TZEAR
BEEES FESRBREEES
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FIR& FRRE FRRE BlLnE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade and lease receivables FWE 7 REERSN - - - 125,819 125,819
Financial assets included in STABRIFE « ele REMENR
prepayments, deposits and other ~ FUBHIS B AE
receivables 220,071 - - - 220,071
Cash and cash equivalents, notyet ~ B4 KBS SEN(HARLS)
past due 304,049 - - - 304,049
Guarantees given to banks in B RBRIREEEER IR
connection with faciities granted to ~ §4& T 5 MR TRERER
and drawn by BOEG - Not yet past ~ — R 8 &R
due 342,907 - - - 342,907
867,027 - - 125819 992,846

For trade and lease receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, information is
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise amounts due from related parties and other
receivables, financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss and cash and bank balances, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments.

AL ERAB A A EERERNER
ZHRAERAME BRERBFEER
WS TRRMITE22 ©

FEATENFUR - A& RE MR UFIRR
TREENEEERY AR AYE
BEHRP\ENRERARSREENE
ER\AREIEN -

AEBHEMEREE(BREERERRYT
IR R E A EWFOR - BAFEFFAR
SN MEENANREE RRITHERR) K
EERRIRSFHEOMEL @ FiE
R RARBRENZE TANKEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 S R P EE

31 December 2022

—E -t H=1+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44. MBERREEHRRBER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (§8)
In light of the future business expansion of the Group, the ENAREBRKERILRE » AEFER
Group ensures that it maintains sufficient cash and credit HERBEHNIBESREE  WneER
lines to meet its liquidity requirements and the estimated HECHTENNER R I FHE
future construction cost of the development of a parcel i 2 (EEFARIRERIER A - KEBEAE
of land in Culver City, the USA. The Group’s objective is E 2B RABRTIRM T IEN A IR £ A KRB
to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and RIZHIE A B &Sk RS E B
flexibility through cash receipts from the issue of shares, as BEMHEBEENTEE ARREER
well as the strict control over its daily operating expenses. B NEBEEERAEERODESHTE
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, proceeds FTS 58 « IR )T E K — 2R K Rkt
from a share placement obtained, capital contributed FiEBER S A IVETTHRE D R AKE
by shareholders and financing from a shareholder and BFEHSR S _FREBIINET L
related parties by means of cash during the prior year MiEtEIFRIREREES - Bit 0 NEEE
and the current year, respectively to finance certain of the HEen BHE S IRAIREAE B K
abovementioned planned development is expected to be BEEMEESNEEERBE SRR
fulfilled by the Group after 2022. Accordingly, the Group W e
expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the
Group’s operations and manage its liquidity position.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at REREEAKR - IRIEARKITIRN S BN
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual B ASECR B EMNR EIERA R0
undiscounted payments, is as follows: TS =
On demand
or within Over
1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total
RERD
—F R —Z5F BBEEF &%
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2022 R-BE-_—F+=A
Er=F[F
Trade payables B SR 88,759 = = 88,759
Other payables (excluding financial Hi AR (T e1E
guarantee contracts) BITSHEIRAHY) 225,061 - - 225,061
Bank and other borrowings HRIT REALETK
(excluding lease liabilities) (TREHEEER) 179,949 1,456,614 1,364,379 3,000,942
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,700 3,404 - 5,104
Liability component of perpetual KA EHH]
convertible bonds BE#Hs - - 58,478 58,478
Guarantees given to banks in ML RETREEEE
connection with facilities granted RHRE TS MRTT
to BCEG RIERER 1,227,339 - - 1,227,339
1,722,808 1,460,018 1,422,857 4,605,683




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M I RaRMIEE
31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44. BERSEEHERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(%)

On demand
or within Over
1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total
RERK
—FLR —ERE HRAF =H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2021 R-E=-—&
+=BA=+—H
Trade payables B 5N FUR 48,942 = = 48,942
Other payables (excluding financial Hi A A (T eiE
guarantee contracts) MBERELK) 466,230 = = 466,230
Bank and other borrowings RITREA BT
(excluding lease liabilities) (TBEHEEAR) 735,264 1,319,674 263,308 2,318,246
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,196 2,640 - 3,836
Liability component of perpetual KARIREHH
convertible bonds BEHD - - 55,745 55,745
Guarantees given to banks in HUAFRETIREEE
connection with facilities granted ERNRMEMS M
to BCEG RITRERER 342,907 - - 342,907
1,594,539 1,322,314 319,053 3,235,906

The primary objectives of the Group’ s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

AEBEREENTIERBARELRE
BABRSERERELENGE - I
HRREZNERLLE » UXFEEB M
BEEMBIRER -

AEEEBEEARLEE  WREEBR
KA EER RS EIELFHEE -
HRABREARERER  AEEEE
FARERRERSORE - MRERREE
AR EITHIIRG - NEBEAEZ RN
AAEZESCERNR - REEZZT
ToFRZE—F+ZH=1T—HL
FE - BEEEANER BEGRIIEF4
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44. BBRREEARERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ()

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is AEBFEREEARBI RERERN - &
net debt divided by the adjusted capital. The Group’s policy is EAELERNREFFERNCHESE
to maintain a healthy ratio. Net debt includes trade payables, AitE - REERMBR S EHAFERED
bank and other borrowings, other payables and accruals, LbE - B FRBEERNESRN - R
less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes perpetual ThREMERREMENRNRTERE
convertible bonds and equity attributable to shareholders B RERekReEEY EXERE
of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of the KA R PRE 5 2 AN a) B R e #E

reporting periods were as follows: = o RIEHARNEEA B ENT -

2022 2021

—E-CF T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FEIT

Trade payables FETE SRR 88,759 48,942
Bank and other borrowings RIT R A B K 2,328,510 2,110,409

Other payables and accruals Hi e sk R TERRE A 247,152 481,992
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B REMREEEY (349,182) (304,049)
Net debt (EVroE 2,315,239 2,337,294

Equity attributable to shareholders 7N &A% 3R fE (G #E2

of the Company 3,248,629 3,863,574
Liability component of perpetual KA R E A

convertible bonds BEHo 57,245 55,745
Adjusted capital KR E AN 3,305,874 3,919,319
Gearing ratio BEBEBX 70.03% 59.64%

45. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 45. LHE®#

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to ETHBRSECEET S BREFZ
conform with the current year’s presentation and disclosures. P - ARFEREERNZYTR °
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46.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

31 December 2022

46.

M RRHE
—EF -+ —HA=4+—H
ELFIMBERAE

BRAARRNHREHAROPHEARKD

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2022 2021
—EB-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment YIE - BB R R 558 59
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 2,203 631
Interests in subsidiaries NG EL 1,125,587 1,125,814
Due from subsidiaries FEURH B N Al B 180,490 180,515
Total non-current assets ERBNVE EBRE 1,308,838 1,307,019
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Loans to subsidiaries REHFHBARNER 454,284 469,346
Due from subsidiaries FEU B A B TA 748,931 806,373
Due from related parties UK RA RS 75 TR E 457 533
Prepayments, deposits and other AN FIE - FT& REM
receivables FEUW IR 1,782 2,004
Cash and cash equivalents He RESSEEBY 126,969 151,529
Total current assets mEEESE 1,332,423 1,419,785
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals HibENFRERER 2,698 2,515
Due to a shareholder e — R IR FIE 1,353 1,478
Due to a subsidiary NI NGIE e 318 318
Other borrowings HibE 1,068 86,532
Total current liabilities mHAGEEt 5,437 90,843
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 1,326,986 1,328,942
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥ EAERRBEE
LIABILITIES 2,635,824 2,635,961
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R AR Y EE

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+=-H=+—H

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 46.

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

F LT MBI R ()

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES IRBEMS
Due to subsidiaries FERTB B A Rl IE 30,738 28,077
Other borrowings EAhfEmR 88,773 -
Liability component of perpetual KA R E S
convertible bonds aEHs 57,245 55,745
Total non-current liabilities JEmE B ERRE 176,756 83,822
Net assets BEFR 2,459,068 2,552,139
EQUITY xS
Share capital &4 3,152,571 3,152,571
Equity component of perpetual KA R E Y
convertible bonds D 1,172,244 1,172,244
Reserves (note) (M az) (1,865,747) (1,772,676)
Total equity R 1BRE 2,459,068 2,552,139

Wei Chunxian

e

Director

EF
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Sun Zhongmin
BHER
Director
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

31 December 2022

P 35 R R P EE

—EF -+ —HA=4+—H

46. ERTFRIMBIRAER(I8)

Bfat . ARAEEMELT

Share
Capital option Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
BARGE B E RitEE &t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FAET FAET FAET FET
At 1 January 2021 R-Z——4— AR (625,498) 1,730 (1,126:839)  (1,750,607)
Loss for the year and total REEBERAEEEZE
comprehensive loss [EELEE
for the year - - (22,069) (22,069)
Transfer of share option reserve B AR QUi 2=
upon the forfeiture of share FERIER A
options - (1,730) 1,730 -
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZZT-_—F+=-A
1 January 2022 =+—HR-ZE-__F
—H—H (625,498) - (1,147,178)  (1,772,676)
Loss for the year and total AEEBERAFESRA
comprehensive loss g ok
for the year - - (93,071) (93,071)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZTE——F
+-A=1+— (625,498) - (1,240,249) (1,865,747)
47. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 47. MBHmEFAOHLE

STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2023.

REMBHREN T _=F=A=1—
HREERBELHERM -
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

B3|

Location

i B

Use

iik:S

Lease term

HEH

Attributable
interest of the
Group

EER
AEBERER

Completed investment properties

EEMRENE

Juxon House

100 St Pauls Churchyard
London, EC4M 8BU
the United Kingdom

Portion of Building

No. 2 of Kingdom Guorui

No. 1 Ronghua South Road
Beijing Economic Technological
Development Area

Beijing

the PRC
eI
BRI R
REER K19

B« ©TEANE2SRZEE D

2300-2320 Wilshire Blvd.

Santa Monica
CA 90403
the USA

Investment properties under construction

EEHPREME

10375 Washington
Redevelopment Site

10375 Washington Boulevard
Culver City, Los Angeles Country

CA 90232

Commercial

GES

Commercial

EES

Residential/
Commercial

(E=V S

Residential/
Commercial

(ER=V S

Long term lease
REIEL

Medium term lease

hEAREAY

Not applicable
NiE A

Not Applicable
NEm

100%

100%

100%

100%



FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFMHERE

.

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and total equity — ZN£= [E38 2 A (@8 B E &4 8 B TR E R
A

of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the  RRETZEEREAMNES  BE  BE
published annual report and audited financial statements, is set out ~ &5tEYHEL | :

ES

Ed
Ny

AN

below:
RESULTS &
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—ECCF T ZTZTF —T-hF ZTNF
HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FAET FHET FET FET FHET
Revenue WA 352,276 331,335 322,026 373,327 361,282
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR REERRN(FE)
THE YEAR (320,126) 208,427 680 98,082 9,430
Attributable to: FEBR
Shareholders of the Company KARRE (320,126) 207,625 552 98,599 9,579
Non-controlling interests FEiE R - 802 128 (517) (149)

(320,126) 208,427 680 98,082 9,430
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RFHHRHE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL EQUITY

HE ARNERSE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

“RoCE T -F TR FNF ZFN\F

HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000

FET FET T BT FET

Total assets EEBE 6,240,058 6,394,934 6,702,004 6,306,456 5,030,079

Total liabilities BiEEH (2,991,429) (3,031,360) (3,112,688) (2,869,659) (1,575,564)

NET ASSETS BEEFHE 3,248,629 3,863,574 3,589,316 3,436,797 3,454,515
Equity attributable to: BN NS a0

Shareholders of the Company ZA/NET[ 3 3,248,629 3,863,574 3,565,947 3,414,919 3,431,736

Non-controlling interests iR - - 23,369 21,878 22,779

TOTAL EQUITY BEA 3,248,629 3,863,574 3,689,316 3,436,797 3,454,515




*
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